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We Innovate Healthcare

As a research-intensive healthcare company, Roche discovers, develops and
provides innovative diagnostic and therapeutic products that deliver significant
benefits to patients and healthcare professionals – from early detection 
and prevention of diseases to diagnosis, treatment and treatment monitoring.
With a long-term strategic focus, Roche strives to deliver sustainable value 
to all stakeholders.
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Finance in brief

Pharmaceuticals

Diagnostics

Group

Key results

Local sales growth %
Operating profit margin, 
% of sales

2007
2006

2007
2006

2007
2006

+11.4
+21.3

+5.6
+4.7

+10.2
+17.4

35.5
31.7

17.6
16.3

31.4
27.9

2007 2006 % change % of sales
(mCHF) (mCHF) (CHF) (LC) 2007 2006

Sales 46,133 42,041 +10 +10
Research and development 8,385 7,365 +14 +16 18.2 17.5
EBITDA1) 17,068 14,436 +18 +17 37.0 34.3
Operating profit 14,468 11,730 +23 +22 31.4 27.9
Net income 11,437 9,171 +25 24.8 21.8
Core EPS (CHF)2) 11.85 9.86 +20
Dividend per share3) in CHF 4.60 3.40 +35

31 December 31 December % change
2007 2006 (CHF)

Net cash 17,336 16,088 +8
Equity 53,307 46,814 +14
Equity ratio 68.2% 62.9%

1) EBITDA: Earnings before financial income, financing costs, tax, depreciation and amortisation, including impairment. 
This corresponds to operating profit before depreciation and amortisation, including impairment.

2) See page 111 for definition of Core EPS.
3) Proposed by the Board of Directors.
LC = local currencies

Finance Executive Committee
Erich Hunziker Chief Financial Officer 
Hubert Buck Management Development
Peter Eisenring Taxes and Insurances 
Marco Frei Pension Asset Management
Andreas Knierzinger Treasury
Steve Krognes Corporate Development
Karl Mahler Investor Relations
Erwin Schneider Accounting and Controlling
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Finance – 2007 in brief 

Sales
• Group sales grew by 10% in local currencies to 46.1 billion Swiss francs, driven primarily by the

fast organic growth of the Pharmaceuticals Division.
• Pharmaceuticals sales increased by 11% in local currencies or 3.5 billion Swiss francs, strongly

outperforming global market growth thanks to the key oncology products and also Bonviva/Boniva
and Lucentis. Pharmaceuticals sales account for 80% of Group sales.

• Oncology product sales grew by 20% in local currencies to 18.3 billion Swiss francs, representing
50% of pharmaceuticals sales.

• Diagnostics sales increased by 6% in local currencies to 9.3 billion Swiss francs, driven primarily
by the Professional Diagnostics business.

Operating results
• Operating profit increased by 22% in local currencies to 14.5 billion Swiss francs based on

the strong business growth and continuing productivity improvements.
• Record profitability, with operating profit margin up by 3.5 percentage points to 31.4%.
• R&D expenditure increased by 16% in local currencies to 8.4 billion Swiss francs, 

representing 18.2% of Group sales.
• Significant investment in acquisitions and in-licensing. Merger agreement signed with 

Ventana Medical Systems in January 2008.

Treasury
• Net financial income stable at 834 million Swiss francs, compared to 855 million Swiss francs

in 2006.
• Repayment of 750 million US dollars of bonds from the ‘European Medium Term Note’ programme

and retirement of 869 million US dollars of ‘LYONs V’ convertible notes.
• Genentech establishes 1.0 billion US dollar commercial paper program, of which 0.6 billion

US dollars (0.7 billion Swiss francs) has been utilised by the end of 2007.

Financial condition
• Increase in net cash to 17.3 billion Swiss francs from 16.1 billion Swiss francs.
• Increase in equity ratio to 68% from 63%.
• Decrease in debt-equity ratio to 13% from 18%.
• Aa1 rating by Moody’s and AA+ rating by Standard & Poor’s maintained.

Net income and Core EPS
• Increase in net income of 25% to 11.4 billion Swiss francs, primarily from the strong operating

performance.
• Increase in Core EPS of 20% to 11.85 Swiss francs, outpacing Swiss franc sales growth 

by 10 percentage points.

Shareholder return
• Roche’s market capitalisation decreased by 11% to 171 billion Swiss francs. Share price

down by 14%, price of non-voting equity security down by 10%, broadly in line with the 
European Pharmaceuticals stock market.  

• Increase in proposed dividend of 35% to 4.60 Swiss francs, representing the 21st consecutive 
year of dividend growth.

• If approved by shareholders, this will result in a payout ratio of 41% (2006: 38%). 
Dividend yield on the Roche share is 2.2% (2006: 1.4%) and on the non-voting equity 
security is 2.4% (2006: 1.6%), based on year-end prices.
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Financial Review

Operating results

Group operating results

The 2007 results show continuing strong operating performance both at a sales and an operating profit margin
level, with the main impetus coming from the Pharmaceuticals Division.

Total sales grew by 10% in local currencies (10% in Swiss francs; 15% in US dollars) to 46.1 billion Swiss francs,
with the Pharmaceuticals Division representing 80% of Group sales and the Diagnostics Division contributing
20%. The incremental sales increase of 4.1 billion Swiss francs was achieved through organic growth. Demand
for the Group’s oncology drugs Avastin, Herceptin, MabThera/Rituxan, Tarceva and Xeloda continued to be
strong. Additional growth drivers in the Pharmaceuticals Division were the ophthalmology drug Lucentis,
Bonviva/Boniva in metabolism/bone, CellCept in transplantation and Pegasys in virology. In the Diagnostics
Division the growth areas were Professional Diagnostics, Diabetes Care and Applied Science.

The Group’s operating profit increased by 22% in local currencies to 14.5 billion Swiss francs. The corresponding
operating profit margin grew by 3.5 percentage points to 31.4%, driven by the increase in Pharmaceuticals of
3.8 percentage points, and by the 1.3 percentage point increase in Diagnostics. This margin growth was achieved
at the same time as the Group continued to increase investments in launch and pre-launch activities and in
particular in the strong development pipeline. The increase in the Diagnostics margin was driven by the sales
growth, a release of accruals following the BioVeris acquisition and the positive effect of the absence in 2007 of
intangible asset impairment charges.

The exchange rate impact on sales and operating profit growth as expressed in Swiss francs was moderate,
with Swiss-franc sales growth being equal to local-currency growth, while Swiss-franc operating profit growth
was around 1 percentage point higher. In 2007 the average exchange rate for the euro was 4% higher than in
the comparative period while the US dollar was 4% lower, and the Japanese yen lost around 6%.

Group operating results for 2007

Pharmaceuticals Diagnostics Corporate Group
(mCHF) (mCHF) (mCHF) (mCHF)

Sales 36,783 9,350 – 46,133
Operating profit 13,042 1,648 (222) 14,468
– margin, % of sales 35.5 17.6 – 31.4
EBITDA 14,706 2,580 (218) 17,068
– margin, % of sales 40.0 27.6 – 37.0

2007

2006

2005

+10.2

+17.4

+19.3

Sales Operating profit (before exceptional items)

31.4

27.9

25.9

0 10 20 30 40 50 0 5 10 15 20

% LC growth in billions of CHF in billions of CHF % of sales

Roche Group



Group operating results – Development of results compared to 2006
Pharmaceuticals Diagnostics Corporate Group

Sales
– % increase in local currencies +11 +6 – +10
Operating profit
– % increase in local currencies +22 +14 –7 +22
– margin: percentage point increase +3.8 +1.3 – +3.5
EBITDA
– % increase in local currencies +20 +2 –7 +17
– margin: percentage point increase +3.5 –1.0 – +2.7

Pharmaceuticals operating results
The Pharmaceuticals Division increased its sales by 11% in local currencies (10% in Swiss francs; 15% in
US dollars) to 36.8 billion Swiss francs, approximately twice the global market growth rate. Operating profit
was 13.0 billion Swiss francs, representing growth of 22% in local currencies, and the corresponding margin
increased by 3.8 percentage points to 35.5%.

The increase in marketing costs was significantly less than the growth in sales due to continued productivity
improvements. The increase reflects support costs for the growing oncology portfolio with broader indications
particularly for Avastin, as well as investments for the launch of Bonviva/Boniva, Lucentis and Mircera and the
re-launch of Tamiflu for seasonal use. The growth in research and development expenses exceeded the increase
in sales driven by the significant investments in the strong pipeline reflecting the expanded portfolio and the
large number of clinical trials.

For more information on the divisional business and its pipeline, see the Business Report (pages 12–28).

Pharmaceuticals Division results 

2007 2006 % change % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (CHF) (local currencies)

Sales 36,783 33,294 +10 +11
Royalties and other operating income 2,057 1,209 +70 +76
Cost of sales (9,502) (9,032) +5 +8
Marketing and distribution (7,018) (6,859) +2 +3
Research and development (7,598) (6,590) +15 +18
General and administration (1,680) (1,477) +14 +17
Operating profit 13,042 10,545 +24 +22
– margin, % of sales 35.5 31.7 +3.8

EBITDA 14,706 12,168 +21 +20
– margin, % of sales 40.0 36.5 +3.5

Sales: Sales of the division’s oncology portfolio grew by 20% in 2007 and now account for 50% of pharmaceutical
sales. Excluding supportive care products, combined sales of cancer therapeutics rose 23%, increasing the Roche
Group’s share of the global market for cancer medicines to just under 30%. Other therapeutic areas also
performed strongly, notably Metabolism/Bone and Inflammation/Autoimmune/Transplantation, two key pillars of
growth for Roche.
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Pharmaceuticals Division – Sales by therapeutic area for 2007

Sales % change
Therapeutic area (mCHF) % of sales (local currencies)

Oncology 18,261 50 +20
Inflammation/Autoimmune/Transplantation 2,956 8 +11
Virology 5,002 81)/13 –51)/–8
Metabolism/Bone 2,818 8 +16
Renal anemia 1,520 4 –9
Others 6,226 17 +10
Total 36,783 100 +11

1) Excluding Tamiflu pandemic government and corporate sales.

In 2007 the division’s top 20 products, representing 83% of the Pharmaceuticals portfolio, grew by 15%, with most
products recording strong sales growth. The main sales growth of the Pharmaceuticals Division was driven by
the following key products: Avastin, Herceptin, MabThera/Rituxan, Lucentis, Bonviva/Boniva, Tarceva, Xeloda,
CellCept and Pegasys. Together, these products accounted for 60% of total sales and generated an additional
4.4 billion Swiss francs of sales revenue compared with 2006.

Only six of the top 20 products (Tamiflu, NeoRecormon/Epogin, Kytril, Xenical, Nutropin and Rocephin) recorded
sales decreases. After peak pandemic stockpiling sales of 2.1 billion Swiss francs in 2006, the governmental
and corporate uptake of Tamiflu slowed, as expected, with sales of 1.9 billion Swiss francs in 2007, down by 11%.
The decrease in product sales for renal anemia was in particular due to significantly lower Epogin revenue in
Japan, reflecting the ongoing impact of government-mandated price cuts and reimbursement changes. Following
patent expiry of a competitor product in the United States, Kytril sales decreased by 12%. The decline of 4%
in the ‘Other products’ category resulted primarily from generic erosion and reduced sales of Viracept following
the recall announced on 6 June 2007.

Pharmaceuticals Division – Sales of Top 20 products for 2007

% change
Sales (local

Product (mCHF) % of sales currencies) Franchise

MabThera/Rituxan 5,516 15 +15 Oncology/IAT1)

Herceptin 4,852 13 +23 Oncology
Avastin 4,106 11 +41 Oncology
NeoRecormon/Epogin 2,094 6 –7 Renal anemia, Oncology
Tamiflu 2,085 6 –19 Virology
– of which pandemic 1,856 5 –11 Virology
CellCept 2,012 5 +10 IAT1)

Pegasys 1,637 4 +11 Virology
Xeloda 1,151 3 +19 Oncology
Tarceva 1,062 3 +31 Oncology
Lucentis 991 3 +117 Ophthalmology
Bonviva/Boniva 887 2 +85 Metabolism/Bone
Xenical 632 2 –10 Metabolism/Bone
Xolair 567 2 +10 Respiratory diseases
Valcyte/Cymevene 542 2 +12 Virology
Pulmozyme 483 1 +12 Respiratory diseases
Nutropin 470 1 –1 Metabolism/Bone
Kytril 425 1 –12 Oncology
Neutrogin 405 1 +13 Oncology
Rocephin 399 1 –4 Infectious diseases
Activase/TNKase 382 1 +9 Cardiovascular diseases
Total Top 20 products 30,698 83 +15
Other products 6,085 17 –4
Total 36,783 100 +11
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% change
Sales (local

Product (mCHF) % of sales currencies) Franchise

Excluding Tamiflu pandemic government and corporate sales
Total Top 20 products 28,842 83 +17
Other products 6,085 17 –4
Total 34,927 100 +13

1) Inflammation/Autoimmune/Transplantation.

MabThera/Rituxan: Double-digit sales growth was driven by increasing use in oncology indications and
rheumatoid arthritis. In Europe and the US most of the oncology sales growth was due to increasing usage
of MabThera/Rituxan following first-line therapy of indolent non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma (NHL), including
maintenance use. The already high penetration rates for first-line treatment of indolent and aggressive NHL were
sustained in the US and Europe’s five largest markets (France, Germany, Italy, Spain and the United Kingdom),
while increasing adoption in these settings was seen in emerging markets. Adoption in rheumatoid arthritis
continued to increase in both the US and Europe/RoW.

Herceptin: Growth continued to be driven by increasing adoption in adjuvant (= early stage) HER2-positive
breast cancer. Roche estimates that by the end of 2007 the product’s market share in the adjuvant setting was
approximately 70% (versus 40% a year earlier) in the five largest European markets. Elsewhere, market
penetration in this setting also continues to build. In the US penetration into this market flattened during 2007
due to earlier, more rapid adoption of Herceptin for adjuvant treatment. In the metastatic setting, adoption rates
and treatment duration remained stable both in the US and in the top five European markets.

Avastin: Sales increased 41% worldwide compared with 2006, with strong growth in all regions, particularly
Europe/RoW (+64%). In the US growth was driven primarily by increased usage in advanced non-small cell lung
cancer (NSCLC), an indication approved in late 2006. In Europe sales growth was propelled by further uptake of
the product in the metastatic colorectal cancer setting. Avastin received EU approval in metastatic breast cancer
in March and for first-line treatment of patients with NSCLC in August 2007, and initial uptake in these new
indications is encouraging. In 2007 Avastin was approved and launched in Japan for the treatment of metastatic
colorectal cancer. 

NeoRecormon/Epogin: Combined sales of Roche’s NeoRecormon and Chugai’s Epogin (epoetin beta) were
down 7% in a market that remains highly competitive due to pricing pressure from branded competitors and
the entry of biosimilar versions of epoetin alfa in Europe. While the decline in NeoRecormon sales was 4%,
sales of Epogin in Japan (–14%) were affected by competitive pricing pressures and, in the first quarter of 2007,
the residual impact of government-mandated price cuts and reimbursement changes.

Tamiflu: Sales of Tamiflu in 2007 declined by 542 million Swiss francs or 19% versus 2006. Seasonal sales
were 265 million Swiss francs lower and pandemic sales decreased by 277 million Swiss francs compared to 2006,
as most stockpiling programmes from governments and corporations were completed. Seasonal sales of
Tamiflu in Japan were negatively affected by the mild 2006/2007 flu season. This was more than outweighed,
however, by a substantial increase in pandemic sales to the Japanese government.

CellCept: The immunosuppressant CellCept continued to record steady sales growth worldwide (+10%), driven
by solid demand in both the US and Europe. Growth continues to be driven by physicians’ recognition of the 
long-term protective benefits of CellCept in transplant patients compared with other, more toxic therapeutic
options.

Pegasys: With market share of over 60%, Pegasys remains the global market leader in the treatment of
hepatitis C. Sales were driven by increased use in Europe/RoW, offsetting a decline in the US from an overall
market volume decline. Market response has been positive in Japan following the 2007 rollout of combined
Pegasys plus Copegus for hepatitis C.



Xeloda: The main contributions to double-digit growth of Xeloda (+19%) in 2007 came from the US (+19%) and
Europe/RoW (+19%). Sales growth was driven by increased usage of Xeloda in the adjuvant colon and metastatic
colorectal cancer settings, as well as the European launch in gastric cancer.

Tarceva: Tarceva recorded strong growth in 2007 (+31%), particularly in the Europe/RoW sales region (+76%),
which now accounts for 53% of overall sales. US sales increased by 4% in a competitive market environment.
Tarceva is still the only epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor with a proven survival benefit in advanced lung
and pancreatic cancer.

Lucentis: Following US approval in June 2006, Lucentis experienced very rapid uptake driven by high demand for
the treatment of neovascular (wet) age-related macular degeneration (wet AMD). Lucentis sales in the US grew
117% in 2007, however during the year sales growth flattened as the medicine captured a significant market
share, while off-label usage of an unapproved therapy in wet AMD remained high. Outside the US, Lucentis
is marketed by Novartis.

Bonviva/Boniva: In a highly competitive market, sales of Bonviva/Boniva (ibandronic acid), for the treatment of
postmenopausal osteoporosis, increased by 399 million Swiss francs to 887 million Swiss francs compared with
2006. The majority of sales come from the US, where the product’s market share (total prescriptions) increased
to around 15%. Bonviva gained reimbursement status and was launched in many European markets in 2006.

Xenical: Sales of the prescription weight-loss medication Xenical (orlistat 120mg) declined 10% worldwide and
27% in the United States, where Roche’s partner GlaxoSmithKline has successfully launched non-prescription
orlistat 60mg under the brand name alli. As licensor, Roche receives royalties on sales of alli.

See the Business Report (Part 1 of this Annual Report) for more information on Roche’s pharmaceutical products
(pages 12–28) including the R&D pipeline (page 25.1).

Sales by region: Sales continued to grow across all regions, particularly in North America, Europe and emerging
markets. North American sales grew at almost three times the market rate, driven by products marketed by
Genentech (+19%). Roche continued to gain market share in Europe and Rest of World, driven by further
strong sales growth of Herceptin, Avastin, MabThera/Rituxan, Tarceva, Pegasys, and Bonviva/Boniva.

Pharmaceuticals Division – Sales by region for 2007

Sales % change
Region (mCHF) % of sales (local currencies)

North America 15,485 42 +15
Europe 12,353 34 +10
Japan 3,399 9 +3
Latin America 2,260 6 +6
Other regions 3,286 9 +17
Total 36,783 100 +11

Royalties and other operating income: The increase of 848 million Swiss francs, or 76% in local currencies,
was mainly due to high out-licensing income. Royalty income increased by 213 million Swiss francs or 29% in
local currencies, driven by income from Novartis (Lucentis), Amgen (Enbrel) and GSK (alli ). There was an
increase of 242 million Swiss francs in income from out-licensing orlistat OTC rights to GlaxoSmithKline (GSK).
Genentech generated an additional 114 million Swiss francs of out-licensing income, including 80 million
Swiss francs recorded as part of a new third-party collaboration agreement and 42 million Swiss francs
milestone income relating to Lucentis for approval in the European Union and filing in Japan. At Chugai there
were 58 million Swiss francs of additional third-party royalties and other operating income, including milestone
income from the co-development and co-marketing agreement with Taisho on Bonviva. Gains on product
divestments were also significantly higher compared to 2006 and include a gain of 62 million Swiss francs from
the disposal of several cardiovascular products and a gain of 152 million Swiss francs from the first stage of
the disposal of three products to Actavis as part of the continuous realignment of the product portfolio. Royalties
and other operating income as percentage of sales increased by 2.0 percentage points to 5.6%.
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Royalties and other operating income

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Royalty income 1,076 863 +29
Income from out-licensing agreements 722 320 +134
Income from disposal of products and other 259 26 +908
Total 2,057 1,209 +76

Cost of sales: The increase of 8% in local currencies was below the increase in sales. There was a growth of 11%
in royalty expenses on product sales, driven by the success of MabThera/Rituxan, Herceptin, Tarceva, CellCept,
Lucentis and Avastin, partially off-set by lower expenses for Tamiflu, NeoRecormon and Viracept. Genentech’s
collaboration profit-sharing expenses with its partners Biogen Idec, Novartis and OSI increased to 1,297 million
Swiss francs (2006: 1,260 million Swiss francs) due to increased sales of MabThera/Rituxan, Xolair and Tarceva,
respectively. Additionally the gross profit share to GlaxoSmithKline, increased to 379 million Swiss francs
(2006: 219 million Swiss francs) following increased Bonviva/Boniva sales. These factors were largely compen-
sated for by manufacturing efficiencies and product mix effects, despite some 135 million Swiss francs of costs
for the Viracept recall. Amortisation of intangible assets remained stable. As a percentage of sales, cost of
sales decreased to 25.8% from 27.1% in 2006.

Cost of sales

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Manufacturing cost of goods sold and period costs (5,041) (4,886) +5
Royalty expenses (2,089) (1,941) +11
Collaboration and profit-sharing agreements (1,755) (1,546) +18
Amortisation of intangible assets (614) (619) +1
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (3) (40) –93
Impairment of intangible assets – – –
Total (9,502) (9,032) +8

Marketing and distribution: The increase of 3% in local currencies was significantly below sales growth due
to continued productivity improvements. Major activities in 2007 included the support for the strong oncology
portfolio, notably for Avastin in lung and breast cancer indications as well as Tarceva in pancreatic cancer in
Europe. Other main areas of focus were Pegasys and Bonviva/Boniva. In addition there were pre-launch and
launch costs for Mircera and in Japan the sales force was significantly increased in preparation for the launches
of Avastin, Tarceva and Actemra. In addition Tamiflu’s use in both seasonal flu and pandemic planning has
been further promoted. Marketing and distribution costs as a percentage of sales were 19.1% (2006: 20.6%).

Research and development: The increase of 1.0 billion Swiss francs, or 18% in local currencies, to almost
7.6 billion Swiss francs reflects higher spending as a result of the increased portfolio size and large number of
late-stage clinical trials. Significant work took place on late-stage projects driven by the many potential line
extensions, especially for Avastin in oncology and for MabThera/Rituxan and Actemra in rheumatoid arthritis.
Research and development costs as a percentage of sales were 20.7% compared to 19.8% in 2006. In addition
the Pharmaceuticals Division in total spent 735 million Swiss francs on capitalised assets for pipeline compounds
and technologies through in-licensing. In total the division spent 8.2 billion Swiss francs on internal and
purchased R&D from in-licensing deals, representing 22.4% of sales.
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Investments in research and development

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Research and development expenses 7,598 6,590 +18

Less non-cash items
– Amortisation of intangible assets (31) (27) +17
– Impairment of intangible assets (58) (13) +366
Research and development expenses excluding non-cash items 7,509 6,550 +17

Product intangibles – not available for use 732 540 +41
Technology intangibles 3 – –
Research and development related capital expenditure 735 540 +41

Total investments in research and development 8,244 7,090 +19

General and administration: The overall increase of 203 million Swiss francs or 17% in local currencies was
due to a variety of factors. Administration costs, which grew by 8%, include a project to harmonise the business
processes and SAP systems across Europe as well as to establish a European shared services centre in Budapest.
Legal expenses, which are also included in Administration costs, were substantially higher compared to 2006.
Excluding these items, administration costs increased by 3%. In addition restructuring expenses were significantly
higher primarily as a result of a reduction of the sales forces in the US and Europe. General and administration
expenses as a percentage of sales increased to 4.6% from 4.4%.

General and administration

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Administration (1,665) (1,578) +8
Legal and environmental settlements (15) 4 –
Restructuring expenses (107) (18) +496
Gains (losses) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 17 8 +102
Other general items 90 107 –19
Total (1,680) (1,477) +17

Pharmaceuticals sub-divisional results 

Operating Operating
Sales EBITDA EBITDA profit profit

2007 (mCHF) (mCHF) as % of sales (mCHF) as % of sales

Roche Pharmaceuticals 22,970 8,171 35.6 7,225 31.5
Genentech 10,414 5,856 56.2 5,298 50.9
Chugai 3,399 770 22.7 610 17.9
Elimination within division1) – (91) – (91) –
Pharmaceuticals Division 36,783 14,706 40.0 13,042 35.5

2006
Roche Pharmaceuticals 20,666 7,144 34.6 6,139 29.7
Genentech 9,125 4,464 48.9 4,002 43.9
Chugai 3,503 725 20.7 569 16.2
Elimination within division1) – (165) – (165) –
Pharmaceuticals Division 33,294 12,168 36.5 10,545 31.7

1) Unrealised internal profits on inventories that have been sold from one sub-division to another, but which have not yet been sold
on to external customers at the balance sheet date are eliminated as a consolidation entry. 



Roche Pharmaceuticals: Sales increased strongly by 9% in local currencies and the operating profit margin
increased by 1.8 percentage points to 31.5% in spite of significantly higher research and development expenses.
Positive developments include increased income from out-licensing and product disposals and a lower marketing
and distribution cost ratio. These more than compensated for higher expenses to alliance and collaboration
partners, which include royalty expenses to third parties of 1.3 billion Swiss francs and to Genentech of 1.4 billion
Swiss francs as well as profit sharing arrangements, and also higher general and administration costs. Moreover,
Roche Pharmaceuticals continued to significantly increase its investments in research and development. Costs of
around 135 million Swiss francs for sales returns, inventory provisions and other costs were recorded following
the recall of Viracept announced on 6 June 2007.

Genentech: Sales grew by 19% in local currency. The operating profit margin significantly improved by
7.0 percentage points to 50.9%, mainly driven by substantially higher royalty and other operating income from
third parties, by royalty income from Roche Pharmaceuticals and also by the growth in marketing and distribution
expenses being considerably below sales growth, all of the above compensating for the strong increase in
investments in R&D.

Chugai: Sales increased 3% in local currencies, which is slightly below market growth in Japan. Chugai’s sales
excluding Tamiflu pandemic rose by 1% in local currencies. Operating profit at Chugai increased by 21% in
local currency due to out-licensing income from third parties and from Roche Pharmaceuticals offsetting an
unfavourable product mix impact driven by an increased share of Tamiflu government pandemic sales. In Swiss
franc terms, this resulted in an increase of 1.7 percentage points in the operating profit margin to 17.9%.

Additional information on the Pharmaceuticals Division’s sub-divisional results is given in Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and further information on Genentech and Chugai is given in Notes 3 and 4.

Diagnostics operating results
In 2007 Roche’s Diagnostics Division remained the global leader in the in vitro diagnostics market with a market
share of around 19%. Divisional sales increased to 9.3 billion Swiss francs, growing 6% in local currencies (7% in
Swiss francs; 12% in US dollars) compared to 2006. Operating profit increased by 14% in local currencies
to 1.6 billion Swiss francs and the operating profit margin improved by 1.3 percentage points to 17.6%. Cash
generation of the business remains well above industry average with an EBITDA margin of 27.6%.

The operating profit margin improvement was driven by sales growth and positively impacted by the reversal
of royalty accruals following the acquisition of BioVeris and the absence of the significant impairment charges
on intangible assets recorded in the second half of 2006. These factors compensated for continued investments
in new and existing products, considerably higher general and administration costs, mainly due to increased
provisions for legal and environmental settlements, and post-acquisition restructuring expenses at BioVeris.
During 2007 the division completed the acquisition of BioVeris, 454 Life Sciences and NimbleGen for a total
consideration of 1.2 billion Swiss francs. In January 2008 the Group signed an agreement to acquire Ventana
Medical Systems for approximately 3.4 billion US dollars. The transaction is expected to be completed in the first
half of 2008.

For more information on the divisional business and its pipeline, see the Business Report (pages 30–39). 
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Diagnostics Division results

2007 2006 % change % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (CHF) (local currencies)

Sales 9,350 8,747 +7 +6
Royalties and other operating income 186 182 +2 +4
Cost of sales (4,241) (4,253) 0 –2
Marketing and distribution (2,309) (2,095) +10 +10
Research and development (787) (775) +2 +1
General and administration (551) (384) +43 +43
Operating profit 1,648 1,422 +16 +14
– margin, % of sales 17.6 16.3 +1.3

EBITDA 2,580 2,500 +3 +2
– margin, % of sales 27.6 28.6 –1.0

Sales: The Professional Diagnostics, Diabetes Care and Applied Science businesses were the growth drivers,
with the biggest contributions coming from their immunochemistry, blood glucose monitoring and DNA
sequencing products, respectively. Molecular Diagnostics continued to be affected by the declining sales of
industrial reagents due to expiration of Roche’s foundational PCR patents. Excluding this part of the business,
Molecular Diagnostics sales grew 3%.

Diagnostics Division – Sales by business area for 2007

Sales % change
Business area (mCHF) % of sales (local currencies)

Professional Diagnostics 4,294 46 +8
Diabetes Care 3,216 34 +5
Molecular Diagnostics 1,148 12 –2
Applied Science 692 8 +11
Total 9,350 100 +6

Professional Diagnostics: Roche Professional Diagnostics gained market share in 2007 as its sales increased
8% in local currencies to 4.3 billion Swiss francs. Immunochemistry sales rose 13% in local currencies to 1.3 billion
Swiss francs, outpacing the market for the seventh consecutive year. Growth was fuelled by demand for the
Elecsys NT-proBNP and Troponin T cardiac tests and an assay for TSH (thyroid-stimulating hormone). New
tests launched in the second half of 2007 for vitamin D (osteoporosis) and MPA (therapeutic monitoring of
CellCept and other mycophenolic acid therapies in transplant recipients) are expected to contribute to future
growth. The clinical chemistry business grew despite the highly competitive, cost-sensitive market. Demand
for the cobas 6000 analyser series for medium-workload laboratories remained strong. Introduced in 2006, this
series was the first of several modular platforms designed to integrate and improve the efficiency of clinical
chemistry and immunochemistry testing in different sized laboratories. The cobas e 411 immunochemistry
analyser, the first of the cobas 4000 instruments for small- to medium-size laboratories, was released in the first
half of the year. The cobas c 311 clinical chemistry analyser is on track for launch in 2008.

The acquisition of BioVeris was completed in June 2007, enabling Roche to expand its immunochemistry business
into new market segments such as life science research, drug development and clinical trials. Also in June 2007
Roche and Sysmex Corporation of Japan signed a ten-year extension of an agreement giving Roche exclusive
distribution rights for Sysmex hematology instruments in some markets in Europe, Latin America, Southern Africa
and Oceania. In November Roche signed a licensing agreement with Ortho-Clinical Diagnostics, Inc., and
Novartis Vaccines & Diagnostics giving Roche access to their broad portfolio of hepatitis C virus (HCV) patents,
further strengthening our immunochemistry menu.
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Sales of point-of-care (POC) diagnostics, (previously Near Patient Testing), rose 7% in local currencies to
814 million Swiss francs, helped by improved marketing of the business area’s broad portfolio and by the
continued move towards decentralised testing. Coagulation monitoring sales increased driven by the CoaguChek
XS monitor for patient use and the CoaguChek XS Plus monitor for healthcare professionals. These systems
were released in the US and Japan in the first half of 2007. Sales of POC cardiac markers accelerated
further following the launch of the cobas h 232 portable cardiac testing system in February. In the ambulatory
care arena, the launch in November of the Accutrend Plus is expected to boost growth in 2008. This is the
first hand-held instrument capable of measuring cholesterol, triglyceride, glucose and lactate levels in blood,
using a single meter.  

Diabetes Care: Roche Diabetes Care remained the global market leader with sales of 3.2 billion Swiss francs,
an increase of 5% in local currencies. The Accu-Chek Aviva and Accu-Chek Compact blood glucose systems both
sold well, compensating for lower sales of the older Accu-Chek Advantage. Accu-Chek Active sales were
especially strong in some EMEA and South American markets. Roche’s insulin delivery business grew 12%
in local currencies driven primarily by the European and North American markets. US market uptake of the 
Accu-Chek Spirit insulin pump was positive. The business introduced two new glucose systems during 2007:
the Accu-Chek Performa, which automatically corrects for environmental factors that can affect test results,
and the new all-in-one Accu-Chek Compact meter and lancing device launched in the fourth quarter in Germany,
the UK and Norway. Accu-Chek 360°, a software package that helps people with diabetes and their healthcare
professionals to store, access and review detailed health information quickly and conveniently, was also added
to the portfolio. The rollout of all three new products will continue in 2008.

Molecular Diagnostics: Roche Molecular Diagnostics remained the clear leader in a market with an increasing
number of players, with sales of 1.1 billion Swiss francs, and an overall decline of 2% in local currencies. Excluding
industrial reagent sales, which markedly declined as expected, growth was 3%. Sales of virology products grew
4% in local currencies, driven by continued placements of the automated Cobas AmpliPrep/Cobas TaqMan
(CAP/CTM) platform in Europe and Asia–Pacific and the rollout of this platform in the US and Japanese markets
in the second half of 2007. Blood screening sales decreased 1% in local currencies. Uptake of the cobas s 201
modular blood screening system remained strong. In Europe more than 50 sites have adopted this system and the
cobas TaqScreen MPX multiplex test (which simultaneously detects HIV, HCV and HBV in donated blood or
plasma) since their European rollout in 2006. Roche introduced the cobas s 201 system in the US with a West Nile
virus test in the second half of 2007. Notable contracts for 2007 include a three-year deal to supply an automated
CAP/CTM HIV-1 test to LabCorp in the US and a five-year contract with the Japanese Red Cross (JRC) for the
fully automated and integrated cobas s 401 system and cobas TaqScreen MPX multiplex test, which will be used
to screen all of the JRC’s roughly five million annual blood donations.

Applied Science: Roche Applied Science’s sales grew well ahead of the market, rising 11% in local currencies
to 692 million Swiss francs. The main growth drivers were again the LightCycler 480 system (for high-throughput
real-time PCR), the Genome Sequencer systems (DNA sequencing) and research reagents. The business area
gained significant market share in the fast-growing sequencing area and retained its share of the genomics
systems market. Marketing of NimbleGen arrays has started under Roche’s name and the integration of
NimbleGen and 454 Life Sciences into the business area is progressing as planned. Roche has more than doubled
its share of the rapidly expanding market for DNA sequencing products.

Sales by regions: Sales continued to grow ahead of or in line with the market in all regions. All regions
contributed to growth, with sales advancing at double-digit rates in Latin America and Asia–Pacific and at 
single-digit rates in Europe, North America and Japan. Sales in Asia–Pacific grew almost twice as fast as the
market.



Diagnostics Division – Sales by region for 2007

Sales % change
Region (mCHF) % of sales (local currencies)

EMEA1) 5,116 55 +5
North America 2,481 27 +5
Asia-Pacific 784 8 +18
Latin America 509 5 +19
Japan 411 4 +2
Other regions 49 1 –54
Total 9,350 100 +6

1) Europe, Middle East and Africa.

Royalties and other operating income: Income of 186 million Swiss francs was 4% higher in local currencies
than in 2006 despite the expiration of foundational PCR patents in most countries outside the US as of March 2006.
Royalties and other operating income as a percentage of sales decreased by 0.1 percentage points to 2.0%.

Royalties and other operating income

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Royalty income 126 121 +7
Income from out-licensing agreements 55 55 +2
Income from disposal of products and other 5 6 –15
Total 186 182 +4

Cost of sales: The overall decrease was 2% in local currencies. Manufacturing cost of goods sold and period
costs increased 7%, slightly more than sales. Royalty expenses decreased considerably by 44% in local currencies
to 215 million Swiss francs. This is primarily due to the reversal in the first half of 2007 of 57 million Swiss francs
of BioVeris royalty accruals. In the second half of 2006 BioVeris royalty accruals of 111 million Swiss francs were
booked. Excluding BioVeris, royalty expenses were 272 million Swiss francs, an increase of 6% in local currencies
which is in line with the increase in sales. Furthermore, cost of sales in 2006 included an impairment charge for
intangible assets of 118 million Swiss francs. As a percentage of sales, cost of sales decreased to 45.4% from
48.6% in 2006. Excluding BioVeris royalties and the impairment of intangibles it was stable at 46.0% in both years.

Cost of sales

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Manufacturing cost of goods sold and period costs (3,696) (3,431) +7
Royalty expenses (215) (351) –44
Collaboration and profit-sharing agreements – – –
Amortisation of product intangibles (328) (322) +2
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (2) (31) –92
Impairment of product intangibles – (118) –100
Total (4,241) (4,253) –2

Marketing and distribution: The increase of 10% in local currencies was higher than the increase in sales, mainly
due to strong investments in new product launches, such as cobas 6000, Gene Sequencing GS FLX, and several
initiatives to further support and grow market share, especially in Professional Diagnostics and Diabetes Care.
Marketing and distribution as a percentage of sales increased to 24.7% from 24.0% in the comparative period.

Research and development: Costs increased by 1% in local currencies. The comparative period included
a 66 million Swiss francs impairment charge for intangible assets. Excluding the impairment charge, R&D growth
was 10% in local currencies reflecting the impact of recent acquisitions and investments in R&D projects.
Research and development expenses as a percentage of sales increased to 8.4% from 8.1% in 2006, excluding the
impairment charge.
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Investments in research and development

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Research and development expenses 787 775 +1

Less non-cash items
– Amortisation of intangible assets (3) (9) –65
– Impairment of intangible assets – (66) –100
Research and development expenses excluding non-cash items 784 700 +11

General and administration: General and administration costs increased by 43% in local currencies, mainly
driven by increased provisions for legal and environmental settlements in 2007, while 2006 results included income
from settlement agreements. Also within general items are post-acquisition restructuring expenses at BioVeris of
29 million Swiss francs. Growth of administration costs was 5% compared to a sales growth of 6%. General and
administration expenses as a percentage of sales increased to 5.9% from 4.4% in the comparative period.

General and administration

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (local currencies)

Administration (373) (354) +5
Legal and environmental settlements (80) 10 –
Restructuring expenses (39) (17) +141
Gains (losses) on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1) 6 –
Other general items (58) (29) +79
Total (551) (384) +43

Corporate operating costs
General and administration: Costs were 7% lower in local currencies at 222 million Swiss francs (237 million
Swiss francs in 2006).

Foreign exchange impact on operating results
The Group’s exposure to movements in foreign currencies affecting its operating results, as expressed in Swiss
francs, is summarised by the following key figures and comments.

Growth

% change % change
(local currencies) (CHF)

2007 2006 2007 2006

Sales +10 +17 +10 +18
Operating profit +22 +27 +23 +28

Exchange rates against the Swiss franc

31 December Average 31 December Average
2007 2007 2006 2006

1 USD 1.13 1.20 1.22 1.25
1 EUR 1.66 1.64 1.61 1.57
100 JPY 1.00 1.02 1.03 1.08
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In 2007 the US dollar and the Japanese yen weakened against the Swiss franc, while the euro and many other
economies’ currencies appreciated against the Swiss franc. Overall there is almost no difference between sales
growth and operating profit growth expressed in Swiss francs or in local currencies. In absolute terms, the
sensitivity of Group sales to a movement in the US dollar against the Swiss franc of 0.01 Swiss francs during 2007
was approximately 144 million Swiss francs, and the corresponding sensitivities for the euro and yen were
approximately 77 million Swiss francs and 37 million Swiss francs respectively. The sensitivities of Group operating
profit were approximately 29, 37 and 15 million Swiss francs respectively.

Non-operating results

Non-operating results

2007 2006 % change
(mCHF) (mCHF) (CHF)

Operating profit 14,468 11,730 +23

Associated companies 2 2 0
Financial income 1,805 1,829 –1
Financing costs (971) (974) 0
Profit before taxes 15,304 12,587 +22

Income taxes (3,867) (3,436) +13
Profit from continuing businesses 11,437 9,151 +25

Profit from discontinued businesses – 20 –100
Net income 11,437 9,171 +25

Attributable to
– Roche shareholders 9,761 7,880 +24
– Minority interests 1,676 1,291 +30

During 2007 the Group’s treasury operations delivered a positive net financial income, with net income from
financial assets and foreign exchange management exceeding financing costs by 834 million Swiss francs. The
Group’s effective tax rate declined to 25.3% from 27.3%, despite an increased pre-tax profit contribution
from Genentech. Net income increased due to the combination of positive developments on the operating and
tax lines.

Financial income: Financial income was 1,805 million Swiss francs, declining 1% compared to 2006. Interest
income and income from debt securities were 1,001 million Swiss francs, up 28% due to higher holdings and
increases in interest rates. This result improved despite a write-down of debt securities of 68 million Swiss francs
(2006: zero). Net income from equity securities was 313 million Swiss francs compared to 390 million Swiss francs
in 2006. Funds continue to be invested with a conservative risk profile. Expected returns on pension plan assets
were 670 million Swiss francs, up 5% compared to 2006. Net foreign exchange losses were 153 million Swiss
francs compared to losses of 24 million Swiss francs in 2006, driven by losses on cash flow hedge contracts, which
suffered from strong appreciation of most currencies against the Swiss franc. A full analysis of financial income
is given in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Net financial income in millions of CHF

Financial incomeFinancing costs
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Financing costs: Financing costs were 971 million Swiss francs, basically stable compared to 2006. The increase
in interest rates had only a small impact on financing costs, as most of the outstanding debt has fixed interest
rates. Amortisation of debt discounts was 32 million Swiss francs lower, following the redemption of ‘LYONs V’
notes. The gain from favourable market value movements on the debt instruments designated as ‘fair-value-
through-profit-or-loss’ was 1 million Swiss francs, down from 51 million Swiss francs in 2006. A full analysis of
financing costs is given in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income taxes: The Group’s effective tax rate declined to 25.3% compared to the 2006 rate of 27.3%. The
increasing pre-tax profit contribution from Genentech acted to increase the overall Group tax rate. However this
was offset by a fall in the effective tax rate at Genentech to 40.0% from 41.6%. Excluding Genentech and
Chugai, the underlying effective tax rate is 15.6%, which is considerably lower than the equivalent rate in 2006
of 18.9%. This reflects the Group’s on-going efforts to optimise its tax structure, the relatively lower profits in
high tax jurisdictions and also one-time effects such as the reduction in corporate tax rates in Germany effective
2008 with a corresponding reduction in deferred tax balance sheet positions. Further information on the
Group’s income taxes is given in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Analysis of the Group’s effective tax rate
2007 2006

Profit Income Profit Income
before tax taxes Tax rate before tax taxes Tax rate

(mCHF) (mCHF) (%) (mCHF) (mCHF) (%)

Roche (excl. Genentech and Chugai) 9,201 (1,436) 15.6 7,835 (1,477) 18.9
Genentech 5,470 (2,189) 40.0 4,163 (1,730) 41.6
Chugai 633 (242) 38.2 589 (229) 38.9
Group’s effective tax rate 15,304 (3,867) 25.3 12,587 (3,436) 27.3

Discontinued businesses: There were no discontinued operations in 2007. The comparative results show a
small release of no longer required provisions from the finalisation of the divestments of the vitamins and OTC
businesses. Further information is given in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net income: In 2007 Group net income increased by 25% to 11.4 billion Swiss francs. Net income attributable
to Roche shareholders was 24% higher while the net income attributable to minorities increased by 30%. The
higher increase in minority interests is due to the increased contribution from Genentech. Of the total 1.7 billion
Swiss francs minority interests, 1.5 billion Swiss francs are attributable to Genentech minority interests and
0.2 billion Swiss francs to Chugai minority interests.

Diluted EPS 

2007 2006
(CHF) (CHF) % change

Group 11.16 9.05 +23
Core 11.85 9.86 +20

Earnings per share: The increase in diluted EPS was due to the increase in net income attributable to Roche
shareholders, as described above. The Core EPS, which excludes amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets, increased by 20%. Supplementary net income and EPS information is given on page 111. This includes
calculations of Core EPS and reconciles these to the Group’s published IFRS results.
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Cash flows and net cash

Condensed cash flow statement

2007 2006
(mCHF) (mCHF)

Cash generated from operations 18,480 15,975
(Increase) decrease in working capital (1,207) (1,897)
Other operating cash flows (1,051) (952)
Operating activities before income taxes 16,222 13,126

Income taxes paid (all activities) (4,494) (2,797)
Operating activities 11,728 10,329

Investing activities (5,788) (7,450)
Financing activities (5,270) (3,715)
Net effect of currency translation on cash (125) (182)
Increase (decrease) in cash 545 (1,018)

A full consolidated cash flow statement is given on page 27 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Operating cash flows: The Group’s business operations continued to show strong cash generation of 18.5 billion
Swiss francs, driven by continued growth in EBITDA. The development of the business led to an increase in
working capital, mainly in inventories and trade receivables. Payments of income taxes were higher by 1.7 billion
Swiss francs, of which 0.7 billion Swiss francs relate to Genentech. The remaining 1.0 billion Swiss francs
represent tax payments from the increased taxable profits in 2006 and also include the payment of previously
accrued amounts relating to final settlement with the German tax authorities for a number of years up to and
including 2006. Overall cash flows from operating activities increased by 13% to 11.7 billion Swiss francs.

Investing cash flows: The largest investing cash flows in 2007 are for expenditure on property, plant and
equipment of 3.5 billion Swiss francs. Investing cash flows also include payments made for acquisitions of
2.3 billion Swiss francs, driven by the 0.7 billion Swiss francs consideration for BioVeris and the 1.0 billion Swiss
francs net cash cost of Tanox. The net cash outflow from purchases and sales of marketable securities was
0.2 billion Swiss francs.

Financing cash flows: Significant financing cash flows in 2007 and 2006 relate to dividend payments and
the redemption of debt instruments. Dividends paid in 2007 were 2.9 billion Swiss francs (2006: 2.2 billion
Swiss francs) and cash used for the retirement of debt instruments was 1.9 billion Swiss francs (2006: 1.3 billion
Swiss francs). In 2007 Genentech issued commercial paper resulting in a cash inflow of 0.7 billion Swiss francs.
Following from the retirement of the ‘LYONs V’ exchangeable notes the Group further reduced its own equity
instruments holdings in 2007, realising a net cash inflow of 1.1 billion Swiss francs (2006: 1.4 billion Swiss francs).
Genentech received 0.5 billion Swiss francs from stock option exercises during 2007. At the same time Genentech
and Chugai both repurchased their own shares for a total of 1.9 billion Swiss francs.
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Net cash

31 December 31 December
2007 2006

(mCHF) (mCHF) % change

Cash and cash equivalents 3,755 3,210 +17
Marketable securities 20,447 21,121 –3
Long-term debt (3,834) (6,199) –38
Short-term debt (3,032) (2,044) +48
Net cash 17,336 16,088 +8

Net cash increased by 1.2 billion Swiss francs during 2007. The cash inflow from operating activities of 11.7 billion
Swiss francs was used for the dividend payments of 2.9 billion Swiss francs and also for capital expenditure.
This included acquisitions, primarily of BioVeris and Tanox, and purchases of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets which totalled 6.8 billion Swiss francs. Genentech and Chugai share repurchases reduced
net cash by 1.9 billion Swiss francs, which was partly offset by 0.5 billion Swiss francs received from the exercise
of employee stock options.

Balance sheet

Condensed balance sheet

31 December 31 December
2007 2006

(mCHF) (mCHF) % change

Property, plant and equipment 17,832 16,417 +9
Goodwill and intangible assets 13,181 11,383 +16
Other non-current assets 4,336 5,719 –24
Cash and marketable securities 24,202 24,331 –1
Other current assets 18,632 16,564 +12
Total assets 78,183 74,414 +5

Debt (current and non-current) (6,866) (8,243) –17
Other non-current liabilities (6,588) (8,709) –24
Other current liabilities (11,422) (10,648) +7
Total liabilities (24,876) (27,600) –10

Total net assets 53,307 46,814 +14

Capital and reserves attributable to Roche shareholders 45,347 39,444 +15
Equity attributable to minority interests 7,960 7,370 +8
Total equity 53,307 46,814 +14

A full consolidated balance sheet is given on page 26 of the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2007

2006

2005

Balance sheet in billions of CHF 

53.3

46.8

40.2

Net assets (equity)Assets Liabilities 

40 20 0 20 40 60 80 0 20 40



20 Finance Report 2007

Roche Group
Financial Review

Non-current assets: The fall in the US dollar to 1.13 against the Swiss franc at 31 December 2007 compared
to 1.22 at the end of 2006 decreased long-term assets in Swiss franc terms as many of the Group’s production
facilities and intangible assets are denominated in US dollars. Property, plant and equipment increased primarily
from capital expenditure on new production facilities by Roche Pharmaceuticals and Genentech. Goodwill and
intangible assets increased by 1.8 billion Swiss francs, mainly from the BioVeris and Tanox acquisitions and the
Group’s various in-licensing transactions.

Current assets: Within current assets, inventories and accounts receivable were slightly higher in local
currencies, which largely offset the decrease in cash and marketable securities as described above. The surety
bond totalling 0.9 billion Swiss francs posted by Genentech in connection with the City of Hope litigation is
now classified as short-term.

Debt: There was a reduction in debt by a further 1.4 billion Swiss francs following the redemption of the
750 million US dollar ‘European Medium Term Notes’, the conversion of the remaining ‘LYONs V’ notes, and debt
repayments. This was partly offset by an 0.7 billion Swiss francs additional debt under the Genentech commercial
paper program.

Other non-current and current liabilities: Most of the decrease of 1.3 billion Swiss francs was due to the
reduction in income tax liabilities of 0.6 billion Swiss francs and the reduction of 0.3 billion Swiss francs in
legal provisions following settlements made in 2007. The provision of 0.9 billion Swiss francs recorded by
Genentech in connection with the City of Hope litigation is now classified as short-term.

Total net assets/equity: The most significant movements in equity were the net income of 11.4 billion
Swiss francs and the dividend payments of 2.9 billion Swiss francs. Genentech and Chugai share repurchases
reduced equity by 1.9 billion Swiss francs; however this was offset by increases in equity of 1.1 billion Swiss francs
from the sale of Roche’s own equity, together with 1.0 billion Swiss francs from equity compensation plans.
Currency translation losses were 1.9 billion Swiss francs, mainly driven by the fall in the US dollar compared to
the Group’s reporting currency the Swiss franc.

Strong financial condition: The Group remains solidly financed, with equity (including minority interests)
representing 68% of total assets and 82% of total assets financed long-term.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Post-employment benefit plans are classified as ‘defined contribution plans’ if the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate fund or to a third-party financial institution and will have no further legal or constructive obligation
to pay further contributions. In 2007 expenses for the Group’s defined contribution plans were 259 million
Swiss francs (2006: 214 million Swiss francs). 

All other plans are classified as ‘defined benefit plans’, even if the Group’s potential obligation is relatively minor
or has a relatively remote possibility of arising. The funding and asset management of the Group’s various defined
benefit plans is overseen at a corporate level. Plans are usually established as trusts independent of the Group
and are funded by payments from the Group and by employees, but in some cases the plan is unfunded and the
Group pays pensions to retired employees directly from its own financial resources.

Funding status of defined benefit pension and other post-employment benefit plans

2007 2006
(mCHF) (mCHF)

Funded plans
– Fair value of plan assets 12,170 11,632
– Defined benefit obligation (10,646) (11,002)
– Over (under) funding 1,524 630

Unfunded plans
– Defined benefit obligation (3,344) (3,596)



Funding status: Overall the Group’s defined benefit plans continue to be adequately funded with the funding
status increasing to 114% from 106%. The main movements came from a reduction in defined benefit obligations
following an increase in discount rates in the 2007 valuations. 

Expenses recorded in income statement: Pension expenses in 2007 relating to the Group’s defined benefit
plans were 312 million Swiss francs compared to 283 million Swiss francs in 2006. The increase of 9% is mainly
due to changes in discount rates adopted at the end of 2006 and increased life expectancy assumptions. Based
on the revised actuarial assumptions at the end of 2007, pension expenses for 2008 are expected to be broadly
in line with 2007.

Full details of the Group’s pensions and other post-employment benefits are given in Note 10 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Roche securities

Price development
The Roche securities performed broadly in line with the MSCI European Pharmaceutical Index. Both were lower
compared with their US-based counterparts, most of which benefited from higher 2007 performance versus
a relatively low 2006 baseline.

Share price and market capitalisation (at 31 December)
2007 2006 % change

Share price (CHF) 213.00 247.50 –14
Non-voting equity security (Genussschein) price (CHF) 195.60 218.50 –10
Market capitalisation (billions of CHF) 171 192 –11

Roche ranked number 14 among a peer group of 20 healthcare companies1) as listed below, in terms of Total
Shareholder Return (TSR), i.e. share price growth plus dividends, in 2007 when measured in Swiss francs at
actual exchange rates. Year-end return was –13% for the Roche share and –9% for the Roche non-voting equity
security. The combined performance of share and non-voting equity security was –10% compared to a weighted
average return for Roche and the peer group of –2% at actual exchange rates.

Total Shareholder Return development in %
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1) Peer group for 2007: Abbott Laboratories, Amgen, Astellas, AstraZeneca, Bayer, Becton Dickinson, Biogen Idec, Bristol-Myers
Squibb, Eli Lilly, Gilead, GlaxoSmithKline, Johnson & Johnson, Merck & Co., Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, Schering-
Plough, Takeda, Wyeth.



Dividend
The Board of Directors is proposing an increase of 35% in the dividend for 2007 to 4.60 Swiss francs per share and
non-voting equity security (2006: 3.40 Swiss francs) for approval at the Annual General Meeting. This is the
21st consecutive increase in the dividend. If the dividend proposal is approved by shareholders, dividend
payments on the shares and non-voting equity securities in issue will amount to 4.0 billion Swiss francs (2006:
2.9 billion Swiss francs), resulting in a payout ratio of 41% (2006: 38%). Based on the prices at year-end 2007,
the dividend yield on the Roche share is 2.2% (2006: 1.4%) and the yield on the non-voting equity security is 2.4%
(2006: 1.6%). Further information on the Roche securities is given on pages 112–113 of the Finance Report.

Information per share and non-voting equity security

2007 2006
(CHF) (CHF) % change

Basic EPS 11.36 9.24 +23
Diluted EPS 11.16 9.05 +23
Core EPS 11.85 9.86 +20
Equity attributable to Roche shareholders per share 52.57 45.73 +15
Dividend per share 4.60 3.40 +35

For further details please refer to Notes 28 and 29 of the Consolidated Financial Statements and page 111 of the
Finance Report.

Financial risks

The Group manages its financial assets and liabilities in a conservative way. Treasury management supports the
Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics businesses and its activities should not materially affect the Group’s risk profile.

Asset allocation: Liquid funds are primarily held as a liquidity reserve. Most funds are invested in a well
diversified portfolio of high-quality fixed income securities. The prudent asset management approach is also
evidenced in the low share of equities within the portfolio of marketable securities of 1% (2006: 4%). The Group
owns additional equity securities, which are kept as part of the Group’s strategic alliance efforts. These are
classified as financial long-term assets (see Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Cash and marketable securities

2007 2007 2006 2006
(mCHF) (% of total) (mCHF) (% of total)

Cash and cash equivalents 3,755 16 3,210 13
Money market instruments 11,132 46 12,785 52
Bonds, debentures and other investments 9,023 37 7,460 31
Shares 292 1 876 4
Total cash and marketable securities 24,202 100 24,331 100

Market risks: Market risk arises from changing market prices of the Group’s financial assets or financial
liabilities. The exposures are predominantly related to changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices. The Group uses Value-at-Risk (VaR) to assess the impact of market risk on its financial instruments.
VaR data indicates the value range within which a given financial instrument will fluctuate with a pre-set
probability as a result of movements in market prices. The VaR data in the table below indicate the loss level
over a period of one month which with 95% probability will not be exceeded.
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Value-at-Risk of financial instruments

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
(mCHF) (mCHF)

VaR – Foreign exchange component 75 35
VaR – Interest rate component 40 69
VaR – Other price component 93 101
Diversification (65) (44)
VaR – Total 143 161

At the end of 2007, the total VaR of the financial assets and liabilities was 143 million Swiss francs (2006:
161 million Swiss francs). The foreign exchange VaR increased mainly due to higher hedging levels of non-
US dollar cash flows from future royalty income over the next five years at Genentech. The lower contribution
from the interest rate component was caused by the ageing of fixed-term liabilities. Other price risk arises
mainly from movements in the prices of equity securities. In 2007, the Group held equity securities with a market
value of 1.1 billion Swiss Francs (2006: 1.7 billion Swiss francs). This number includes holdings in biotechnology
companies, which were acquired in the context of licensing transactions or scientific collaborations. The lower
holdings in equity securities resulted in a lower VaR for other price risk. 

Further information on financial risk management and financial risks and the VaR methodology is included in
Note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

International Financial Reporting Standards

The Roche Group has been using International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) to report its consolidated
results since 1990. The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has published a number of new and
revised standards and interpretations which the Group has implemented from 1 January 2007. The changes relate
mainly to disclosure items in the annual financial statements.

In addition the Group has made changes to the presentation of its operating results in the income statement. The
Group has made these presentational changes to more accurately reflect the underlying business, to further
improve comparability of its results to those of other healthcare companies and to allow readers to make a more
accurate assessment of the sustainable earnings capacity of the Group. Total operating profit is unchanged, and
the presentational changes have no effect on the non-operating results, net income and earnings per share.

Full details of the changes are given in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Supplementary
presentation materials from the investor update held on 30 November 2007 are available on the ‘Investor
Relations’ section of the Group’s website at www.roche.com.



24 Finance Report 2007

Roche Group Consolidated Financial Statements

Reference numbers indicate corresponding Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Roche Group consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2007 in millions of CHF
Pharmaceuticals Diagnostics Corporate Group

Sales2 36,783 9,350 – 46,133
Royalties and other operating income 2,057 186 – 2,243
Cost of sales (9,502) (4,241) – (13,743)
Marketing and distribution (7,018) (2,309) – (9,327)
Research and development (7,598) (787) – (8,385)
General and administration (1,680) (551) (222) (2,453)
Operating profit2 13,042 1,648 (222) 14,468

Associated companies15 2
Financial income5 1,805
Financing costs5 (971)
Profit before taxes 15,304

Income taxes6 (3,867)
Net income 11,437

Attributable to
– Roche shareholders 9,761
– Minority interests 1,676

Earnings per share and non-voting equity security29 Group

Basic (CHF) 11.36
Diluted (CHF) 11.16
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Roche Group consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 in millions of CHF
Pharmaceuticals Diagnostics Corporate Group

Sales2 33,294 8,747 – 42,041
Royalties and other operating income 1,209 182 – 1,391
Cost of sales (9,032) (4,253) – (13,285)
Marketing and distribution (6,859) (2,095) – (8,954)
Research and development (6,590) (775) – (7,365)
General and administration (1,477) (384) (237) (2,098)
Operating profit2 10,545 1,422 (237) 11,730

Associated companies15 2
Financial income5 1,829
Financing costs5 (974)
Profit before taxes 12,587

Income taxes6 (3,436)
Profit from continuing businesses 9,151

Profit from discontinued businesses8 20
Net income 9,171

Attributable to
– Roche shareholders 7,880
– Minority interests 1,291

Continuing
Earnings per share and non-voting equity security29 businesses Group

Basic (CHF) 9.22 9.24
Diluted (CHF) 9.03 9.05

As disclosed in Note 1, the operating results in the income statement for 2006 have been restated following the presentational
changes adopted in 2007. A reconciliation to the previously published income statement is provided in Note 1. Total operating profit
is unchanged, and the presentational changes have no effect on the non-operating results, net income and earnings per share.
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Roche Group consolidated balance sheet in millions of CHF

31 December 31 December
2007 2006

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment12 17,832 16,417
Goodwill13 6,835 5,914
Intangible assets14 6,346 5,469
Associated companies15 9 7
Financial long-term assets16 1,333 2,203
Other long-term assets16 527 627
Deferred income tax assets6 1,317 1,935
Post-employment benefit assets10 1,150 947
Total non-current assets 35,349 33,519

Current assets
Inventories17 6,113 5,592
Accounts receivable18 9,804 8,960
Current income tax assets6 263 258
Other current assets19 2,452 1,754
Marketable securities20 20,447 21,121
Cash and cash equivalents21 3,755 3,210
Total current assets 42,834 40,895

Total assets 78,183 74,414

Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt27 (3,834) (6,199)
Deferred income tax liabilities6 (1,481) (2,310)
Post-employment benefit liabilities10 (3,696) (4,221)
Provisions25 (688) (1,593)
Other non-current liabilities26 (723) (585)
Total non-current liabilities (10,422) (14,908)

Current liabilities
Short-term debt27 (3,032) (2,044)
Current income tax liabilities6 (2,215) (2,034)
Provisions25 (1,517) (756)
Accounts payable22 (1,861) (2,213)
Accrued and other current liabilities23 (5,829) (5,645)
Total current liabilities (14,454) (12,692)

Total liabilities (24,876) (27,600)

Total net assets 53,307 46,814

Equity
Capital and reserves attributable to Roche shareholders28 45,347 39,444
Equity attributable to minority interests30 7,960 7,370
Total equity 53,307 46,814

As disclosed in Note 1, the split of non-current assets in the 2006 balance sheet has been restated following the presentational
changes adopted in 2007.  A reconciliation to the previously published balance sheet is provided in Note 1. Total non-current assets
are unchanged. 
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Roche Group consolidated cash flow statement in millions of CHF 

Year ended 31 December
2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations31 18,480 15,975
(Increase) decrease in working capital (1,207) (1,897)
Payments made for defined benefit post-employment plans10 (352) (323)
Utilisation of legal and environmental provisions25 (299) (44)
Utilisation of restructuring and other provisions25 (397) (429)
Other operating cash flows (3) (156)
Cash flows from operating activities, before income taxes paid 16,222 13,126
Income taxes paid (4,494) (2,797)
Total cash flows from operating activities 11,728 10,329

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,519) (3,561)
Purchase of intangible assets (946) (593)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 116 330
Disposal of intangible assets – 1
Disposal of products 247 15
Business combinations7 (2,310) –
Divestments of discontinued businesses8 – (5)
Other divestments of subsidiaries – 14
Interest and dividends received31 1,079 846
Sales of marketable securities 13,165 5,236
Purchases of marketable securities (13,377) (9,689)
Other investing cash flows (243) (44)
Total cash flows from investing activities (5,788) (7,450)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of long-term debt instruments27 719 –
Repayment and redemption of long-term debt instruments27 (1,908) (1,264)
Increase (decrease) in other long-term debt 4 (638)
Transactions in own equity instruments28 1,085 1,367
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings (389) 200
Interest and dividends paid31 (3,324) (2,600)
Exercises of equity-settled equity compensation plans11 450 480
Genentech and Chugai share repurchases3, 4 (1,895) (1,248)
Other financing cash flows (12) (12)
Total cash flows from financing activities (5,270) (3,715)

Net effect of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents (125) (182)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 545 (1,018)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 3,210 4,228
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December21 3,755 3,210
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Roche Group consolidated statement of recognised income and expense in millions of CHF

Year ended 31 December
2007 2006

Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains (losses) taken to equity28 (198) 292
– Transferred to income statement on sale or impairment28 (128) (184)
Cash flow hedges
– Gains (losses) taken to equity28 (45) (71)
– Transferred to income statement28 (3) –
– Transferred to the initial balance sheet carrying value of hedged items28 – –
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations28 (1,906) (1,487)
Defined benefit post-employment plans
– Actuarial gains (losses)28 1,178 761
– Limit on asset recognition28 (422) (396)
Income taxes on items taken directly to or transferred from equity28 (267) (135)
Net income recognised directly in equity (1,791) (1,220)

Net income recognised in income statement 11,437 9,171

Total recognised income and expense 9,646 7,951

Attributable to
– Roche shareholders28 8,502 7,198
– Minority interests30 1,144 753
Total 9,646 7,951

Effect of changes in accounting policy attributable to
– Roche shareholders1 – –
– Minority interests1 – –
Total – –
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Roche Group consolidated statement of changes in equity in millions of CHF

Roche Minority
shareholders interests Total

Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2006 33,334 6,824 40,158

Net income recognised directly in equity (682) (538) (1,220)
Net income recognised in income statement 7,880 1,291 9,171
Total recognised income and expense 7,198 753 7,951

Dividends paid28, 30 (2,152) (105) (2,257)
Transactions in own equity instruments28 1,383 – 1,383
Equity compensation plans28, 30 726 450 1,176
Genentech and Chugai share repurchases28, 30 (696) (552) (1,248)
Convertible debt instruments28, 30 (354) 5 (349)
Changes in minority interests28, 30 5 (5) –
At 31 December 2006 39,444 7,370 46,814

Year ended 31 December 2007
At 1 January 2007 39,444 7,370 46,814

Net income recognised directly in equity (1,259) (532) (1,791)
Net income recognised in income statement 9,761 1,676 11,437
Total recognised income and expense 8,502 1,144 9,646

Dividends paid28, 30 (2,930) (97) (3,027)
Transactions in own equity instruments28 1,085 – 1,085
Equity compensation plans28, 30 559 449 1,008
Genentech and Chugai share repurchases28, 30 (1,044) (851) (1,895)
Convertible debt instruments28, 30 (324) – (324)
Changes in minority interests28, 30 55 (55) –
At 31 December 2007 45,347 7,960 53,307
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Reference numbers indicate corresponding Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of the Roche Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. They have been prepared using the historical
cost convention except that, as disclosed in the accounting policies below, certain items, including derivatives
and available-for-sale investments, are shown at fair value. They were approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 24 January 2008 and are subject to approval by the Annual General Meeting of shareholders on
4 March 2008.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements. If in the future such estimates and assumptions,
which are based on management’s best judgement at the date of the financial statements, deviate from the actual
circumstances, the original estimates and assumptions will be modified as appropriate in the year in which the
circumstances change.

Changes in accounting policies that arise from the application of new or revised standards and interpretations
are applied retrospectively, unless otherwise specified in the transitional requirements of the particular standard
or interpretation. Retrospective application requires that the results of the comparative period and the opening
balances of that period are restated as if the new accounting policy had always been applied. In some cases the
transitional requirements of the particular standard or interpretation specify that the changes are to be applied
prospectively. Prospective application requires that the new accounting policy only be applied to the results of
the current period and the comparative period is not restated. In addition comparatives have been reclassified
or extended from the previously reported results to take into account any presentational changes.

Consolidation policy
These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements of Roche Holding Ltd, a company registered
in Switzerland, and its subsidiaries (‘the Group’).

The subsidiaries are those companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by Roche Holding Ltd, where control is
defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. This control is normally evidenced when Roche Holding Ltd owns, either directly or indirectly, more
than 50% of the voting rights or currently exercisable potential voting rights of a company’s share capital. Special
Purpose Entities are consolidated where the substance of the relationship is that the Special Purpose Entity is
controlled by the Group. Companies acquired during the year are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group, and subsidiaries to be divested are included up to the date on which control passes
from the Group. Inter-company balances, transactions and resulting unrealised income are eliminated in full.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for by the equity method. These are companies over which
the Group exercises, or has the power to exercise, significant influence, but which it does not control. This is
normally evidenced when the Group owns 20% or more of the voting rights or currently exercisable potential
voting rights of the company. Balances and transactions with associated companies that result in unrealised
income are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated company. Interests in joint ventures
are reported using the line-by-line proportionate consolidation method.
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Segment reporting
The determination of the Group’s operating segments is based on the organisation units for which information is
reported to the Group’s management. The Group has two divisions, Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics. Revenues
are primarily generated from the sale of prescription pharmaceutical products and diagnostic instruments,
reagents and consumables, respectively. Both divisions also derive revenue from the sale or licensing of products
or technology to third parties. Within the Pharmaceuticals Division there are three sub-divisions, Roche
Pharmaceuticals, Genentech and Chugai. The three sub-divisions have separate management and reporting
structures within the Pharmaceuticals Division and are considered separately reportable operating segments.
Certain headquarter activities are reported as ‘Corporate’. These consist of corporate headquarters, including the
Corporate Executive Committee, corporate communications, corporate human resources, corporate finance,
including treasury, taxes and pension fund management, corporate legal and corporate safety and environmental
services. Effective from 1 January 2007 the Group’s management has concluded that the remaining residual
balances from the divested Vitamins and Fine Chemicals business and the Consumer Health (OTC) business
should be considered as part of the Group’s continuing businesses and should be reported in the ‘Corporate’
segment. Prior to this these have been presented as discontinued businesses (see Note 8).

Transfer prices between operating segments are set on an arm’s length basis. Operating assets and liabilities
consist of property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, trade receivables/payables, inventories
and other assets and liabilities, such as provisions, which can be reasonably attributed to the reported operating
segments. Non-operating assets and liabilities mainly include current and deferred income tax balances,
post-employment benefit assets/liabilities and financial assets/liabilities such as cash, marketable securities,
investments and debt.

Foreign currency translation
Most Group companies use their local currency as their functional currency. Certain Group companies use
other currencies (namely US dollars, Swiss francs or euros) as their functional currency where this is the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. Local transactions in other currencies are
initially reported using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Gains and losses from the settlement of
such transactions and gains and losses on translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other
currencies are included in income, except when they are qualifying cash flow hedges or arise on monetary items
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign entity. In such cases the gains and losses
are deferred into equity.

Upon consolidation, assets and liabilities of Group companies using functional currencies other than Swiss francs
(foreign entities) are translated into Swiss francs using year-end rates of exchange. Sales, costs, expenses, net
income and cash flows are translated at the average rates of exchange for the year. Translation differences due
to the changes in exchange rates between the beginning and the end of the year and the difference between
net income translated at the average and year-end exchange rates are taken directly to equity. On disposal of
a foreign entity, the identified cumulative currency translation differences within equity relating to that foreign
entity are recognised in income as part of the gain or loss on divestment.

Revenues
Sales represent amounts received and receivable for goods supplied to customers after deducting trade
discounts, cash discounts and volume rebates, and exclude value added taxes and other taxes directly linked to
sales. Revenues from the sale of products are recognised upon transfer to the customer of significant risks
and rewards. Trade discounts, cash discounts and volume rebates are recorded on an accrual basis consistent
with the recognition of the related sales. Estimates of expected sales returns, charge-backs and other rebates,
including Medicaid in the United States and similar rebates in other countries, are also deducted from sales and
recorded as accrued liabilities or provisions or as a deduction from accounts receivable. Such estimates are based
on analyses of existing contractual or legislatively mandated obligations, historical trends and the Group’s
experience. Other revenues are recorded as earned or as the services are performed. Where necessary, single
transactions are split into separately identifiable components to reflect the substance of the transaction.
Conversely, two or more transactions may be considered together for revenue recognition purposes, where the
commercial effect cannot be understood without reference to the series of transactions as a whole.
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Cost of sales
Cost of sales includes the corresponding direct production costs and related production overheads of goods sold
and services rendered. Royalties, alliance and collaboration expenses, including all collaboration profit-sharing
arrangements are also reported as part of cost of sales. Start-up costs between validation and the achievement
of normal production capacity are expensed as incurred.

Research and development
In addition to its internal research and development activities, the Group is also party to in-licensing and similar
arrangements with its alliance partners. The Group may also acquire in-process research and development
assets, either through business combinations or through purchases of specific assets.

Internal research costs are charged against income as incurred. Internal development costs are capitalised as
intangible assets only when there is an identifiable asset that can be completed and that will generate probable
future economic benefits and when the cost of such an asset can be measured reliably. The Group does not
currently have any such internal development costs that qualify for capitalisation as intangible assets. Internal
development costs are therefore charged against income as incurred since the criteria for their recognition as
an asset are not met.

In-process research and development assets acquired either through in-licensing arrangements, business
combinations or separate purchases are capitalised as intangible assets as described below. Once available
for use, such intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the expected benefit
and are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date.

Licensing, milestone and other upfront receipts and payments
Royalty income is recognised on an accruals basis in accordance with the substance of the respective licensing
agreements. Certain Group companies receive from third parties upfront, milestone and other similar payments
relating to the sale or licensing of products or technology. Revenue associated with performance milestones is
recognised based on achievement of the deliverables as defined in the respective agreements. Upfront payments
and licence fees for which there are subsequent deliverables are initially reported as deferred income and are
recognised in income as earned over the period of the development collaboration or the manufacturing obligation.

Payments made by Group companies to third parties and associated companies for such items are capitalised
as intangible assets. 

Accounting and reporting of transactions between Roche, Genentech and Chugai
Within the Group’s consolidated financial statements, transactions and balances between consolidated
subsidiaries, such as between Genentech, Chugai and other Roche Group subsidiaries, are eliminated on
consolidation.

Genentech and Chugai are considered separately reportable operating segments for the purposes of the Group’s
operating segment disclosures in Note 2. Additional information relating to Genentech and Chugai results is given
in Notes 3 and 4, respectively.

Profits on product sales between the Roche Pharmaceuticals, Genentech and Chugai operating segments are
recorded as part of the segment results of the operating segment making the sale. Unrealised internal profits
on inventories that have been sold by one operating segment to another but which have not yet been sold on
to external customers as at the balance sheet date are eliminated as a consolidation entry at a Pharmaceuticals
Division level.

Additionally the results of each operating segment may include income received from another operating segment
in respect of:

• Royalties
• Licensing, milestone and other upfront payments
• Transfers in respect of research collaborations
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These are recognised as income in the segment results of the operating segment receiving the income
consistently with the accounting policies applied to third-party transactions and set out in these financial
statements. Corresponding expenses are recorded in the other operating segment so that these eliminate at
a Pharmaceuticals Division level.

Employee benefits
Wages, salaries, social security contributions, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. Where
the Group provides long-term employee benefits, the cost is accrued to match the rendering of the services
by the employees concerned. Liabilities for long-term employee benefits are discounted to take into account
the time value of money, where material.

Pensions and other post-employment benefits
Most employees are covered by defined benefit and defined contribution post-employment plans sponsored by
Group companies. The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the appropriate income
statement heading within the operating results in the year to which they relate. The accounting and reporting of
defined benefit plans are based on recent actuarial valuations. The defined benefit obligations and service costs
are calculated using the projected unit credit method. This reflects service rendered by employees to the dates of
valuation and incorporates actuarial assumptions primarily regarding discount rates used in determining the
present value of benefits, projected rates of remuneration growth and long-term expected rates of return for plan
assets. Discount rates are based on the market yields of high-quality corporate bonds in the country concerned.
Past service costs are allocated over the average period until the benefits become vested. Current and past
service costs are charged to the appropriate income statement heading within the operating results. Pension plan
administration and funding is overseen at a corporate level and any settlement gains and losses resulting from
changes in funding arrangements are reported as general and administration expenses within the Corporate
segment. The expected returns on plan assets and interest costs are charged to financial income and financing
costs, respectively. Actuarial gains and losses, which consist of differences between assumptions and actual
experiences and the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions, are recorded directly in equity. Pension assets
and liabilities in different defined benefit plans are not offset unless the Group has a legally enforceable right
to use the surplus in one plan to settle obligations in the other plan. The recognition of pension assets is limited
to the total of the present value of any future refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions to the
plans and any cumulative unrecognised past service costs. Adjustments arising from the limit on the recognition
of assets for defined benefit plans are recorded directly in equity.

Equity compensation plans
Certain employees of the Group participate in equity compensation plans, including separate plans at Genentech
and Chugai. The fair value of all equity compensation awards granted to employees is estimated at the grant
date and recorded as an expense over the vesting period. The expense is charged to the appropriate income
statement heading within the operating results. For equity-settled plans, an increase in equity is recorded and
any subsequent cash flows from exercises of vested awards are recorded as an increase in equity. For cash-
settled plans, a liability is recorded, which is measured at fair value at each balance sheet date with any
movements in fair value being recorded to the appropriate income statement heading within the operating
results. Any subsequent cash flows from exercise of vested awards are recorded as a reduction of the liability.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost of purchase or construction, and include all costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. These include items such as costs of site preparation, installation and
assembly costs and professional fees. The net costs of testing whether the asset is functioning properly, including
validation costs, are also included in the initially recorded cost of construction. Interest and other borrowing costs
incurred with respect to qualifying assets are capitalised and included in the carrying value of the assets.
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Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis, except for land, which is not depreciated.
Estimated useful lives of major classes of depreciable assets are as follows:

Land improvements 40 years
Buildings 10–50 years
Machinery and equipment 5–15 years
Diagnostic instruments 3–5 years
Office equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate components. The estimated useful life of the assets is regularly reviewed and, if necessary, the future
depreciation charge is accelerated. Repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred.

Leases
Where the Group is the lessee, leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the start
of the lease at fair value, or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower. The rental obligation, net
of finance charges, is reported within debt. Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated in accordance
with the Group’s policy on property, plant and equipment. If there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and
its useful life. The interest element of the lease payment is charged against income over the lease term based on
the effective interest rate method. Leases where substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are not
transferred to the Group are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged
against income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Where the Group is the lessor, which primarily occurs in the Diagnostics Division, assets subject to finance leases
are initially reported as receivables at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. Assets subject to
operating leases are reported within property, plant and equipment. Lease income from finance leases is
subsequently recognised as earned income over the term of the lease based on the effective interest rate method.
Lease income from operating leases is recognised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The cost of acquisition is the
consideration given in exchange for control over the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquired company. This consideration includes the cash paid plus the fair value at the date of exchange of assets
given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group. The cost of acquisition also
includes directly attributable costs. The acquired net assets, being the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities, are initially recognised at fair value. Where the Group does not acquire 100% ownership of
the acquired company, minority interest is recorded as the minority’s proportion of the fair value of the acquired
net assets. Goodwill is recorded as the surplus of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value
of the acquired net assets. Any goodwill and fair value adjustments are recorded as assets and liabilities of the
acquired company in the functional currency of that company. Goodwill is not amortised, but is assessed for
possible impairment at each balance sheet date and is additionally tested annually for impairment. Goodwill may
also arise upon investments in associated companies, being the surplus of the cost of investment over the Group’s
share of the fair value of the net identifiable assets. Such goodwill is recorded within investments in associated
companies.

Intangible assets
Purchased patents, licences, trademarks and other intangible assets are initially recorded at cost. Where these
assets have been acquired through a business combination, this will be the fair value allocated in the acquisition
accounting. Intangible assets are amortised over their useful lives on a straight-line basis beginning from the
point when they are available for use. Estimated useful life is the lower of the legal duration and the economic
useful life. The estimated useful life of intangible assets is regularly reviewed.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
An impairment assessment is carried out when there is evidence that an asset may be impaired. In addition
intangible assets that are not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually. When the recoverable
amount of an asset, being the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use, is less than its carrying
amount, then the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is reported in the income
statement as an impairment loss. Value in use is calculated using estimated cash flows, generally over a five-year
period, with extrapolating projections for subsequent years. These are discounted using an appropriate long-term
pre-tax interest rate. When an impairment loss arises, the useful life of the asset in question is reviewed and,
if necessary, the future depreciation/amortisation charge is accelerated. The impairment of financial assets is
discussed below in the ‘Financial assets’ policy.

Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill is assessed for possible impairment at each balance sheet date and is additionally tested annually for
impairment. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units as described in Note 13. When the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit, being the higher of its fair value less costs to sell or its value in use, is less than
its carrying amount, then an impairment in the carrying amount is recorded. The methodology used in the
impairment testing is further described in Note 13.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of finished goods and work in process
includes raw materials, direct labour and other directly attributable costs and overheads based upon the normal
capacity of production facilities. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price less cost to completion and selling expenses.

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at the original invoice amount less allowances made for doubtful accounts,
trade discounts, cash discounts, volume rebates and similar allowances. An allowance for doubtful accounts is
recorded for the difference between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount where there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due. Trade discounts, cash discounts, volume
rebates and similar allowances are recorded on an accrual basis consistent with the recognition of the related
sales, using estimates based on existing contractual obligations, historical trends and the Group’s experience.
Long-term accounts receivable are discounted to take into account the time value of money, where material. 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and time, call and current balances with banks and similar
institutions. Such balances are only reported as cash if they are readily convertible to known amounts of cash,
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three months or less from the date
of acquisition. This definition is also used for the cash flow statement.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised where a legal or constructive obligation has been incurred which will probably lead to
an outflow of resources that can be reasonably estimated. In particular, restructuring provisions are recognised
when the Group has a detailed formal plan that has either commenced implementation or been announced.
Provisions are recorded for the estimated ultimate liability that is expected to arise, taking into account foreign
currency effects arising from their translation from their functional currency into Swiss francs and the time value
of money, where material. A contingent liability is disclosed where the existence of the obligation will only be
confirmed by future events or where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with reasonable reliability.
Contingent assets are not recognised, but are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Fair values
Fair value is the amount for which a financial asset, liability or instrument could be exchanged between knowledgeable
and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. It is determined by reference to quoted market prices or by the use of
established estimation techniques such as option pricing models and estimated discounted values of cash flows. The
fair values of financial assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are not materially different from their reported
carrying values unless specifically mentioned in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Financial assets
Financial assets, principally investments, including marketable securities, are classified as either ‘Fair-value-
through-profit-or-loss’, ‘Available-for-sale’, ‘Held-to-maturity’ or ‘Loans and receivables’. Fair-value-through-
profit-or-loss financial assets are either classified as held-for-trading or designated upon initial recognition.
Held-for-trading financial assets are acquired principally to generate profit from short-term fluctuations in
price. Financial assets are designated as fair-value-through-profit-or-loss if doing so results in more relevant
information by eliminating a measurement or recognition inconsistency. Held-to-maturity financial assets are
securities with a fixed maturity that the Group has the intent and ability to hold until maturity. Loans and
receivables are loans and other long-term financial assets created by the Group or acquired from the issuer in
a primary market. They are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. All other financial assets are considered to be available-for-sale.

All financial assets are initially recorded at fair value, including transaction costs, except for assets designated as
fair-value-through-profit-or-loss, which exclude transaction costs. All purchases and sales are recognised on the
settlement date. Fair-value-through-profit-or-loss financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value, with all
changes in fair value recorded as financial income in the period in which they arise. Held-to-maturity financial
assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Available-for-sale
financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value, with all unrealised changes in fair value recorded in equity
except for interest calculated using the effective interest rate method and foreign exchange components. When
the available-for-sale financial assets are sold, impaired or otherwise disposed of, the cumulative gains and losses
previously recognised in equity are included in financial income for the current period. Loans and receivables are
subsequently carried at amortised cost.

Financial assets are assessed for possible impairment at each balance sheet date. An impairment charge is
recorded where there is objective evidence of impairment, such as where the issuer is in bankruptcy, default or
other significant financial difficulty. In addition any available-for-sale equity securities that have a market value
of more than 25% below their original cost, net of any previous impairment, will be considered as impaired.
Any available-for-sale equity securities that have a market value below their original cost, net of any previous
impairment, for a sustained six-month period will also be considered as impaired. Any decreases in the market
price of less than 25% of original cost, net of any previous impairment, which are also for less than a sustained
six-month period are not by themselves considered as objective evidence of impairment. Such movements in fair
value are recorded in equity until there is objective evidence of impairment or until the asset is sold or otherwise
disposed of. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, any impairment charge is the difference between the
carrying value and the recoverable amount, calculated using estimated future cash flows discounted using
the original effective interest rate. For available-for-sale financial assets, any impairment charge is the amount
currently carried in equity for the difference between the original cost, net of any previous impairment, and the
fair value.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows of the assets expire or when the
Group sells or otherwise disposes of the contractual rights to the cash flows, including situations where the Group
retains the contractual rights but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to a third party. 

Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are initially recorded and subsequently carried at fair value. Apart from those
derivatives designated as qualifying cash flow hedging instruments as discussed in the ‘Hedging’ policy below,
all changes in fair value are recorded as financial income in the period in which they arise. Embedded derivatives
are recognised separately if not closely related to the host contract and where the host contract is carried
at amortised cost.

Hedging
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedging relationships may be of three types. Fair value hedges are hedges
of particular risks that may change the fair value of a recognised asset or liability. Cash flow hedges are hedges
of particular risks that may change the amount or timing of future cash flows. Hedges of net investment in
a foreign entity are hedges of particular risks that may change the carrying value of the net assets of a foreign
entity.
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To qualify for hedge accounting the hedging relationship must meet several strict conditions on documentation,
probability of occurrence, hedge effectiveness and reliability of measurement. If these conditions are not met,
then the relationship does not qualify for hedge accounting. In this case the hedging instrument and the hedged
item are reported independently as if there were no hedging relationship. In particular any derivatives are
reported at fair value, with changes in fair value included in financial income.

For qualifying fair value hedges, the hedging instrument is recorded at fair value and the hedged item is recorded
at its previous carrying value, adjusted for any changes in fair value that are attributable to the hedged risk.
Any changes in the fair values are reported in financial income.

For qualifying cash flow hedges, the hedging instrument is recorded at fair value. The portion of any change
in fair value that is an effective hedge is included in equity, and any remaining ineffective portion is reported
in financial income. If the hedging relationship is the hedge of the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment
or highly probable forecasted transaction that results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, the
cumulative changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument that have been recorded in equity are included in
the initial carrying value of the asset or liability at the date of recognition. For all other qualifying cash flow hedges,
the cumulative changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument that have been recorded in equity are included
in financial income when the forecasted transaction affects net income.

For qualifying hedges of net investment in a foreign entity, the hedging instrument is recorded at fair value. The
portion of any change in fair value that is an effective hedge is included in equity. Any remaining ineffective
portion is recorded in financial income where the hedging instrument is a derivative and in equity in other cases.
If the entity is disposed of, then the cumulative changes of fair value of the hedging instrument that have been
recorded in equity are reclassified to income.

Debt instruments
Debt instruments are initially recorded at cost, which is the proceeds received, net of transaction costs.
Subsequently they are reported at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any discount between the
net proceeds received and the principal value due on redemption is amortised over the duration of the debt
instrument and is recognised as part of financing costs using the effective interest rate method. Certain debt
instruments may be designated as ‘fair-value-through-profit-or-loss’ where doing so results in more relevant
information as it eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies. Such debt
instruments are reported at fair value, based on quoted prices in an active market, with movements in fair value
reported within financial income. Those debt instruments that are designated as fair-value-through-profit-or-loss
are disclosed in Note 27.

A bifurcation is carried out upon the issue of convertible debt instruments. The initial carrying value of the liability
element is calculated using the market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. The remainder
of the net proceeds is allocated to the equity conversion option, which is reported in equity, and to deferred
income tax liabilities. The liability element is subsequently reported at amortised cost or fair-value-through-profit-
or-loss, if so designated. 

Taxation
Income taxes include all taxes based upon the taxable profits of the Group, including withholding taxes payable
on the distribution of retained earnings within the Group. Other taxes not based on income, such as property and
capital taxes, are included within general and administration expenses.

Liabilities for income taxes, mainly withholding taxes, which could arise on the remittance of retained earnings,
principally relating to subsidiaries, are only recognised where it is probable that such earnings will be remitted
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised on temporary differences between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income tax assets relating
to the carry-forward of unused tax losses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. 
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Current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income taxes are levied by the same
taxation authority and when there is a legally enforceable right to offset them. Deferred income taxes are
determined based on the currently enacted tax rates applicable in each tax jurisdiction where the Group operates.

Discontinued businesses and non-current assets held for sale
A discontinued business is a component of the Group’s business that represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Reclassification
as a discontinued business occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, if earlier.

A disposal group is a group of assets that are to be disposed of as a group in a single transaction, together with
the liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be transferred in the transaction. The assets and
liabilities in a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale if their value will be recovered principally through
a sale rather than through continuing use. The disposal group must be available for sale in its current condition
and the sale must be highly probable.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of all assets and liabilities in a disposal group
is updated in accordance with applicable accounting policies. Then, on initial classification as held for sale,
disposal groups are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Impairment
losses on initial classification as held for sale are included in the income statement.

Own equity instruments
The Group’s holdings in its own equity instruments are recorded as a deduction from equity. The original purchase
cost, consideration received for subsequent resale of these equity instruments and other movements are reported
as changes in equity. These instruments have been acquired primarily to meet the potential obligations to
employees that may arise in respect of certain of the Group’s equity compensation plans.

Management judgements made in applying accounting policies
The application of the Group’s accounting policies may require management to make judgements, apart from
those involving estimates, that can have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements. Management judgement is particularly required when assessing the substance of
transactions that have a complicated structure or legal form. These include, but are not limited to, the following
areas:

Revenue recognition: The nature of the Group’s business is such that many sales transactions do not have
a simple structure. Sales agreements may consist of multiple components occurring at different times. The Group
is also party to various out-licensing agreements, which can involve upfront and milestone payments that
may occur over several years. These agreements may also involve certain future obligations. Revenue is only
recognised when, in management’s judgement, the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred and when the Group does not retain continuing managerial involvement or effective control over the
goods sold or when the obligation has been fulfilled. For some transactions this can result in cash receipts being
initially recognised as deferred income and then released to income over subsequent periods on the basis of
the performance of the conditions specified in the agreement.

Consolidation of subsidiaries and associated companies: The Group periodically undertakes transactions
that may involve obtaining the right to control or significantly influence the operations of other companies. These
transactions include the acquisition of all or part of the equity of other companies, the purchase of certain assets
and assumption of certain liabilities and contingent liabilities of other companies, and entering into alliance
agreements with other companies. Also included are transactions involving Special Purpose Entities and similar
vehicles. In all such cases management makes an assessment as to whether the Group has the right to control
or significantly influence the other company’s operations, and based on this assessment the other company
is consolidated as a subsidiary or associated company. In making this assessment management considers the
underlying economic substance of the transaction and not only the contractual terms.
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Business combinations: Where the Group acquires control of another business, the cost of the acquisition
has to be allocated to the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired business, with any residual
recorded as goodwill. This process involves management making an assessment of the fair value of these items.
Management judgement is particularly involved in the recognition and measurement of the following areas:

• Intellectual property. This may include patents, licences, trademarks and similar rights for currently marketed
products, and also the rights and scientific knowledge associated with projects that are currently in
research or development phases. 

• Contingencies such as legal and environmental matters.
• The recoverability of any accumulated tax losses in the acquired company.

In all cases management makes an assessment based on the underlying economic substance of the items
concerned, and not only on the contractual terms, in order to fairly present these items at the amount for which
they could be exchanged or settled between knowledgeable willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Leases: The Group is party to leasing arrangements, both as a lessee and as a lessor. The treatment of leasing
transactions in the financial statements is mainly determined by whether the lease is considered to be an
operating lease or a finance lease. In making this assessment, management looks at the substance of the lease,
as well as the legal form, and makes a judgement about whether substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership are transferred. Arrangements which do not take the legal form of a lease but that nevertheless convey
the right to use an asset are also covered by such assessments.

Key assumptions and sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income, expenses and related disclosures. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Changes in accounting estimates
may be necessary if there are changes in the circumstances on which the estimate was based, or as a result of
new information or more experience. Such changes are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised.

The key assumptions about the future and key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and liabilities within the next twelve months
are described below.

Sales allowances: The Group has provisions and accruals for expected sales returns, charge-backs and other
rebates, including Medicaid in the United States and similar rebates in other countries, which at 31 December
2007 total 812 million Swiss francs. Such estimates are based on analyses of existing contractual or legislatively-
mandated obligations, historical trends and the Group’s experience. Management believes that the total
provisions and accruals for these items are adequate, based upon currently available information. As these
deductions are based on management estimates, they may be subject to change as better information becomes
available. Such changes that arise could impact the provisions and accruals recognised in the balance sheet
in future periods and consequently the level of sales recognised in the income statement in future periods.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including goodwill: The Group has property, plant and
equipment with a carrying value of 17,832 million Swiss francs as disclosed in Note 12. Goodwill has a carrying
value of 6,835 million Swiss francs (see Note 13) and intangible assets have a carrying value of 6,346 million Swiss
francs (see Note 14). All of these assets are reviewed annually for impairment as described above. To assess
whether any impairment exists, estimates are made of the future cash flows expected to result from the use of
the asset and its eventual disposal. Actual outcomes could vary significantly from such estimates of discounted
future cash flows. Factors such as changes in the planned use of buildings, machinery or equipment, or closure
of facilities, the presence or absence of competition, technical obsolescence or lower than anticipated sales for
products with capitalised rights could result in shortened useful lives or impairment. 
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Pensions and other post-employment benefits: Many of the Group’s employees participate in post-employment
defined benefit plans. The calculations of the recognised assets and liabilities from such plans are based upon
statistical and actuarial calculations. In particular the present value of the defined benefit obligation is impacted
by assumptions on discount rates used to arrive at the present value of future pension liabilities, and assumptions
on future increases in salaries and benefits. Furthermore, the Group’s independent actuaries use statistically
based assumptions covering areas such as future withdrawals of participants from the plan and estimates of life
expectancy. At 31 December 2007 the present value of the Group’s defined benefit obligation is 10,646 million Swiss
francs for funded plans and 3,344 million Swiss francs for unfunded plans (see Note 10). The actuarial assumptions
used may differ materially from actual results due to changes in market and economic conditions, higher or lower
withdrawal rates, longer or shorter life spans of participants, and other changes in the factors being assessed. These
differences could impact the assets or liabilities recognised in the balance sheet in future periods.

Legal provisions: Group companies are party to various legal proceedings and the most significant matters are
described in Note 25. Legal provisions at 31 December 2007 total 985 million Swiss francs. Additional claims could
be made which might not be covered by existing provisions or by insurance. There can be no assurance that
there will not be an increase in the scope of these matters or that any future lawsuits, claims, proceedings or
investigations will not be material. Such changes that arise could impact the provisions recognised in the balance
sheet in future periods.

Environmental provisions: The Group has provisions for environmental remediation costs, which at
31 December 2007 total 203 million Swiss francs, as disclosed in Note 25. The material components of the
environmental provisions consist of costs to fully clean and refurbish contaminated sites and to treat and contain
contamination at certain other sites. Future remediation expenses are affected by a number of uncertainties
that include, but are not limited to, the detection of previously unknown contaminated sites, the method and
extent of remediation, the percentage of waste material attributable to the Group at the remediation sites relative
to that attributable to other parties, and the financial capabilities of the other potentially responsible parties.
Management believes that the total provisions for environmental matters are adequate based upon currently
available information. However, given the inherent difficulties in estimating liabilities in this area, it cannot be
guaranteed that additional costs will not be incurred beyond the amounts accrued. The effect of the resolution
of environmental matters on the results of operations cannot be predicted due to uncertainty concerning
both the amount and the timing of future expenditures. Such changes that arise could impact the provisions
recognised in the balance sheet in future periods.

Income taxes: At 31 December 2007, the net liability for current income taxes is 1,952 million Swiss francs and the
net liability for deferred income taxes is 164 million Swiss francs, as disclosed in Note 6. Significant estimates are
required to determine the current and deferred assets and liabilities for income taxes. Some of these estimates are
based on interpretations of existing tax laws or regulations. Management believes that the estimates are reasonable
and that the recognised liabilities for income tax-related uncertainties are adequate. Various internal and external
factors may have favourable or unfavourable effects on the income tax assets and liabilities. These factors include,
but are not limited to, changes in tax laws, regulations and/or rates, changing interpretations of existing tax laws or
regulations, future levels of research and development spending and changes in overall levels of pre-tax earnings.
Such changes that arise could impact the assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet in future periods.

Changes in accounting policies
The Group adopted certain new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards and interpretations
effective 1 January 2007. A description of those changes that are material to the Group and their effect on the
consolidated financial statements is given below.

IFRS 7: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’. The new standard, which replaces the disclosure requirements
previously contained in IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’, requires additional disclosure concerning the
significance of the Group’s financial instruments, the nature and extent of risks arising from these instruments, and
the manner in which these risks are managed. The presentation requirements required by IAS 32 remain unchanged.
The disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 include qualitative and quantitative information about risk exposure arising
from financial instruments, in particular credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The standard also requires
qualitative disclosure about management’s objectives, policies and processes for managing these risks, hence
providing an overview of the Group’s use of and exposure to financial instruments. These are given in Note 32.
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As a result of the implementation of IFRS 7, the classification of two non-current asset balances has been
changed and the balance sheet at 31 December 2006 has been restated. Total non-current assets are unchanged.
Pension reimbursement rights are now classified as post-employment benefit assets and finance lease
receivables are now classified as financial long-term assets.

Restated non-current assets in the balance sheet at 31 December 2006 in millions of CHF

Pension Finance
As originally reimburse- lease Group

published ment rights receivables restated

Financial long-term assets 2,152 – 51 2,203
Other long-term assets 794 (116) (51) 627
Post-employment benefit assets 831 116 – 947

IFRS 8: ‘Operating Segments’. The new standard, which replaces IAS 14 ‘Segment Reporting’, requires some
changes to the methodology and format of segment reporting. The Group has determined that its reportable
operating segments under the new standard are the same as the primary business segments under the old
standard. The new standard requires additional disclosure for operating segments given in Note 2. Unrealised
internal profits on inventories that have been sold from one operating segment to another but which have not
yet been sold on to external customers at the balance sheet date are eliminated as a consolidation entry.
Previously this elimination was allocated to the originating operating segment. The segment results for 2006 have
been restated following this presentational change. 

Restated Pharmaceuticals Divisional information for year ended 31 December 2006 in millions of CHF

Roche Pharma
Pharma Genentech Chugai Division

As originally published
Operating profit 6,025 3,951 569 10,545
– including unrealised profits on inventories (114) (51) – (165)

Restated
Operating profit 6,139 4,002 569 10,710
Elimination of profit within division (165)
Total 10,545

IAS 1 (revised): ‘Presentation of Financial Statements: Capital Disclosures’. The revisions to IAS 1 require
additional disclosure concerning the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. These are
given in Note 32.

IAS 23 (revised): ‘Borrowing Costs’. The revised standard requires that interest and other borrowing costs
incurred with respect to qualifying assets are capitalised and included in the carrying value of the assets. Under
the Group’s previous accounting policy such costs were expensed as interest costs. The Group has applied the
new standard prospectively from 1 January 2007 and borrowing costs totalling 48 million Swiss francs using a rate
of 4.79% were capitalised as property, plant and equipment in 2007 which would have been expensed under the
previous accounting policy. The comparative results for 2006 have not been restated. Had the new accounting
policy been applied in 2006, the Group would have capitalised an additional 32 million Swiss francs as property,
plant and equipment and financing costs would have been lower by this amount. This had a positive impact of
0.02 CHF on earnings per share and non-voting equity security (basic and diluted) in 2007, and would have had
a similar positive impact in 2006 if the revised standard had been applied retrospectively.

Presentation of operating results in the income statement: The income statement for the year ended
31 December 2006 has been restated following the presentational changes adopted in 2007. The Group has made
these presentational changes to more accurately reflect the underlying business, to further improve comparability
of its results to those of other healthcare companies and to allow readers to make a more accurate assessment
of the sustainable earnings capacity of the Group. Total operating profit is unchanged, and the presentational
changes have no effect on the non-operating results, net income and earnings per share. These changes, which
have been applied retrospectively, are listed below.
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• Intangible assets: Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets are no longer reported as a separate
line, but are now reported as part of ‘Cost of sales’ (for intangibles relating to marketed products) or as part
of ‘Research and Development’ (for intangibles relating to technology and development, and including any
impairment on intangibles that are not yet available for use).

• Alliance and royalty expenses: All royalties, alliance and collaboration expenses, including all collaboration
profit-sharing arrangements are now reported as part of ‘Cost of sales’. Previously some of these were
included in ‘Marketing and distribution’ or ‘General and administration’ depending upon the terms of the
particular agreement. Additionally, royalty expenses payable on royalty income are now reported as
part of ‘Royalties and other operating’ income to more accurately reflect the substance of the underlying
transactions. Previously these expenses were included in ‘General and administration’. 

• Phase IV and similar costs: All such costs, which only arise in the Pharmaceuticals Division, are now
reported as part of ‘Research and development’. Previously some of these costs were included in ‘Marketing
and distribution’ and ‘General and administration’ depending on their nature.

Restated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2006 in millions of CHF 

As originally Intangible Alliances/
published assets royalties Phase IV Restated

Group
Sales 42,041 – – – 42,041
Royalties and other operating income 1,466 – (75) – 1,391
Cost of sales (10,616) (1,059) (1,610) – (13,285)
Marketing and distribution (10,856) – 1,260 642 (8,954)
Research and development (6,589) (115) – (661) (7,365)
General and administration (2,542) – 425 19 (2,098)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (1,174) 1,174 – – –
Operating profit 11,730 – – – 11,730

Pharmaceuticals Division
Sales 33,294 – – – 33,294
Royalties and other operating income 1,277 – (68) – 1,209
Cost of sales (6,868) (619) (1,545) – (9,032)
Marketing and distribution (8,761) – 1,260 642 (6,859)
Research and development (5,889) (40) – (661) (6,590)
General and administration (1,849) – 353 19 (1,477)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (659) 659 – – –
Operating profit 10,545 – – – 10,545

Diagnostics Division
Sales 8,747 – – – 8,747
Royalties and other operating income 189 – (7) – 182
Cost of sales (3,748) (440) (65) – (4,253)
Marketing and distribution (2,095) – – – (2,095)
Research and development (700) (75) – – (775)
General and administration (456) – 72 – (384)
Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets (515) 515 – – –
Operating profit 1,422 – – – 1,422

Future changes in IFRS: The Group has early adopted IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ and IAS 23 (revised)
‘Borrowing Costs’ which are required to be implemented from 1 January 2009 at the latest. The Group does not
expect that the new interpretations that will be effective from 1 January 2008 will have a significant effect on the
Group’s results and financial position. The Group is currently assessing the potential impacts of the new and
revised standards that will be effective from 1 January 2009 and beyond, which include further revisions to IAS 1:
‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ and revisions to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’, IAS 27 ‘Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements’ and IFRS 2 ‘Share based Payment’.



2. Operating segment information

Divisional information in millions of CHF

Pharmaceuticals Division Diagnostics Division Corporate Group
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Revenues from 
external customers
Sales 36,783 33,294 9,350 8,747 – – 46,133 42,041
Royalties and other 
operating income 2,057 1,209 186 182 – – 2,243 1,391
Total 38,840 34,503 9,536 8,929 – – 48,376 43,432

Revenues from other 
operating segments
Sales 8 23 5 6 – – 13 29
Royalties and other 
operating income – – – – – – – –
Elimination of 
inter-divisional revenue (13) (29)
Total 8 23 5 6 – – – –

Segment results
Operating profit 13,042 10,545 1,648 1,422 (222) (237) 14,468 11,730
Elimination of 
inter-divisional profit – –
Total 14,468 11,730

Capital expenditure
Business combinations 1,165 – 1,186 – – – 2,351 –
Additions to property, 
plant and equipment 2,588 3,030 1,058 846 2 2 3,648 3,878
Additions to 
intangible assets 791 584 258 9 – – 1,049 593
Total capital expenditure 4,544 3,614 2,502 855 2 2 7,048 4,471

Other segment 
information
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment 957 924 599 532 4 5 1,560 1,461
Amortisation of 
intangible assets 645 646 331 331 – – 976 977
Impairment of property, 
plant and equipment 4 40 2 31 – – 6 71
Impairment of goodwill – – – – – – – –
Impairment of 
intangible assets 58 13 – 184 – – 58 197
Equity compensation 
plan expenses 568 632 26 44 14 14 608 690
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Pharmaceuticals sub-divisional information in millions of CHF

Roche Pharmaceuticals Genentech Chugai Pharmaceuticals Division
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Revenues from 
external customers
Sales 22,970 20,666 10,414 9,125 3,399 3,503 36,783 33,294
Royalties and other 
operating income 900 391 1,078 797 79 21 2,057 1,209
Total 23,870 21,057 11,492 9,922 3,478 3,524 38,840 34,503

Revenues from other 
operating segments
Sales 562 789 922 451 – – 1,484 1,240
Royalties and other 
operating income 10 12 1,510 1,096 57 2 1,577 1,110
Elimination of 
revenue within division (3,053) (2,327)
Total 572 801 2,432 1,547 57 2 8 23

Segment results
Operating profit 7,225 6,139 5,298 4,002 610 569 13,133 10,710
Elimination of 
profit within division (91) (165)
Total 13,042 10,545

Capital expenditure
Business combinations 94 – 1,071 – – – 1,165 –
Additions to property, 
plant and equipment 1,045 1,091 1,327 1,749 216 190 2,588 3,030
Additions to 
intangible assets 501 416 282 168 8 – 791 584
Total capital expenditure 1,640 1,507 2,680 1,917 224 190 4,544 3,614

Other segment 
information
Depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment 530 544 337 298 90 82 957 924
Amortisation of 
intangible assets 398 410 179 164 68 72 645 646
Impairment of property, 
plant and equipment 2 38 – – 2 2 4 40
Impairment of goodwill – – – – – – – –
Impairment of 
intangible assets 16 13 42 – – – 58 13
Equity compensation 
plan expenses 100 121 465 510 3 1 568 632
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Net operating assets in millions of CHF

Assets Liabilities Net assets
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Roche Pharmaceuticals 16,384 15,365 (3,288) (3,789) 13,096 11,576
Genentech 12,993 11,358 (4,049) (3,583) 8,944 7,775
Chugai 3,663 3,773 (561) (636) 3,102 3,137
Elimination within division (450) (364) – – (450) (364)
Pharmaceuticals Division 32,590 30,132 (7,898) (8,008) 24,692 22,124

Diagnostics Division 16,323 14,547 (2,263) (2,134) 14,060 12,413
Corporate 232 192 (271) (139) (39) 53
Total operating 49,145 44,871 (10,432) (10,281) 38,713 34,590

Non-operating 29,038 29,543 (14,444) (17,319) 14,594 12,224
Group 78,183 74,414 (24,876) (27,600) 53,307 46,814

Information by geographical area in millions of CHF
Revenues from external customers Non-current assets

Royalties and
other operating Property, plant Goodwill and 

2007 Sales income and equipment intangible assets

Switzerland 489 430 2,404 2,354
European Union 15,465 127 5,096 2,755
– of which Germany 3,277 117 3,437 2,699
Rest of Europe 1,620 – 53 4
Europe 17,574 557 7,553 5,113

United States 17,069 1,598 7,949 7,446
Rest of North America 1,004 3 126 19
North America 18,073 1,601 8,075 7,465

Latin America 2,784 – 454 42

Japan 3,562 85 1,382 559
Rest of Asia 2,681 – 254 –
Asia 6,243 85 1,636 559

Africa, Australia and Oceania 1,459 – 114 2
Total 46,133 2,243 17,832 13,181
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Revenues from external customers Non-current assets
Royalties and

other operating Property, plant Goodwill and 
2006 Sales income and equipment intangible assets

Switzerland 471 142 2,042 1,926
European Union 13,823 99 4,571 2,872
– of which Germany 2,993 98 3,002 2,818
Rest of Europe 1,307 1 200 4
Europe 15,601 242 6,813 4,802

United States 15,685 1,115 7,485 5,858
Rest of North America 985 6 100 33
North America 16,670 1,121 7,585 5,891 

Latin America 2,539 7 391 55

Japan 3,713 21 1,299 633
Rest of Asia 2,384 – 217 –
Asia 6,097 21 1,516 633

Africa, Australia and Oceania 1,134 – 112 2
Total 42,041 1,391 16,417 11,383

Sales are allocated to geographical areas by destination according to the location of the customer. Royalties and
other operating income are allocated according to the location of the Group company that receives the revenue.

European Union information is based on members of the EU as at 31 December 2007. The comparative information
in 2006 has been restated to include Bulgaria and Romania within the ‘European Union’ segment.

Major customers
The US national wholesale distributor, AmerisourceBergen Corp., represented approximately 6 billion Swiss francs
(2006: 5 billion Swiss francs) of the Group’s revenues. Over 85% of these revenues were in the Genentech
operating segment, with the residual in the Roche Pharmaceuticals and Diagnostics segments. The Group also
reported substantial revenues from the US national wholesale distributors, Cardinal Health Inc. and McKesson
Corp., and in total these three customers represented approximately a quarter of the Group’s revenues, the
majority of this being at Genentech.

3. Genentech

Effective 7 September 1990 the Roche Group acquired a majority interest of approximately 60% of Genentech,
Inc., a biotechnology company in the United States. On 13 June 1999 the Group exercised its option to acquire
the remaining shares of Genentech on 30 June 1999, at which point Genentech became a 100% owned subsidiary
of the Group. On 23 July 1999, 26 October 1999 and 29 March 2000 the Group completed public offerings of
Genentech’s common stock, which reduced the Group’s majority interest to 60%. During 2004 the Group’s
ownership of Genentech decreased by 2.45% due to the conversion and redemption of the ‘LYONs IV’ US dollar
exchangeable notes. At 31 December 2007 the Group’s interest in Genentech was 55.8% (2006: 55.8%). 

The common stock of Genentech is publicly traded and is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, under the
symbol ‘DNA’. Genentech prepares financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (US GAAP). These are filed on a quarterly basis with the US Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC).

Roche’s relationship with Genentech 
Genentech has entered into certain agreements with Roche, which are discussed below:

Affiliation Arrangements: As a result of the June 1999 redemption of Genentech’s Special Common Stock and
subsequent public offerings, Genentech amended their certificate of incorporation and bylaws and entered into
or amended certain affiliation arrangements with Roche. Amongst other matters these cover the following areas:
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• Roche’s rights as a shareholder.
• Roche’s rights to nominate members of Genentech’s Board of Directors.
• Certain limitations on Roche’s ability to buy or sell Genentech’s common stock.
• The process under which Roche may effect a merger of Genentech with Roche.
• The approval of the directors designated by Roche should Genentech seek to make significant business

acquisitions or divestments. 
• The approval of the directors designated by Roche should Genentech seek to issue, repurchase or redeem

its capital stock.

Genentech issues additional shares of common stock in connection with its equity compensation plans, and may
issue additional shares for other purposes, which affects Roche’s percentage ownership interest. The affiliation
agreement between Roche and Genentech provides, amongst other matters, that Genentech establish a stock
repurchase programme to maintain Roche’s percentage ownership interest in Genentech.

Licensing Agreements: In July 1999 Roche and Genentech agreed an amended and restated licensing and
marketing agreement granting Roche an option to license, use and sell Genentech’s products in non-US markets.
This licensing and marketing agreement was subsequently amended to delete or add certain Genentech products
under Roche’s commercialisation and marketing rights for Canada. In addition, Roche and Genentech have a
July 1998 licensing and marketing agreement relating to anti-HER2 antibodies (Herceptin and Pertuzumab),
providing Roche with exclusive marketing rights outside of the US.

Depending on the specific circumstances and the terms of the agreement, this may result in payments on an
arm’s-length basis from Roche to Genentech, for any or all of the following matters:

• Fees to extend Roche’s option to license a product.
• Partial reimbursement of Genentech’s previously incurred development costs where Roche exercises an

option to license a product. 
• Milestones and similar payments, dependent upon the achievement of agreed objectives or performance

targets.
• Royalties on Roche’s aggregate sales of that product. 

Manufacturing Agreements: Genentech has agreed, in general, to manufacture for and supply to Roche its
clinical requirements at cost and its commercial requirements on a cost plus basis. Roche has the right to
manufacture Genentech’s products under certain circumstances. In July 2006, Roche and Genentech signed two
new product supply agreements. The Umbrella Manufacturing Supply Agreement (or ‘Umbrella Agreement’)
supersedes any existing product supply agreements. Under this agreement, Roche has agreed to purchase
specified amounts of Herceptin and Avastin through 2012 and, on a perpetual basis, either party may order other
collaboration products from the other, including Herceptin and Avastin after 2012. The Short-Term Supply
Agreement (or ‘Short-Term Agreement’) supplements the terms of the Umbrella Agreement. Under this
agreement, Roche has agreed to purchase specified amounts of Herceptin, Avastin and MabThera/Rituxan
through 2008.

Research Collaboration Agreement: In April 2004, Roche and Genentech entered into a research collaboration
agreement that outlines the process by which the parties may agree to conduct and share in the costs of joint
research on certain molecules. The agreement further outlines how development and commercialisation efforts
will be coordinated with respect to select molecules, including the financial provisions for a number of different
development and commercialisation scenarios undertaken by either or both parties.

Tax Sharing Agreement: Roche and Genentech have a tax sharing agreement that relates to the US state and
local tax returns in which they are consolidated or combined. Genentech calculates its tax liability or refund with
the Group for these state and local jurisdictions as if Genentech were a stand-alone entity.

Differences between IFRS and US GAAP
Due to certain consolidation entries and differences in the requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and US GAAP, there are differences between Genentech’s stand-alone financial results on a US
GAAP basis and the financial results of Genentech as consolidated by the Roche Group in accordance with IFRS.



Reconciliation of Genentech results

2007 2006
USD CHF USD CHF

millions millions millions millions

Operating income (US GAAP basis) 4,229 3,152
– recurring redemption and Tanox costs 126 105
– equity compensation plan expenses (US GAAP basis) 403 309
– Tanox acquisition accounting (US GAAP basis) (44) –
– special litigation items 54 54
Operating income (non-US GAAP basis) 4,768 3,620

Add (deduct) differences and consolidation entries
– add back redemption costs (126) (105)
– equity compensation plan expenses (IFRS basis) (387) (407)
– capitalised in-process research and development 204 104
– other differences and consolidation entries (45) (19)
Operating profit (IFRS basis) 4,414 5,298 3,193 4,002

Add (deduct) non-operating items (IFRS basis)
– financial income, financing costs and consolidation entries 172 161
– income taxes (2,189) (1,730)
Net income (IFRS basis) 3,281 2,433

Minority interest percentage (average during year) 44.2% 44.3%
Income applicable to minority interest (IFRS basis) 1,451 1,077

Translated at 1 USD = 1.20 CHF (2006: 1 USD = 1.25 CHF).

Effective 1 January 2005 the Group implemented IFRS 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ in its IFRS financial statements.
Amongst other matters, the standard requires that the fair value of all equity compensation plans awarded to
employees be estimated at grant date and recorded as an expense over the vesting period. The expense is
charged against the appropriate income statement heading. The standard also requires retrospective application,
within certain transitional requirements. In 2007 a pre-tax expense of 387 million US dollars or 465 million Swiss
francs relating to plans at Genentech has been recorded (2006: 407 million US dollars or 510 million Swiss francs).
Effective 1 January 2006 Genentech implemented US Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R –
‘Share-Based Payment’ (FAS 123R) in its US GAAP financial statements. Amongst other matters, this requires that
companies reporting under US GAAP recognise compensation expenses for such plans. Due to the different
dates of first application, measurement requirements and transitional arrangements of FAS 123R and IFRS 2,
the expenses recorded by Genentech in its US GAAP financial statements for equity compensation plans are not
the same as the expenses recorded in the Roche Group IFRS financial statements for these same plans.

In 2005 the Group implemented IAS 38 (revised) ‘Intangible Assets’ in its IFRS financial statements. Amongst
other matters, the revised standard typically results in more intangible assets being recognised from in-licensing
arrangements and similar research and development alliances. In Genentech’s US GAAP financial statements
such expenditure would usually be recorded as research and development expenses.

There are other differences between IFRS and US GAAP, but these have a relatively minor impact.

Genentech share repurchases
On 20 April 2007 Genentech’s Board of Directors approved an extension of the existing stock repurchase
programme authorising Genentech to repurchase up to 100 million shares of Genentech’s common stock for a
total of 8 billion US dollars through 30 June 2008. Since the programme’s inception, Genentech have repurchased
approximately 75 million shares for a total of approximately 5.4 billion US dollars. During 2007 Genentech
repurchased common stock worth 1,044 million US dollars or 1,254 million Swiss francs (2006: 996 million
US dollars or 1,248 million Swiss francs). 
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Genentech prepaid share repurchase program: On 15 November 2007 Genentech entered into a prepaid
share repurchase arrangement with a financial institution for 300 million US dollars under which Genentech’s
shares will be purchased in the open market by the financial institution from 1 January 2008 through 26 March
2008. The prepaid amount has been recorded against equity as at 31 December 2007. For the purposes of the
Group’s consolidation, minority interests are calculated assuming that an equivalent number of shares have
been repurchased based on the amount of the prepayment and the Genentech share price at each month end.
Accordingly the Roche Group’s ownership at 31 December 2007 is estimated at 56.1% for the purposes of the
consolidation of the financial statements.

Manufacturing agreements with Lonza
Effective 8 December 2006 Genentech sold its wholly-owned subsidiary Genentech España, including the
manufacturing facility in Porriño, Spain, to Lonza Group Ltd. (‘Lonza’) for 150 million US dollars. In 2006
11 million US dollars were received in cash and the remaining balance will be received from Lonza in a series of
payments over the following three years. As part of this agreement Genentech has entered into a short-term supply
contract with Lonza for the production of Avastin using a portion of the production capacity of the Porriño facility.

Loss on divestment of Genentech España in millions of CHF
2006

Consideration 
– cash 14
– present value of unsecured receivables from Lonza 169
Total consideration 183

Net assets disposed
– property, plant and equipment12 (192)
– other net assets (7)
Loss on divestment (16)

At the same time Genentech has entered into a supply agreement for the manufacture of certain Genentech
products at Lonza’s facility under construction in Singapore which is currently expected to receive US Food and
Drug Administration (‘FDA’) licensure in 2010. Genentech is committed to fund the pre-commissioning
production qualification costs at this facility and, upon FDA licensure, Genentech is committed to purchase 100%
of products successfully manufactured at the facility for a period of three years after commissioning of the facility.
The estimated total cost of these pre- and post-commissioning commitments is approximately 440 million US
dollars. Genentech has also received an exclusive option to purchase the Lonza Singapore facility during the
period from 2007 up to one year after FDA licensure for a purchase price of 290 million US dollars. Regardless of
whether the purchase option is exercised, Genentech will be obliged to make a milestone payment of 70 million
US dollars if certain performance milestones are met at the facility being constructed. For accounting purposes,
due to the nature of the supply agreement and Genentech’s involvement in the construction of the buildings,
Genentech is considered to be the owner of the assets during the construction period even though the funds
to construct the building shell and some infrastructure costs are paid by Lonza.

Genentech has also entered into a loan agreement with Lonza to advance up to 299 million US dollars to Lonza
for the construction of the Singapore facility, the majority of which is not expected to be advanced until 2008. The
majority of these funds will not be advanced to Lonza unless and until Lonza’s securitisation obligations for such
are mutually agreed upon by the parties. If Genentech exercises its option to purchase the facility then any
outstanding advances may be offset against the purchase price. If Genentech does not exercise its purchase
option then the advances may be offset against supply purchases.

As at 31 December 2007, construction in progress totalling 182 million Swiss francs (2006: 24 million Swiss francs)
has been capitalised and a corresponding net financing obligation totalling 155 million Swiss francs (2006: 24 mil-
lion Swiss francs) has been recorded in ‘other non-current liabilities’.
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Leasing arrangements
In December 2004 Genentech entered into a Master Lease Agreement with Slough SSF LLC (‘Slough’) for the
development of property adjacent to Genentech’s South San Francisco site. The development includes a total of
eight buildings, which are subject to separate agreements as contemplated by the Master Lease Agreement.
Slough as the developer will construct the building shell for each building and Genentech will finish the interior
of each building as laboratory or office space, as applicable. The construction of the first buildings was completed
in 2006, at which point the lease term for those buildings was deemed to begin. Construction of the final buildings
is expected to be completed during 2008. The lease term expires twelve years from the occupation of the final
building. Genentech has two five-year renewal options for each building and has an option to purchase the
various buildings at different dates between 2016 and 2020. Genentech also has a right of first refusal with
respect to each building or the entire development should Slough consider selling part or all of the development. 

As at 31 December 2007, based on the status of the development to date, the total carrying value of property,
plant and equipment from this agreement, including tenant improvements, was 275 million Swiss francs
(2006: 228 million Swiss francs) and the carrying value of the leasing obligation was 305 million Swiss francs
(2006: 219 million Swiss francs). Estimates of the total future minimum lease payments anticipated by the entire
Master Lease Agreement are shown below.

Estimated total future minimum lease payments under Slough leases in millions of CHF

Total minimum
Principal Ground lease Interest lease payments

Within one year 11 7 17 35
Between one and five years 74 33 63 170
More than five years 267 68 53 388
Total 352 108 133 593

Other matters
Details of other Genentech matters are given in the following Notes:

• Acquisition of Tanox: Note 7.
• Genentech legal cases: Note 25.
• Genentech’s equity compensation plans: Note 11. 
• Genentech’s Senior Notes and Commercial Paper Program: Note 27.

4. Chugai

Effective 1 October 2002 the Roche Group and Chugai completed an alliance to create a leading research-driven
Japanese pharmaceutical company, which was formed by the merger of Chugai and Roche’s Japanese
pharmaceuticals subsidiary, Nippon Roche. The merged company, known as Chugai, is a fully consolidated
subsidiary of the Group. At 31 December 2007 the Group’s interest in Chugai was 51.5% (2006: 50.6%).

The common stock of Chugai is publicly traded and is listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange under the stock code
‘TSE:4519’. Chugai prepares financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in Japan (JGAAP). These are filed on a quarterly basis with the Tokyo Stock Exchange.

Relationship with Chugai 
Chugai has entered into certain agreements with Roche, which are discussed below:

Basic Alliance Agreement: As part of the Basic Alliance Agreement signed in December 2001, Roche and
Chugai entered into certain arrangements covering the future operation and governance of Chugai. Amongst
other matters these cover the following areas:

• The structuring of the alliance.
• Roche’s rights as a shareholder.
• Roche’s rights to nominate members of Chugai’s Board of Directors.
• Certain limitations to Roche’s ability to buy or sell Chugai’s common stock.
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Chugai issues additional shares of common stock in connection with its convertible debt and equity
compensation plans, and may issue additional shares for other purposes, which affects Roche’s percentage
ownership interest. The Basic Alliance Agreement provides, amongst other matters, that Chugai will guarantee
Roche’s right to maintain its shareholding percentage in Chugai at not less than 50.1%.

Licensing Agreements: Under the Japan Umbrella Rights Agreement signed in December 2001, Chugai has
exclusive rights to market Roche’s pharmaceutical products in Japan. Chugai also has first right of refusal on the
development and marketing in Japan of all development compounds advanced by Roche.

Under the Rest of the World Umbrella Rights Agreement signed in May 2002, Roche has the right of first refusal
on the development and marketing of Chugai’s development compounds in markets outside Japan, excluding
South Korea, if Chugai decides that it requires a partner for such activities.

Further to these agreements, Roche and Chugai have signed a series of separate agreements for certain specific
products. Depending on the specific circumstances and the terms of the agreement, this may result in payments
on an arm’s-length basis between Roche and Chugai, for any or all of the following matters:

• Upfront payments, if a right of first refusal to license a product is exercised.
• Milestone payments, dependent upon the achievement of agreed performance targets.
• Royalties on future product sales.

These specific product agreements may also cover the manufacture and supply of the respective products to meet
the other party’s clinical and/or commercial requirements on an arm’s-length basis.

Research Collaboration Agreements: Roche and Chugai have entered into research collaboration agreements
in the areas of small molecule synthetic drug research and biotechnology based drug discovery. 

Differences between IFRS and JGAAP
Due to certain consolidation entries and differences in the requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and JGAAP, there are differences between Chugai’s stand-alone financial results on a JGAAP
basis and the financial results of Chugai as consolidated by the Roche Group in accordance with IFRS.

The acquisition by Roche of a 50.1% interest in Chugai is treated as a business combination for IFRS. For JGAAP
the alliance is treated as a merger between Chugai and Nippon Roche. Therefore the JGAAP results of Chugai
do not include the goodwill and fair value adjustments that are recorded in Roche’s results, and which are
quantified in the table below. Moreover the acquisition accounting only includes Roche’s 50.1% of these fair
value adjustments and therefore the impact of these on net income needs to be added back in the minority
interest calculations in Roche’s IFRS results.

In Roche’s IFRS results, depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line
method. In Chugai’s JGAAP results the reducing balance method is used. Additionally certain income and
expenses, notably some restructuring costs, are required by JGAAP to be reported as extraordinary items.
In Chugai’s JGAAP results extraordinary items are reported below the operating profit line. In Roche’s IFRS results
such items are normally included as part of operating profit and are not treated as extraordinary or exceptional
items. Restructuring costs were 12 million Swiss francs (2006: 4 million Swiss francs). There are other differences
between IFRS and JGAAP, but these have a relatively minor impact.
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Reconciliation of Chugai results

2007 2006
JPY CHF JPY CHF

billions millions billions millions

Operating profit (JGAAP basis) 66.7 58.3
– depreciation basis difference 5.1 3.4
– classification of extraordinary items (1.3) (0.2)
– other differences and consolidation entries (4.0) (2.0)
Operating profit before acquisition accounting impacts (IFRS basis) 66.5 678 59.5 641
– depreciation of property, plant and equipment (0.7) (7) (0.7) (7)
– amortisation of intangible assets arising from business 

combinations (6.0) (61) (6.0) (65)
Operating profit (IFRS basis) 59.8 610 52.8 569

Add (deduct) Corporate and non-operating items (IFRS basis)
– financial income and financing costs 23 20
– income taxes (242) (229)
Net income (IFRS basis) 391 360

Minority interest calculation
Add back acquisition accounting impact on net income 41 49
Net income excluding acquisition accounting 432 409

Minority interest percentage (average during year) 48.7% 49.4%
Income applicable to minority interest (IFRS basis) 211 202

Translated at 100 JPY = 1.02 CHF (2006: 100 JPY = 1.08 CHF).

Dividends
The dividends distributed to third parties holding Chugai shares during 2007 totalled 91 million Swiss francs
(2006: 100 million Swiss francs) and have been recorded against minority interests (see Note 30). Dividends paid
by Chugai to Roche are eliminated on consolidation as inter-company items.

Chugai share repurchases
During 2007 Chugai repurchased 9.5 million of its common shares for a total consideration of 27.6 billion
Japanese yen (282 million Swiss francs). As a result the Group’s ownership in Chugai increased to 51.5%. There
were no share repurchases in 2006.

Other matters
Details of Chugai’s equity compensation plans are given in Note 11. Details of the ‘Series 6 Chugai Pharmaceutical
Unsecured Convertible Bonds’, including conversions during the year, are given in Note 27.
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5. Financial income and financing costs

Financial income in millions of CHF

Year ended 31 December
2007 2006

Gains on sale of equity securities 350 382
(Losses) on sale of equity securities (8) (2)
Dividend income 8 10
Gains (losses) on equity derivatives, net (2) 9
Write-downs and impairments of equity securities (35) (9)
Net income from equity securities 313 390

Interest income 1,072 788
Gains on sale of debt securities 160 57
(Losses) on sale of debt securities (185) (67)
Net gains (losses) on financial assets at fair-value-through-profit-or-loss 22 2
Write-downs and impairments of debt securities (68) –
Net interest income and income from debt securities 1,001 780

Expected return on plan assets of defined benefit plans10 670 636

Foreign exchange gains (losses), net 110 33
Gains (losses) on foreign currency derivatives, net (263) (57)
Net foreign exchange gains (losses) (153) (24)

Net other financial income (expense) (26) 47

Total financial income 1,805 1,829

Financing costs in millions of CHF

Year ended 31 December
2007 2006

Interest expense (281) (315)
Amortisation of discount on debt instruments (8) (40)
Gains (losses) on interest rate derivatives, net (2) (25)
Net gains (losses) on financial liabilities at fair-value-through-profit-or-loss 1 51
Time cost of provisions25 (69) (74)
Interest cost of defined benefit plans10 (612) (571)
Total financing costs (971) (974)

Net financial income in millions of CHF

Year ended 31 December
2007 2006

Financial income 1,805 1,829
Financing costs (971) (974)
Net financial income 834 855

Financial result from Treasury management 776 790
Financial result from Pension management 58 65
Net financial income 834 855
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Net gains (losses) on financial liabilities at fair-value-through-profit-or-loss includes the change in the fair value
that is attributable to changes in the liabilities’ credit risk component. This is calculated by comparing the
difference between the present value of the future cash flows on the bonds, discounted by using a swap yield
curve based on LIBOR, and the market prices of the bonds. Due to a widening of the credit spread during 2007
relative to the swap yield curve, the change in fair value that is attributable to changes in the liabilities’ credit risk
component was a gain of 4 million Swiss francs (2006: zero). The cumulative change in fair value that is
attributable to the change in credit risk since the issuance of the instruments was a gain of 21 million Swiss francs
(2006: gain of 17 million Swiss francs). Interest expense on liabilities at fair-value-through-profit-or-loss was
106 million Swiss francs (2006: 106 million Swiss francs).

6. Income taxes

Income tax expenses in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Current income taxes 4,976 3,436
Adjustments recognised for current tax of prior periods (83) (24)
Deferred income taxes (1,026) 24
Total charge for income taxes 3,867 3,436

Since the Group operates internationally, it is subject to income taxes in many different tax jurisdictions. The
Group calculates its average expected tax rate as a weighted average of the tax rates in the tax jurisdictions in
which the Group operates. This rate changes from year to year due to changes in the mix of the Group’s taxable
income and changes in local tax rates. In 2007 the rate reduced by 2.7 percentage points compared to 2006.
This reduction is mainly the result of a relatively lower proportion of the Group’s pre-tax income arising in
tax jurisdictions with higher tax rates, together with the Group’s ongoing efforts to optimise its tax structure.
The Group’s effective tax rate can be reconciled to the Group’s average expected tax rate as follows:

Reconciliation of the Group’s effective tax rate
2007 2006

Average expected tax rate 23.7% 26.4%

Tax effect of
– Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses –0.0% –0.2%
– Non-taxable income/non-deductible expenses +0.2% –0.1%
– Genentech equity compensation plans +0.9% +0.7%
– Other differences +0.5% +0.5%
Group’s effective tax rate 25.3% 27.3%

Income tax assets (liabilities) in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Current income taxes
– Assets 263 258
– Liabilities (2,215) (2,034)
Net current income tax assets (liabilities) (1,952) (1,776)

Deferred income taxes
– Assets 1,317 1,935
– Liabilities (1,481) (2,310)
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) (164) (375)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry forwards only to the extent that realisation of the
related tax benefit is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses, including valuation allowances, as follows:
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Unrecognised tax losses: expiry in millions of CHF

2007 2006
Applicable Applicable

Amount tax rate Amount tax rate

Within one year 42 35% 1 25%
Between one and five years 96 25% 91 30%
More than five years 176 32% 89 30%
Total unrecognised tax losses 314 30% 181 30%

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been established for the withholding tax and other taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries, as such amounts are currently regarded
as permanently reinvested. These unremitted earnings totalled 38.8 billion Swiss francs at 31 December 2007
(2006: 33.6 billion Swiss francs).

The deferred income tax assets and liabilities and the deferred income tax charges (credits) are attributable
to the following items:

Deferred income taxes: movements in recognised net assets (liabilities) in millions of CHF

Property, plant and Other
equipment, and temporary

intangible assets differences Total

Year ended 31 December 2006
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) at 1 January 2006 (3,028) 2,117 (911)
(Charged) credited to the income statement 231 (252) (21)
(Charged) credited to equity from 
other recognised gains and losses28 – (135) (135)
(Charged) credited to equity from equity compensation 
plans and other transactions with shareholders – (11) (11)
Currency translation effects and other 80 623 703
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) at 31 December 2006 (2,717) 2,342 (375)

Year ended 31 December 2007
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) at 1 January 2007 (2,717) 2,342 (375)
BioVeris acquisition7 (41) 41 –
Tanox acquisition7 (282) 41 (241)
Other business combinations7 (98) 54 (44)
(Charged) credited to the income statement 309 717 1,026
(Charged) credited to equity from other recognised gains and losses28 – (267) (267)
(Charged) credited to equity from equity compensation plans 
and other transactions with shareholders – (209) (209)
Currency translation effects and other 90 (144) (54)
Net deferred income tax asset (liability) at 31 December 2007 (2,739) 2,575 (164)

7. Business combinations

Acquisitions – 2007
BioVeris: Effective 26 June 2007 the Group acquired a 100% controlling interest in BioVeris Corporation
(‘BioVeris’), a publicly owned US company that had been listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol ‘BIOV’. BioVeris
is a healthcare and biosecurity company based in Gaithersburg, Maryland, that specialises in developing
proprietary technologies in diagnostics. BioVeris is now reported as part of the Diagnostics operating segment.
The purchase consideration was 745 million Swiss francs, which consisted of 741 million Swiss francs of cash
and 4 million Swiss francs of directly attributable costs. This has been allocated as follows:
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BioVeris acquisition: net assets acquired in millions of CHF

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value
prior to acquisition adjustments upon acquisition

Property, plant and equipment 5 – 5
Intangible assets
– Product intangibles: in use 16 101 117
Deferred income taxes 8 (8) –
Cash 6 – 6
Other net assets (liabilities) 77 – 77
Net identifiable assets (liabilities) 112 93 205
Goodwill 540
Purchase consideration 745

Goodwill represents assets that cannot be recognised separately and measured reliably and synergies that
can be obtained from the Group’s existing electrochemiluminescence (ECL) immunochemistry business. It also
represents the premium paid over the traded market price to obtain control of the business. Following
the acquisition, restructuring expenses of 29 million Swiss francs were incurred. These are reported within the
operating result of the Diagnostics Division.

Tanox: Effective 2 August 2007, Genentech acquired a 100% controlling interest in Tanox, Inc. (‘Tanox’), a publicly
owned US company that had been listed on the NASDAQ under the symbol ‘TNOX’. Tanox is a biotechnology
company based in Houston, Texas, that specialises in the discovery and development of biotherapeutics based
on monoclonal antibody technology. Genentech and Tanox have been working together in collaboration with
Novartis since 1996 to develop and commercialise Xolair. The purchase consideration was 1,124 million Swiss
francs, which consisted of 1,114 million Swiss francs of cash and 10 million Swiss francs of directly attributable
costs. This has been allocated as follows:

Tanox acquisition: net assets acquired in millions of CHF

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value
prior to acquisition adjustments upon acquisition

Property, plant and equipment 13 – 13
Intangible assets
– Product intangibles: in use – 613 613
– Product intangibles: not available for use – 93 93
Deferred income taxes 9 (250) (241)
Cash 120 – 120
Marketable securities 123 – 123
Other net assets (liabilities) 19 32 51
Net identifiable assets (liabilities) 284 488 772
Goodwill 352
Purchase consideration 1,124

Goodwill represents assets that cannot be recognised separately and measured reliably, such as early-stage
research projects. It also represents the premium paid over the traded market price to obtain control of the
business.

Other acquisitions: Effective 28 March 2007 the Group acquired a 100% controlling interest in Therapeutic
Human Polyclonals, Inc. (‘THP’), a privately owned US biotechnology company based in California and Germany.
THP is reported as part of the Roche Pharmaceuticals operating segment. The purchase consideration paid was
69 million Swiss francs in cash.
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Effective 25 May 2007 the Group acquired a 100% controlling interest in 454 Life Sciences, a majority-owned
US subsidiary of CuraGen Corporation. 454 Life Sciences develops and commercialises novel instrumentation
for high-throughput DNA sequencing and is based in Branford, Connecticut. 454 Life Sciences is reported as part
of the Diagnostics operating segment. The purchase consideration paid was 189 million Swiss francs in cash,
which consisted of 188 million Swiss francs of cash and 1 million Swiss francs of directly attributable costs.

Effective 8 August 2007 the Group acquired a 100% controlling interest in NimbleGen Systems, Inc. (‘NimbleGen’),
a privately owned US company. NimbleGen develops and commercialises high density DNA microarrays and is
based in Madison, Wisconsin. NimbleGen is reported as part of the Diagnostics operating segment. The purchase
consideration was 316 million Swiss francs in cash.

There were other minor business combinations with a total purchase consideration of 18 million Swiss francs.

The combined purchase consideration for other acquisitions has been allocated as shown below.

Other acquisitions: net assets acquired in millions of CHF

Carrying value Fair value Carrying value 
prior to acquisition adjustments upon acquisition

Property, plant and equipment 16 (1) 15
Intangible assets
– Product intangibles: in use 19 204 223
– Product intangibles: not available for use – 10 10
– Technology intangibles – 34 34
Deferred income taxes – (44) (44)
Cash 25 – 25
Other net assets (liabilities) (9) 2 (7)
Net identifiable assets (liabilities) 51 205 256
Goodwill 336
Purchase consideration 592

Goodwill represents assets that cannot be recognised separately and measured reliably, such as early-stage
research projects, a control premium and synergies that can be obtained from the Group’s existing business.

Acquisitions – 2007: impact on results in millions of CHF

Revenues from Amortisation of Operating
external customers intangible assets profit Net income

Impact on reported results
Tanox 11 (21) (4) (2)
THP – (2) (4) (3)
Other minor acquisitions – – (5) (3)
Pharmaceuticals Division 11 (23) (13) (8)

BioVerisa) 9 (8) (11) (7)
454 Life Sciences 6 (8) (11) (7)
NimbleGen 9 (6) (18) (11)
Diagnostics Division 24 (22) (40) (25)

Group 35 (45) (53) (33)

a) The above figures exclude restructuring expenses of 29 million Swiss francs related to BioVeris.
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Revenues from Amortisation of Operating
external customers intangible assets profit Net income

Estimated impact on results 
if acquisition assumed effective 
1 January 2007
Tanox 38 (51) (8) (5)
THP – (3) (5) (4)
Other minor acquisitions – – (10) (7)
Pharmaceuticals Division 38 (54) (23) (16)

BioVerisa) 18 (16) (19) (11)
454 Life Sciences 10 (13) (15) (9)
NimbleGen 20 (14) (40) (25)
Diagnostics Division 48 (43) (74) (45)

Group 86 (97) (97) (61)

a) The above figures exclude restructuring expenses of 29 million Swiss francs related to BioVeris.

Acquisitions – 2007: net cash outflow in millions of CHF

Cash in
Cash acquired Net cash

consideration paid company outflow

BioVeris (745) 6 (739)
Tanox (1,124) 120 (1,004)
Other acquisitions (592) 25 (567)
Total (2,461) 151 (2,310)

Future acquisitions
Ventana: On 22 January 2008 the Group announced that it had entered into an agreement to acquire a 100%
controlling interest in Ventana Medical Systems, Inc. (‘Ventana’), a publicly owned US company listed on the
NASDAQ under the symbol ‘VMSI’. Ventana develops, manufactures and markets instrument/reagent systems
that automate slide preparation and staining in clinical histology and drug discovery laboratories. Ventana’s
clinical systems are used in the diagnosis and treatment of cancer and infectious diseases and their drug
discovery systems are used by pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to accelerate the discovery of new
drug targets and to evaluate the safety of new drug compounds. Ventana is based in Tucson, Arizona. If the
transaction is completed Ventana will be reported as part of the Diagnostics operating segment. The tender offer
is for USD 89.50 per share expiring on 7 February 2008, and which is subject to, amongst other matters, the
conditions that there are validly tendered and not withdrawn, a number of common shares that, together with
the shares owned by the Group, represents a majority of the total number of common shares outstanding on a
fully-diluted basis. If completed the overall purchase consideration, excluding transaction costs, would be
approximately 3.4 billion US dollars in cash. This would be provided from the Group’s cash on hand at the time
of closing. The transaction is expected to be completed in the first half of 2008.

Acquisitions – 2006
There were no acquisitions of subsidiaries or associated companies during 2006.

8. Discontinued businesses

The Group completed the sale of its Vitamins and Fine Chemicals business (‘the VFC business’) to the Dutch
company DSM in 2003 and the sale of Roche Consumer Health, its global OTC (over-the-counter medicines)
business to the Bayer Group in 2004–2005. As at 31 December 2006, all business transfers had been made,
all purchase consideration had been received and the calculations of the final amounts arising from the agreed
purchase price mechanisms had been completed and the resulting cash transfers had been made.
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Accordingly, effective from 1 January 2007, the Group’s management has concluded that the remaining residual
balances from both transactions should be considered as part of the Group’s continuing businesses and should
be reported in the ‘Corporate’ segment. As at 1 January 2007 these balances consisted of provisions and other
non-current liabilities totalling 183 million Swiss francs, which primarily relate to indemnities and guarantees
in respect of litigation and environmental matters. The impact on the result of the ‘Corporate’ segment in 2007
was an income of 14 million Swiss francs relating to the release of certain accruals that were no longer required.

The 2006 results include 20 million Swiss francs of profit from discontinued businesses. This consisted of income
of 28 million Swiss francs relating to the release of certain accruals and provisions that were no longer required
less 5 million Swiss francs of expenses for the unwinding of the discounted provisions and 3 million Swiss francs
of income tax expenses. This had an impact of 0.02 CHF on earnings per share and non-voting equity security
(basic and diluted). 

9. Employee benefits

Employee remuneration in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Wages and salaries 8,180 7,632
Social security costs 943 891
Defined contribution post-employment plans 259 214
Operating expenses for defined benefit post-employment plans10 370 348
Equity compensation plans11 608 690
Other employee benefits 465 406
Employees’ remuneration included in operating results 10,825 10,181

Expected return on plan assets for defined benefit post-employment plans10 (670) (636)
Interest cost for defined benefit post-employment plans10 612 571
Total employees’ remuneration 10,767 10,116

Other employee benefits consist mainly of life insurance schemes and certain other insurance schemes providing
medical coverage and other long-term and short-term disability benefits. The charges for employee benefits in
the operating results are included in the relevant expenditure line by function. The expected return on plan assets
and interest costs from defined benefit plans are included as part of financial income and financing costs,
respectively (see Note 5).

10. Pensions and other post-employment benefits 

The Group’s objective is to provide attractive and competitive post-employment benefits to employees, while
at the same time ensuring that the various plans are appropriately financed and managing any potential impacts
on the Group’s long-term financial position. Most employees are covered by pension plans sponsored by Group
companies. The nature of such plans varies according to legal regulations, fiscal requirements and economic
conditions of the countries in which the employees are employed. Other post-employment benefits consist mostly
of post-retirement healthcare and life insurance schemes, principally in the United States. Post-employment
benefit plans are classified for IFRS as ‘defined contribution plans’ if the Group pays fixed contributions into
a separate fund or to a third-party financial institution and will have no further legal or constructive obligation
to pay further contributions. All other plans are classified as ‘defined benefit plans’, even if the Group’s potential
obligation is relatively minor or has a relatively remote possibility of arising. Consequently most of the Group’s
post-employment benefit plans are classified as ‘defined benefit plans’ for the purpose of these financial
statements. 
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Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans typically consist of payments by employees and by the Group to funds administered
by third parties. Payments by the Group were 259 million Swiss francs (2006: 214 million Swiss francs). No assets
or liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet in respect of such plans, apart from regular prepayments
and accruals of the contributions withheld from employees’ wages and salaries and of the Group’s contributions. 

Defined benefit plans
The Group’s major defined benefit plans are located in Switzerland, the United States, Germany, the United
Kingdom and Japan. Plans are usually established as trusts independent of the Group and are funded by
payments from the Group and by employees. In some cases, notably for the major defined benefit plans in
Germany, the plan is unfunded and the Group pays pensions to retired employees directly from its own financial
resources.

Current and past service costs are charged to the appropriate income statement heading within the operating
results. Pension plan administration and funding is overseen at a corporate level, and any settlement gains
and losses resulting from changes in funding arrangements are reported as general and administration
expenses within the Corporate segment. The expected returns on plan assets and interest costs are charged to
financial income and financing costs, respectively. Actuarial gains and losses are recorded directly in equity.
The recognition of pension assets is limited to the total of the present value of any future refunds from the
plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans and any cumulative unrecognised past service costs.
Adjustments arising from the limit on the recognition of assets for defined benefit plans are recorded directly
in equity. 

Defined benefit plans: expenses in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Other post- Other post-
Pension employment Pension employment

plans benefit plans Total plans benefit plans Total

Current service cost 361 22 383 334 18 352
Past service cost (2) – (2) (3) – (3)
(Gain) loss on curtailment (11) – (11) – – –
(Gain) loss on settlement – – – (1) – (1)
Total operating expenses 348 22 370 330 18 348

Expected return on plan assets (630) (40) (670) (606) (30) (636)
Interest cost 556 56 612 522 49 571
Total financial (income) expense (74) 16 (58) (84) 19 (65)

Total expense recognised in income 
statement 274 38 312 246 37 283

The funding of the Group’s various defined benefit plans is overseen at a corporate level. Qualified independent
actuaries carry out valuations on a regular basis and for major plans annually as at the balance sheet date. For
funded plans, which are usually trusts independent of the Group’s finances, the net asset/liability recognised on
the Group’s balance sheet corresponds to the over/under funding of the plan, adjusted for unrecognised past
service costs. For unfunded plans, where the Group meets the pension obligations directly from its own financial
resources, a liability for the defined benefit obligation is recorded in the Group’s balance sheet. Pension assets
and liabilities in different defined benefit plans are not offset unless the Group has a legally enforceable right to
use the surplus in one plan to settle obligations in the other plan. Amounts recognised in the balance sheet for
post-employment benefits are predominantly non-current and are reported in non-current assets and liabilities.
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Defined benefit plans: funding status at 31 December in millions of CHF

2007 2006
Funded Unfunded Funded Unfunded

plans plans Total plans plans Total

Fair value of plan assets 12,170 – 12,170 11,632 – 11,632
Defined benefit obligation (10,646) (3,344) (13,990) (11,002) (3,596) (14,598)
Over (under) funding 1,524 (3,344) (1,820) 630 (3,596) (2,966)
Unrecognised past service costs (23) (1) (24) (28) – (28)
Limit on asset recognition (818) – (818) (396) – (396)
Reimbursement rights 99 17 116 95 21 116
Net recognised asset (liability) 782 (3,328) (2,546) 301 (3,575) (3,274)

Reported as
– Defined benefit plans 1,034 – 1,034 831 – 831
– Reimbursement rights 99 17 116 95 21 116
Post-employment benefit assets 1,133 17 1,150 926 21 947
Post-employment benefit liabilities (351) (3,345) (3,696) (625) (3,596) (4,221)
Net recognised asset (liability) 782 (3,328) (2,546) 301 (3,575) (3,274)

Further detailed information on plan assets and the defined benefit obligation is given below.

Defined benefit plans: fair value of plan assets and reimbursement rights in millions of CHF

2007 2006
Fair Fair

value of Reim- value of Reim-
plan bursement plan bursement

assets rights Total assets rights Total

At 1 January 11,632 116 11,748 10,858 122 10,980
Expected return on plan assets 663 7 670 631 5 636
Actuarial gains (losses) 491 4 495 626 – 626
Currency translation effects and other (373) (10) (383) (246) (8) (254)
Employer contributions 207 (1) 206 215 (3) 212
Employee contributions 45 – 45 42 – 42
Benefits paid – funded plans (494) – (494) (480) – (480)
Past service cost – – – – – –
Business combinations – – – – – –
Curtailments – – – – – –
Settlements (1) – (1) (14) – (14)
At 31 December 12,170 116 12,286 11,632 116 11,748

2007 2006

Invested as
– Shares and other equity instruments 6,055 5,819
– Bonds, debentures and other debt instruments 4,343 4,405
– Property 337 478
– Other assets 1,551 1,046
Total 12,286 11,748

Included within the fair value of plan assets are 340 thousand of the Group’s non-voting equity securities with
a fair value of 66 million Swiss francs (2006: 311 thousand non-voting equity securities with a total fair value
of 68 million Swiss francs).
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Defined benefit plans: defined benefit obligation in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Other post- Other post-
Pension employment Pension employment

plans benefit plans Total plans benefit plans Total

At 1 January 13,572 1,026 14,598 13,540 1,066 14,606
Current service cost 361 22 383 334 18 352
Interest cost 556 56 612 522 49 571
Employee contributions 45 – 45 42 – 42
Actuarial (gains) losses (718) 35 (683) (159) 24 (135)
Currency translation effects and other (235) (79) (314) (158) (76) (234)
Benefits paid – funded plans (448) (46) (494) (427) (53) (480)
Benefits paid – unfunded plans (134) (12) (146) (109) (2) (111)
Past service cost 1 – 1 2 – 2
Business combinations – – – – – –
Curtailments (11) – (11) – – –
Settlements (1) – (1) (15) – (15)
At 31 December 12,988 1,002 13,990 13,572 1,026 14,598

Of which
– Funded plans 9,904 742 10,646 10,258 744 11,002
– Unfunded plans 3,084 260 3,344 3,314 282 3,596

Actuarial assumptions
Actuarial assumptions are unbiased and mutually compatible estimates of variables that determine the ultimate
cost of providing post-employment benefits. They are set on an annual basis by local management and actuaries
and are subject to approval by corporate management and the Group’s actuaries. Actuarial assumptions consist
of demographic assumptions on matters such as mortality and employee turnover, and financial assumptions
on matters such as salary and benefit levels, interest rates, return on investments and costs of medical benefits.
The Group operates defined benefit plans in many countries and the actuarial assumptions vary based upon local
economic and social conditions. 

Demographic assumptions: The most significant demographic assumptions relate to mortality rates. The
Group’s actuaries use mortality tables which take into account historic patterns and expected changes, such
as further increases in longevity. The mortality tables used for the major schemes are:

• Germany: Heubeck tables 2005G.
• Japan: National Census (No. 19 Life Table).
• Switzerland: BVG 2005.
• United Kingdom: non-pensioners – PA92C25 rated down one year.
• United Kingdom: pensioners – PA92C10 rated down one year.
• United States: RP2000 projected to 2010.

Rates of employee turnover, disability and early retirement are based on historical behaviour within Group
companies. 

Financial assumptions: These are based on market expectations for the period over which the obligations
are to be settled. The ranges of assumptions used in the actuarial valuations of the most significant plans, which
are in countries with stable currencies and interest rates, are shown below. 
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Defined benefit plans: financial actuarial assumptions

2007 2006
Weighted Weighted

average Range average Range

Discount rates 4.96% 2%–8% 4.30% 2%–9%
Expected rates of return on plan assets 5.83% 1%–10% 5.82% 1%–9%
Expected rates of salary increases 3.59% 0%–7% 3.60% 2%–6%
Medical cost trend rate 9.39% 8%–10% 8.16% 7%–9%

Discount rates, which are used to calculate the discounted present value of the defined benefit obligation, are
determined with reference to market yields on high quality corporate bonds, or government bonds in countries
where there is not a deep market in corporate bonds. The currency and term of the bonds is consistent with
the obligation being discounted. The interest cost included in the income statement is calculated by multiplying
the discount rate by the defined benefit obligation.

Expected returns on plan assets are based on market expectations of expected returns on the assets in funded
plans over the duration of the related obligation. This takes into account the split of the plan assets between
equities, bonds, property and other investments. The calculation includes assumptions concerning expected
dividend and interest income, realised and unrealised gains on plan assets and taxes and administration costs
borne by the plan. These are based on long-term market expectations and the actual performance is continually
monitored by corporate management. Due to the long-term nature of the obligations, the assumptions used for
matters such as returns on investments may not necessarily be consistent with recent historical patterns. The
expected return on plan assets included in the income statement is calculated by multiplying the expected rate
of return by the fair value of plan assets. The difference between the expected return and the actual return in any
twelve month period is an actuarial gain/loss and is recorded directly to equity. The actual return on plan assets
was 703 million Swiss francs (2006: 1,262 million Swiss francs).

Expected rates of salary increases, which are used to calculate the defined benefit obligation and the current
service cost included in the income statement, are based on the latest expectation and historical behaviour within
Group companies.

Medical cost trend rates are used to calculate the defined benefit obligation and the current service cost included
in the income statement of post-employment medical plans. These take into account the benefits set out in the
plan terms and expected future changes in medical costs. Since the Group’s major post-employment medical
plans are for US employees, these rates are driven by developments in the United States. The effect of one
percentage point increase or decrease in the medical cost trend rate is shown below.

Defined benefit plans: sensitivity of medical cost trend rate in millions of CHF

2007 2006
+1% –1% +1% –1%

Current service cost and interest cost 10 (9) 10 (7)
Defined benefit obligation 60 (151) 125 (99)

Funding summary
A five-year summary of the funding status of the Group’s defined benefit plans is shown in the table below.
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Defined benefit plans: summary of funding status in millions of CHF
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Funded plans
– Fair value of plan assets 12,170 11,632 10,858 9,922 9,490
– Defined benefit obligation (10,646) (11,002) (10,976) (10,233) (9,785)
– Over (under) funding 1,524 630 (118) (311) (295)

Unfunded plans
– Defined benefit obligation (3,344) (3,596) (3,630) (2,731) (2,626)

Increase (decrease) in funding status arising 
from experience adjustments
– Fair value of plan assets 40 626 547 13 472
– Defined benefit obligation (235) (249) 49 77 (46)

Increase (decrease) in funding status arising 
from changes in actuarial assumptions
– Fair value of plan assets – – – – –
– Defined benefit obligation 1,295 384 (1,148) (636) (603)

Cash flows 
The Group incurred cash flows from its defined benefit plans as shown in the table below.

Defined benefit plans: cash flows in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Employer contributions – funded plans (206) (212)
Benefits paid – unfunded plans (146) (111)
Total cash inflow (outflow) (352) (323)

Based on the most recent actuarial valuations, the Group expects that employer contributions for funded plans in
2008 will be approximately 190 million Swiss francs and benefits paid for unfunded plans will be approximately
142 million Swiss francs.

Amounts recorded in equity
The actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense were gains of
1,178 million Swiss francs (2006: gains of 761 million Swiss francs). The total amount at 31 December 2007 was
accumulated gains of 1,387 million Swiss francs (2006: gains of 209 million Swiss francs).

In addition the recognition of pension assets is limited to the total of the present value of any future refunds from
the plans or reductions in future contributions to the plans and the cumulative unrecognised past service costs.
Adjustments arising from this limit on asset recognition are recorded directly in equity. In 2007 this adjustment
was 422 million Swiss francs (2006: 396 million Swiss francs).

11. Employee stock options and other equity compensation benefits

The Group operates several equity compensation plans, including separate plans at Genentech and Chugai.
Effective 1 January 2005 the Group adopted IFRS 2: ‘Share-based Payment’. Amongst other matters, the standard
requires that the fair value of all equity compensation plan awards granted to employees be estimated at grant
date and recorded as an expense over the vesting period. The expense is charged against the appropriate income
statement heading. 
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Expenses for equity compensation plans in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Cost of sales 90 118
Marketing and distribution 132 149
Research and development 206 229
General and administration 180 194
Total operating expense 608 690

Share option plans
Roche Option Plan 6 7
Genentech Stock Option Plan 433 468
Chugai Stock Acquisition Rights 3 1
Total share option plans 442 476

Other equity compensation plans
Roche Connect 13 11
Genentech Employee Stock Purchase Program 32 42
Roche Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights 100 76
Roche Performance Share Plan 16 15
Roche Stock Appreciation Rights 5 70
Total other equity compensation plans 166 214

Total operating expense 608 690
Of which
– equity-settled 603 620
– cash-settled 5 70

Cash inflow (outflow) from equity compensation plans in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Share option plans
Roche Option Plan (19) 55
Genentech Stock Option Plan 408 361
Chugai Stock Acquisition Rights 1 1
Total share option plans 390 417

Other equity compensation plans
Roche Connect (13) (11)
Genentech Employee Stock Purchase Program 134 121
Roche Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights (61) (47)
Roche Performance Share Plan – –
Roche Stock Appreciation Rights (97) (107)
Total other equity compensation plans (37) (44)

Total cash inflow (outflow) 353 373
Of which
– equity-settled 450 480
– cash-settled (97) (107)

Roche Long-Term: During 2005 the Group implemented a new global long-term incentive programme which
is available to certain directors, management and employees selected at the discretion of the Group. The
programme consists of Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights (S-SARs), with the Group having the alternative
of granting awards under the existing Roche Option Plan. 
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Share option plans
Roche Option Plan: Awards under this plan give employees the right to purchase non-voting equity securities
at an exercise price specified at the grant date. The options, which are non-tradable equity-settled awards, have
a seven-year duration and vest on a phased basis over three years, subject to continued employment. The Group
covers such obligations by purchasing non-voting equity securities or derivatives thereon (see Note 28). With
the introduction of Roche Long-Term in 2005, the number of options granted under the Roche Option Plan was
significantly reduced, as most eligible employees now receive Roche Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights
instead.

Roche Option Plan – movement in number of options outstanding
2007 2006

Number Weighted average Number Weighted average
of options exercise price of options exercise price

(thousands) (CHF) (thousands) (CHF)

Outstanding at 1 January 1,416 117.83 1,854 105.85
Granted 194 229.68 141 195.14
Forfeited (10) 163.98 (15) 123.52
Exercised (397) 105.64 (564) 97.73
Expired – – – –
Outstanding at 31 December 1,203 139.50 1,416 117.83
– of which exercisable 875 115.71 894 103.00

Roche Option Plan – terms of options outstanding as at 31 December 2007

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted

Number Weighted average average Number average
outstanding years remaining exercise exercisable exercise

Year of grant (thousands) contractual life price (CHF) (thousands) price (CHF)

2002 75 1.19 115.19 75 115.19
2003 261 2.17 78.44 261 78.44
2004 416 3.17 129.49 416 129.49
2005 136 4.17 123.13 81 123.00
2006 124 5.17 195.17 39 195.17
2007 191 6.18 229.68 3 229.60
Total 1,203 2.64 139.50 875 115.71

Genentech Stock Option Plan: The Genentech Stock Option Plan was adopted in 1999 and amended thereafter.
In April 2004 Genentech’s shareholders approved an equity incentive plan. The plans allow for the granting of
various stock options, incentive stock options and stock purchase rights to employees, directors and consultants
of Genentech. No incentive stock options and stock purchase rights have been granted under this plan to date.
The options granted, which are non-tradable equity-settled awards, have a ten-year duration and vest on a
phased basis over four years, subject to continued employment. 

Genentech Stock Option Plan – movement in number of options outstanding 
2007 2006

Number Number
of options Weighted average of options Weighted average 
(millions) exercise price (USD) (millions) exercise price (USD)

Outstanding at 1 January 88 54.53 83 46.64
Granted 18 79.40 17 79.85
Forfeited (4) 76.45 (3) 62.09
Exercised (10) 32.76 (9) 30.42
Expired – – – –
Outstanding at 31 December 92 60.94 88 54.53
– of which exercisable 54 48.46 47 38.48
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Genentech Stock Option Plan – terms of options outstanding at 31 December 2007

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Weighted Weighted

Number Weighted average average Number average
Range of exercise prices outstanding years remaining exercise exercisable exercise
(USD) (millions) contractual life price (USD) (millions) price (USD)

6.27–8.89 0.3 4.64 7.41 0.3 7.41
10.00–14.35 8.2 3.86 13.68 8.2 13.68
15.04–22.39 6.1 3.33 20.87 6.1 20.87
22.88–33.00 0.2 3.46 26.33 0.2 26.33
35.63–53.23 26.6 5.73 47.05 23.6 46.31
53.95–75.90 1.7 7.90 64.79 0.8 59.09
78.99–98.80 49.0 8.66 81.78 14.5 83.79
Total 92.1 6.99 60.94 53.7 48.46

Chugai Stock Acquisition Rights: During 2003 Chugai adopted a Stock Acquisition Rights programme. The
programme allows for the granting of rights to employees and directors of Chugai. Each right entitles the holder
to purchase 100 Chugai shares at a specified exercise price. The options, which are non-tradable equity-settled
awards, have a ten-year duration and vest after two years. 

Chugai Stock Acquisition Rights – movement in number of rights outstanding

2007 2006
Number Weighted average Number Weighted average 

of options exercise price (JPY) of options exercise price (JPY)

Outstanding at 1 January 9,886 182,925 6,800 160,166
Granted 3,550 303,900 3,440 224,500
Forfeited – – – –
Exercised (434) 148,965 (354) 149,770
Expired – – – –
Outstanding at 31 December 13,002 217,089 9,886 182,925
– of which exercisable 6,012 161,587 3,926 158,066

Chugai Stock Acquisition Rights – terms of rights outstanding at 31 December 2007

Rights outstanding Rights exercisable
Weighted Weighted

Weighted average average average
Number years remaining exercise Number exercise

Year of grant outstanding contractual life price (JPY) exercisable price (JPY)

2003 1,312 5.50 145,400 1,312 145,400
2004 2,180 6.25 167,500 2,180 167,500
2005 2,520 7.25 164,900 2,520 164,900
2006 3,440 8.25 224,500 – 224,500
2007 3,550 9.25 303,900 – 303,900
Total 13,002 7.72 217,089 6,012 161,587

Issues of share options in 2007: Issues for share options in 2007, including the methodology used to calculate
fair value and the main inputs to the valuation models, are described below.
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Issues of share option plans in 2007

Roche Genentech Stock Chugai Stock
Option Plan Option Plan Acquisition Rights

Number of options granted 194 thousand 18 million 3,550
Underlying equity Roche non-voting Genentech common Chugai shares in

equity securities stock blocks of 100
Currency Swiss francs US dollars Japanese yen
Vesting period Progressively Progressively After 2 years

over 3 years over 4 years
Contractual life 7 years 10 years 10 years
Weighted average fair value of options issued 37.96 23.63 1,051.01
Option pricing model used Binomial Binomial Binomial
Inputs to option pricing model
– share price at grant date 229.68 79.40 289,500
– exercise price 229.68 79.40 303,900
– expected volatility 25.30% 25.1% 33.03%
– expected dividend yield 4.52% 0% 1.04%
– early exercise factor 1.705 1.482 n/a
– expected exit rate 12.82% 8.59% 0%

Volatility for Roche and Chugai options was determined primarily by reference to historically observed prices of
the underlying equity. Volatility for Genentech options was determined primarily by reference to the implied
volatility of Genentech’s traded options. Risk-free interest rates are derived from zero coupon swap rates at the
grant date taken from Datastream. The early exercise factor describes the ratio between the expected market
price at the exercise date and the exercise price at which early exercises can be expected, based on historically
observed behaviour. For the Chugai grants in 2007 it was assumed that all awards would be held for the full term
length, since there was insufficient historically observed early exercise behaviour.

Other equity compensation plans
Roche Connect: This programme enables all employees worldwide, except for those in the United States and
certain other countries, to make regular deductions from their salaries to purchase non-voting equity securities.
It is administered by independent third parties. The Group contributes to the programme, which allows the
employees to purchase non-voting equity securities at a discount (usually 20%). The administrator purchases
the necessary non-voting equity securities directly from the market. At 31 December 2007 the administrator held
1,104 thousand non-voting equity securities (2006: 911 thousand). The programme has been operational since
1 October 2002. During the year the cost of the plan was 13 million Swiss francs (2006: 11 million Swiss francs),
which was reported within the relevant expenditure line by function.

Genentech Employee Stock Purchase Program (ESPP): Genentech has an employee stock purchase
programme that allows employees to purchase Genentech’s common stock at 85% of the lower of market value
at the grant date or purchase date. In 2007 a total of 1.7 million shares of Genentech common stock were
purchased (2006: 1.9 million shares) resulting in a cash inflow of 134 million Swiss francs (2006: 121 million Swiss
francs). During the year the cost of the plan was 32 million Swiss francs (2006: 42 million Swiss francs), which
was reported within the relevant expenditure line by function.

Roche Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights: With the introduction of Roche Long-Term in 2005, the Group
offers Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights (S-SARs) to certain directors, management and employees
selected at the discretion of the Group. The S-SARs give employees the right to receive non-voting equity
securities reflecting the value of any appreciation in the market price of the non-voting equity securities between
the grant date and the exercise date. The options, which are non-tradable equity-settled awards, have a seven-
year duration and vest on a phased basis over three years, subject to continued employment. The Group covers
such obligations by purchasing non-voting equity securities, or derivatives thereon (see Note 28).
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Roche S-SARs – movement in number of rights outstanding
2007 2006

Number Number
of rights Weighted average of rights Weighted average 

(thousands) exercise price (CHF) (thousands) exercise price (CHF)

Outstanding at 1 January 5,883 156.07 3,868 123.34
Granted 3,025 229.37 2,762 195.13
Forfeited (189) 180.91 (151) 149.44
Exercised (937) 142.36 (596) 126.35
Expired – – – –
Outstanding at 31 December 7,782 185.60 5,883 156.07
– of which exercisable 2,101 149.17 900 126.49

Roche S-SARs – terms of rights outstanding at 31 December 2007

Rights outstanding Rights exercisable
Weighted Weighted

Number Weighted average average Number average
outstanding years remaining exercise exercisable exercise

Year of grant (thousands) contractual life price (CHF) (thousands) price (CHF)

2005 2,452 4.17 123.33 1,361 123.37
2006 2,356 5.17 195.16 709 195.17
2007 2,974 6.17 229.37 31 229.60
Total 7,782 5.24 185.60 2,101 149.17

The weighted average fair value of the options granted in 2007 was calculated using a binomial model. The inputs
to the model were consistent with those used for the Roche Option Plan 2007 awards given previously. The
resulting weighted average fair value per right is CHF 37.97, giving a total fair value of 115 million Swiss francs
which is charged over the vesting period of three years. 

Roche Performance Share Plan: The Group offers future non-voting equity security awards (or, at the
discretion of the Board of Directors, their cash equivalent) to certain directors and key senior managers. The
programme was established at the beginning of 2002 and was in effect for three years. During 2004 the Board
of Directors approved a new three-year cycle of the Roche Performance Share Plan (PSP) to operate during
2005–2007. The amount of non-voting equity securities allocated will depend upon the individual’s salary level,
the achievement of performance targets linked to the Group’s Total Shareholder Return (shares and non-voting
equity securities combined) relative to the Group’s peers during the three-year period from the date of the grant,
and the discretion of the Board of Directors. These are non-tradable equity-settled awards. Each award will result
in between zero and two non-voting equity securities, depending upon the achievement of the performance
targets. Additional cycles of the PSP with similar conditions were approved to operate during 2006–2008 and
2007–2009. The terms of these awards are set out in the table below. 

Roche Performance Share Plan – terms of awards
2005–2007 2006–2008 2007–2009

Number of awards (thousands) 240 55 78
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years
Allocated to recipients in Feb. 2008 Feb. 2009 Feb. 2010
Fair value per unit (CHF) 145.39 210.06 239.49
Total fair value (CHF millions) 35 12 19

The weighted average fair value of the awards granted in 2007 was calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation.
The input parameters to the model were the covariance matrix between Roche and the other individual companies
of the peer group based on a three-year history and a risk-free rate of 2.671%. The valuation also takes into
account the defined rank and performance structure which determines the payout of the PSP. 
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Roche Stock Appreciation Rights: Some employees of certain North American subsidiaries of the Group
receive Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs) as part of their compensation. The SARs, which are non-tradable cash-
settled awards, may be exercised after a vesting period of between one and three years for a cash payment, based
upon the amount by which the market price of the Group’s American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) at the point
of exercise exceeds the strike price (grant price at issuance). Following the implementation of Roche Long-Term
(see above), the Group does not plan to award any further cash-settled SARs and no awards have been made
since 2004.

Roche Stock Appreciation Rights in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Liability at 31 December 97 199
Intrinsic value of vested rights at 31 December 97 198

Roche Stock Appreciation Rights – terms of rights outstanding at 31 December 2007
Rights outstanding and exercisable

Number outstanding Weighted average
and exercisable exercise

Year of grant (thousands) Expiry price (USD)

2001 70 Jul. 2008 36.30
2002 282 Dec. 2008 34.68
2003 560 Feb. 2010 28.83
2004 1,092 Feb. 2011 52.08
Total 2,004 42.58

The fair value at 31 December 2007 was calculated using a binomial model. The inputs to the model were the ADR
price at 31 December 2007 (USD 85.40), the exercise prices given in the above table, and other inputs consistent
with those used for the Roche Option Plan 2007 awards given previously.

12. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment: movements in carrying value of assets in millions of CHF
Buildings
and land Machinery
improve- and Construction

Land ments equipment in progress Total

At 1 January 2006
Cost 1,142 9,048 12,654 2,895 25,739
Accumulated depreciation and impairment – (3,096) (7,546) – (10,642)
Net book value 1,142 5,952 5,108 2,895 15,097

Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2006 1,142 5,952 5,108 2,895 15,097
Additions 46 97 910 2,825 3,878
Disposals (14) (95) (120) (110) (339)
Divestment of Genentech España3 (4) (71) (113) (4) (192)
Transfers – 1,057 1,163 (2,220) –
Depreciation charge – (272) (1,189) – (1,461)
Impairment charge – (59) (12) – (71)
Currency translation effects (44) (220) (118) (113) (495)
At 31 December 2006 1,126 6,389 5,629 3,273 16,417

Cost 1,126 9,419 13,581 3,273 27,399
Accumulated depreciation and impairment – (3,030) (7,952) – (10,982)
Net book value 1,126 6,389 5,629 3,273 16,417
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Buildings
and land Machinery
improve- and Construction

Land ments equipment in progress Total

Year ended 31 December 2007
At 1 January 2007 1,126 6,389 5,629 3,273 16,417
Additions 22 209 983 2,434 3,648
Disposals (11) (17) (113) (21) (162)
BioVeris acquisition7 – 1 4 – 5
Tanox acquisition7 – – – 13 13
Other business combinations7 – – 12 3 15
Transfers – 1,033 1,115 (2,148) –
Depreciation charge – (332) (1,228) – (1,560)
Impairment charge – (1) (5) – (6)
Currency translation effects (45) (247) (116) (130) (538)
At 31 December 2007 1,092 7,035 6,281 3,424 17,832

Cost 1,092 10,207 14,681 3,424 29,404
Accumulated depreciation and impairment – (3,172) (8,400) – (11,572)
Net book value 1,092 7,035 6,281 3,424 17,832

Impairment charges arise from changes in the estimates of the future cash flows expected to result from the
use of the asset and its eventual disposal. Factors such as changes in the planned use of buildings, machinery
or equipment, or closure of facilities, the presence or absence of competition and technical obsolescence could
result in shortened useful lives or impairment. Impairment charges of 5 million Swiss francs (2006: 71 million
Swiss francs) are reported as part of ‘Cost of sales’.

Leasing arrangements where the Group is the lessee
Finance leases: As at 31 December 2007 the capitalised cost of property, plant and equipment under finance
leases was 188 million Swiss francs (2006: 182 million Swiss francs) and the net book value of these assets
was 66 million Swiss francs (2006: 79 million Swiss francs). 

Finance leases: future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases in millions of CHF

Future minimum lease Present value of future 
payments minimum lease payments

2007 2006 2007 2006

Within one year 6 12 6 11
Between one and five years 3 8 3 8
More than five years – – – –
Total 9 20 9 19
Future finance charges – – – 1
Total future minimum lease payments 
(undiscounted) 9 20 9 20

In addition to the above, Genentech leasing arrangements are disclosed in Note 3.

Operating leases: Group companies are party to a number of operating leases, mainly for plant and machinery,
including motor vehicles, and for certain short-term property rentals. The arrangements do not impose any
significant restrictions on the Group. Total operating lease rental expense was 402 million Swiss francs (2006:
371 million Swiss francs).
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Operating leases: future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Within one year 224 190
Between one and five years 404 310
More than five years 196 227
Total minimum payments 824 727

Leasing arrangements where the Group is the lessor
Finance leases: Certain assets, mainly diagnostics instruments, are leased to third parties through finance lease
arrangements. Such assets are reported as receivables at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.
Lease income from finance leases is recognised over the term of the lease based on the effective interest rate
method.

Finance leases: future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases in millions of CHF

Present value of future
Gross investment in lease minimum lease payments

2007 2006 2007 2006

Within one year 27 39 23 32
Between one and five years 44 53 37 45
More than five years 2 1 2 1
Total 73 93 62 78

Unearned finance income (6) (7) n/a n/a
Unguaranteed residual value n/a n/a 5 8
Net investment in lease 67 86 67 86

The accumulated allowance for uncollectible minimum lease payments was 1.0 million Swiss francs (2006:
0.4 million Swiss francs). There were no contingent rents recognised in income.

Operating leases: Certain assets, mainly some diagnostics instruments, are leased to third parties through
operating lease arrangements. Such assets are reported within property, plant and equipment. Lease income
from operating leases is recognised over the lease term on a straight line basis.

Operating leases: future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Within one year 72 59
Between one and five years 150 123
More than five years – –
Total minimum payments 222 182

At 31 December 2007, machinery and equipment with an original cost of 2,422 million Swiss francs (2006: 2,192 mil-
lion Swiss francs) and a net book value of 973 million Swiss francs (2006: 832 million Swiss francs) was being
leased to third parties. There was no contingent rent recognised as income. 

Capital commitments
The Group has non-cancellable capital commitments for the purchase or construction of property, plant and
equipment totalling 2.3 billion Swiss francs (2006: 0.6 billion Swiss francs). In addition, Genentech’s capital
commitments in respect of its manufacturing agreements with Lonza and its leasing arrangements are described
in Note 3.



13. Goodwill

Goodwill: movements in carrying value of assets in millions of CHF
2007 2006

At 1 January 5,914 6,132
BioVeris acquisition7 540 –
Tanox acquisition7 352 –
Other business combinations7 336 –
Impairment charge – –
Currency translation effects (307) (218)
At 31 December 6,835 5,914

Allocated to the following cash-generating units
Pharmaceuticals Division
– Roche Pharmaceuticals 128 75
– Genentech 1,880 1,681
– Chugai 110 113
Total Pharmaceuticals Division 2,118 1,869

Diagnostics Division
– Diabetes Care 770 768
– Professional Diagnostics 1,879 1,478
– Molecular Diagnostics – –
– Applied Science 263 –
– Corange/Boehringer Mannheim 

(held at divisional level and not allocated to business areas) 1,805 1,799
Total Diagnostics Division 4,717 4,045

Total Group 6,835 5,914

There are no accumulated impairment losses in goodwill. The goodwill arising from investments in associated
companies is classified as part of the investments in associated companies (see Note 15).

Goodwill impairment testing
Pharmaceuticals Division: The division’s reportable operating segments are the cash-generating units used for
the testing of goodwill. For Genentech and Chugai, the recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs to
sell, determined with reference to the publicly quoted share prices of Genentech and Chugai shares. The goodwill
in Roche Pharmaceuticals is not significant in comparison with the Group’s total carrying amount of goodwill.

Diagnostics Division: The division’s business areas are the cash-generating units used for the testing of
goodwill. The goodwill arising from the Corange/Boehringer Mannheim acquisition is recorded and monitored
at a divisional level as it cannot be meaningfully allocated to the division’s business areas. Therefore the cash-
generating unit for this goodwill is the entire division. The recoverable amount used in the impairment testing is
based on value in use. The cash flow projections used are based on the most recent business plans approved by
management. These assume no significant changes in the organisation of the division and include management’s
latest estimates on sales volume and pricing, and production and other operating costs. These reflect past
experience and are projected over five years. The discount rate used is based on a rate of 8.9%, which is derived
from a capital asset pricing model using data from Swiss capital markets, including Swiss Federal Government
ten-year bonds and the Swiss Market Index. This is then adjusted to a pre-tax rate of 13.6%. Management believes
that any reasonably possible change in any of the key assumptions would not cause the carrying value of goodwill
to exceed the recoverable amount.
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14. Intangible assets

Intangible assets: movements in carrying value of assets in millions of CHF
Product

Product intangibles
intangibles Not available Technology

In use for use intangibles Total

At 1 January 2006
Cost 14,877 294 761 15,932
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (9,145) – (531) (9,676)
Net book value 5,732 294 230 6,256

Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2006 5,732 294 230 6,256
Additions 53 540 – 593
Disposals (1) – – (1)
Amortisation charge (941) – (36) (977)
Impairment charge (118) (13) (66) (197)
Currency translation effects (149) (43) (13) (205)
At 31 December 2006 4,576 778 115 5,469

Cost 13,646 778 709 15,133
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (9,070) – (594) (9,664)
Net book value 4,576 778 115 5,469

Year ended 31 December 2007
At 1 January 2007 4,576 778 115 5,469
BioVeris acquisition7 117 – – 117
Tanox acquisition7 613 93 – 706
Other business combinations7 223 10 34 267
Additions 255 743 51 1,049
Disposals (1) – – (1)
Amortisation charge (942) – (34) (976)
Impairment charge – (58) – (58)
Currency translation effects (173) (52) (2) (227)
At 31 December 2007 4,668 1,514 164 6,346

Cost 14,251 1,514 772 16,537
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (9,583) – (608) (10,191)
Net book value 4,668 1,514 164 6,346

Allocation by operating segment 
– Roche Pharmaceuticals 326 1,085 52 1,463
– Genentech 955 408 35 1,398
– Chugai 440 8 – 448
– Diagnostics 2,947 13 77 3,037
Total Group 4,668 1,514 164 6,346
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Significant intangible assets as at 31 December 2007 in millions of CHF

Operating Net book Remaining
segment value amortisation period

Product intangibles in use
Tanox acquisition Genentech 553 12 years
Chugai acquisition Chugai 436 5–13 years
Corange/Boehringer Mannheim acquisition Diagnostics 1,590 10 years
Igen acquisition Diagnostics 469 9 years

Product intangibles not available for use
Alnylam alliance Roche Pharmaceuticals 324 n/a

Classification of amortisation and impairment expenses in millions of CHF

2007 2006
Amortisation Impairment Amortisation Impairment

Cost of sales
– Pharmaceuticals 614 – 619 –
– Diagnostics 328 – 322 118
Research and development
– Pharmaceuticals 31 58 27 13
– Diagnostics 3 – 9 66
Total 976 58 977 197

Internally generated intangible assets
The Group currently has no internally generated intangible assets from development as the criteria for the
recognition as an asset are not met. 

Impairment of intangible assets
Impairment charges arise from changes in the estimates of the future cash flows expected to result from the
use of the asset and its eventual disposal. Factors such as the presence or absence of competition, technical
obsolescence or lower than anticipated sales for products with capitalised rights could result in shortened useful
lives or impairment.

2007: In the Genentech operating segment an impairment charge of 42 million Swiss francs was recorded in the
second half of 2007, which relates to a decision to terminate development of compounds with two alliance partners.
In the Roche Pharmaceuticals operating segment an impairment charge of 16 million Swiss francs was recorded
in the first half of 2007, which relates to a decision to terminate development of one compound with an alliance
partner. The assets concerned, which were not yet being amortised, were fully written-down by these charges.

2006: In the second half of 2006 the Group recorded impairment charges of 184 million Swiss francs relating to
intangible assets in the Diagnostics Division. These followed the regular updating of the division’s business plans
and technology assessments in the second half of 2006, which indicated anticipated recoverable amounts that
were below the current carrying values for certain assets. These mainly concern certain of the intangible assets
recorded following the Disetronic acquisition in 2003. These assets were written down to their recoverable
amount, based on a value in use calculation using a discount rate of 10.0%. Additionally the remaining useful life
of these assets was reassessed and has been reduced from 6.3 years to 3 years, effective 31 December 2006.
Consequent to these matters, the 2007 amortisation charge for intangible assets in the Diagnostics Division was
approximately 20 million Swiss francs lower than it would otherwise have been. In the Roche Pharmaceuticals
operating segment an impairment charge of 13 million Swiss francs was recorded in the second half of 2006,
which relates to a decision to terminate development of one compound with an alliance partner. The asset
concerned, which was not yet being amortised, was fully written-down by this charge.

Intangible assets that are not yet available for use mostly represent in-process research and development assets
in the Pharmaceuticals Division acquired either through in-licensing arrangements, business combinations or
separate purchases. As at 31 December 2007 the carrying value of such assets in the Pharmaceuticals Division
is 1,501 million Swiss francs. Of this amount approximately 40% represents projects that have potential decision
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points within the next twelve months which in certain circumstances could lead to impairment. Due to the
inherent uncertainties in the research and development process, such assets are particularly at risk of impairment
if the project in question does not result in a commercialised product.

Potential commitments from alliance collaborations
The Group is party to in-licensing and similar arrangements with its alliance partners. These arrangements may
require the Group to make certain milestone or other similar payments dependent upon the achievement of
agreed objectives or performance targets as defined in the collaboration agreements. 

The Group’s current estimate of future third-party commitments for such payments is set out in the table below.
These figures are not risk adjusted, meaning that they include all such potential payments that can arise assuming
all projects currently in development are successful. The timing is based on the Group’s current best estimate.
These figures do not include any potential commitments within the Group, such as may arise between the Roche
Pharmaceuticals, Genentech and Chugai businesses. 

Potential future third-party collaboration payments in millions of CHF
Pharmaceuticals Diagnostics Group

Within one year 234 14 248
Between one and two years 112 16 128
Between two and three years 214 14 228
Total 560 44 604

15. Associated companies 

The Group’s investments in associated companies are accounted for using the equity method. The goodwill arising
from investments in associated companies is classified as part of the investments in associated companies.

Investments in associated companies in millions of CHF

Share of net income Balance sheet value
2007 2006 2007 2006

Total investments in associated companies 2 2 9 7

The Group has no significant investments in associated companies and there were no material transactions
between the Group and its associated companies. Additional information about associated companies is given
in Note 35.

16. Financial and other long-term assets 

Financial and other long-term assets in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Available-for-sale investments 836 803
Held-to-maturity investments 19 25
Loans receivable 19 25
Long-term trade receivables 190 108
Restricted cash 226 1,191
Other 43 51
Total financial long-term assets 1,333 2,203

Prepaid employee benefits 183 197
Other 344 430
Total other long-term assets 527 627

Financial long-term assets are held for strategic purposes and are classified as non-current. The available-for-
sale investments are mainly equity investments. Unquoted equity investments classified as available-for-sale are
generally measured at cost, as their fair value cannot be measured reliably. These are primarily investments
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in private biotechnology companies, which are kept as part of the Group’s strategic alliance efforts. The carrying
value of equity investments held at cost is 26 million Swiss francs (2006: 27 million Swiss francs). The average
effective interest rate of held-to-maturity investments is 4.4% (2006: 4.7%). Loans receivable comprise all loans
to third parties with a term of over one year. Restricted cash in 2006 includes 963 million Swiss francs of the surety
bond posted by Genentech in connection with the City of Hope litigation (see Note 25). The equivalent amount
in 2007 was classified as other current assets (see Note 19).

17. Inventories

Inventories in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Raw materials and supplies 603 551
Work in process 1,168 1,056
Finished goods and intermediates 4,590 4,141
Less: provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventory (248) (156)
Total inventories 6,113 5,592

In 2007 expenses relating to inventories expensed through cost of sales totalled 8,737 million Swiss francs
(2006: 8,318 million Swiss francs).

18. Accounts receivable 

Accounts receivable in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Trade accounts receivable 9,834 8,993
Notes receivable 190 157
Less: allowances (220) (190)
Total accounts receivable 9,804 8,960

At 31 December 2007 accounts receivable include amounts denominated in US dollars equivalent to 3.8 billion
Swiss francs (2006: 2.8 billion Swiss francs) and amounts denominated in euros equivalent to 3.8 billion Swiss
francs (2006: 3.5 billion Swiss francs).

Net bad debt expense in 2007 was 26 million Swiss francs. Following the recovery of previously provided amounts,
the Group recorded net income from bad debts of 3 million Swiss francs in 2006. Significant concentrations within
trade receivables of counterparty credit risk are described in Note 32. 

19. Other current assets

Other current assets in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Accrued interest income 37 36
Derivative financial instruments24 70 80
Restricted cash 889 –
Other 593 665
Total financial current assets 1,589 781

Prepaid expenses 355 343
Other 508 630
Total non-financial current assets 863 973

Total other current assets 2,452 1,754

Restricted cash in 2007 includes 889 million Swiss francs of the surety bond posted by Genentech in connection
with the City of Hope litigation (see Note 25). The equivalent amount in 2006 was classified within financial long-
term assets (see Note 16).
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20. Marketable securities

Marketable securities in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Financial assets at fair-value-through-profit-or-loss
Held-for-trading investments
– bonds and debentures 1,129 783
Designated as fair-value-through-profit-or-loss
– bonds and debentures 78 82
– money market instruments and time accounts over three months 167 161
– other investments 178 62
Total financial assets at fair-value-through-profit-or-loss 1,552 1,088

Available-for-sale financial assets
– shares 292 876
– bonds and debentures 7,624 6,533
– money market instruments and time accounts over three months 10,965 12,624
– other investments 14 –
Total available-for-sale financial assets 18,895 20,033

Total marketable securities 20,447 21,121

Marketable securities are held for fund management purposes and are classified as current. They are primarily
denominated in Swiss francs, euros and US dollars. Other investments held for strategic purposes are classified
as non-current (see Note 16).

Shares: These consist primarily of readily saleable equity securities.

Bonds and debentures: The carrying amounts, contract maturity and average effective interest rate of debt
securities is shown below.

Bonds and debentures in millions of CHF

2007 2006
Average effective Average effective

Contracted maturity Amount interest rate Amount interest rate

Within one year 2,367 5.05% 2,087 4.32%
Between one and five years 5,690 4.89% 4,552 4.55%
More than five years 774 5.40% 759 4.33%
Total bonds and debentures 8,831 4.98% 7,398 4.46%

Money market instruments: These generally have fixed interest rates ranging from 0.72% to 6.13% (2006:
0.34% to 5.56%) depending upon the currency in which they are denominated. They are contracted to mature
within one year of 31 December 2007. 

21. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Cash
– cash in hand and in current or call accounts 2,792 1,662
Cash equivalents
– time accounts with a maturity of three months or less 963 1,548
Total cash and cash equivalents 3,755 3,210

Restricted cash is included within financial and other long-term assets (see Note 16) or other current assets
(see Note 19).

78 Finance Report 2007

Roche Group
Notes to the Roche Group Consolidated Financial Statements



22. Accounts payable

Accounts payable in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Trade accounts payable 1,188 1,399
Other taxes payable 406 442
Other accounts payable 267 372
Total accounts payable 1,861 2,213

23. Accrued and other current liabilities

Accrued and other current liabilities in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Deferred income 231 144
Accrued payroll and related items 1,566 1,487
Interest payable 104 118
Derivative financial instruments24 80 62
Other accrued liabilities 3,848 3,834
Total accrued and other current liabilities 5,829 5,645

24. Derivative financial instruments

In appropriate circumstances the Group uses derivative financial instruments as part of its risk management
and trading strategies. This is discussed in Note 32. Derivative financial instruments are carried at fair value.
The methods used for determining fair value are described in Note 1.

Derivative financial instruments in millions of CHF

Assets Liabilities
2007 2006 2007 2006

Foreign currency derivatives
– forward exchange contracts and swaps 29 9 (71) (42)
– other 4 2 (4) (5)
Interest rate derivatives
– swaps 7 1 – (13)
– other – – (1) (1)
Other derivatives 30 68 (4) (1)
Total derivative financial instruments19, 23 70 80 (80) (62)

Hedge accounting
The Group’s accounting policy on hedge accounting, which is described in Note 1, requires that to qualify for
hedge accounting the hedging relationship must meet several strict conditions on documentation, probability
of occurrence, hedge effectiveness and reliability of measurement.

As described in Note 32, the Group has financial risk management policies for foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. When deemed appropriate, certain of the above risks are managed
through the use of derivatives. While many of these transactions can be considered as hedges in economic terms,
if the required conditions are not met, then the relationship does not qualify for hedge accounting. In this case
the hedging instrument and the hedged item are reported independently as if there were no hedging relationship,
which means that any derivatives are reported at fair value, with changes in fair value included in financial
income.
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The Group generally limits the use of hedge accounting to certain significant transactions. Consequently as at
31 December 2007 the Group has no fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or hedges of net investment in a foreign
entity that meet the strict requirements to qualify for hedge accounting, apart from those described below.

Genentech has hedged some of its fixed-term debt instruments with interest rate swaps. As at 31 December 2007
such instruments, which have been designated and qualify as fair value hedges, are recorded in the balance sheet
as an asset with a fair value of 7 million Swiss francs (2006: liability of 13 million Swiss francs).

Genentech has non-US dollar cash flows from future royalty income and development expenses expected over
the next one to five years. To hedge part of this foreign exchange risk Genentech enters into derivative financial
instruments such as options and forward contracts. Genentech has equity investments in various biotechnology
companies that are subject to a greater risk of market fluctuation than the stock market in general. To manage
part of this exposure Genentech enters into derivative financial instruments such as zero cost collars and forward
contracts. As at 31 December 2007 such instruments, which are designated and qualify for hedge accounting, are
recorded as assets with a fair value of 27 million Swiss francs (2006: assets of 64 million Swiss francs and liabilities
of 4 million Swiss francs). These matters are also described in Genentech’s annual report and quarterly SEC
filings.

Movements on the fair value reserve for designated cash flow hedges are included in Note 28.

25. Provisions and contingent liabilities 

Provisions: movements in recognised liabilities in millions of CHF

Legal Environmental Restructuring Other
provisions provisions provisions provisions Total

Year ended 31 December 2006
At 1 January 2006 1,366 212 278 524 2,380
Additional provisions created 24 11 54 588 677
Unused amounts reversed (4) (25) (62) (95) (186)
Utilised during the year (35) (9) (98) (331) (473)
Unwinding of discount5 62 4 2 6 74
Currency translation effects (93) (7) – (23) (123)
At 31 December 2006 1,320 186 174 669 2,349

Of which
– current portion 377 11 79 289 756
– non-current portion 943 175 95 380 1,593
Total provisions 1,320 186 174 669 2,349

Year ended 31 December 2007
At 1 January 2007 1,320 186 174 669 2,349
Additional provisions created 57 36 132 530 755
Unused amounts reversed (92) (1) (28) (40) (161)
Utilised during the year (288) (11) (82) (315) (696)
Unwinding of discount5 60 3 – 6 69
Currency translation effects (72) (10) (3) (26) (111)
At 31 December 2007 985 203 193 824 2,205

Of which
– current portion 962 30 116 409 1,517
– non-current portion 23 173 77 415 688
Total provisions 985 203 193 824 2,205
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Legal Environmental Restructuring Other
provisions provisions provisions provisions Total

Expected outflow of resources
– within one year 962 30 116 409 1,517
– between one to two years 5 20 27 132 184
– between two to three years 2 15 18 38 73
– more than three years 16 138 32 245 431
Total provisions 985 203 193 824 2,205

Legal provisions
Legal provisions relate mainly to a number of major legal cases that are described below. The amounts, timing
and uncertainties of any outflows are discussed below, as are the discount rates used. The remaining legal
provisions, which account for less than 15% of the balance, consist of a number of other separate legal matters
in various Group companies. The majority of any cash outflows for these other matters are expected to occur
within the next one to three years, although these are dependent on the development of the various litigations.
These provisions are not discounted as the time value of money is not material in these matters. 

Environmental provisions
Provisions for environmental matters include various separate environmental issues in a number of countries.
By their nature the amounts and timing of any outflows are difficult to predict. The estimated timings of these
cash outflows are shown in the table above. Significant provisions are discounted by between 6% and 7% where
the time value of money is material.

Restructuring provisions
These arise from planned programmes that materially change the scope of business undertaken by the Group
or the manner in which business is conducted. Such provisions include only the costs necessarily entailed by
the restructuring which are not associated with the recurring activities of the Group. The timings of these cash
outflows are reasonably certain on a global basis and are shown in the table above. Significant provisions are
discounted by 3% where the time value of money is material.

Other provisions
Other provisions consist mostly of claims arising from trade, sales returns, certain employee benefit obligations
and various other provisions from Group companies that do not fit into the above categories. The timings of cash
outflows are by their nature uncertain and the best estimates are shown in the table above. Significant provisions
are discounted by between 4% and 6% where the time value of money is material.

Contingent liabilities
The operations and earnings of the Group continue, from time to time and in varying degrees, to be affected
by political, legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments, including those relating to environmental protection,
in the countries in which it operates. The industries in which the Group operates are also subject to other risks
of various kinds. The nature and frequency of these developments and events, not all of which are covered
by insurance, as well as their effect on future operations and earnings, are not predictable. 

The Group has entered into strategic alliances with various companies in order to gain access to potential new
products or to utilise other companies to help develop the Group’s own potential new products. Potential future
payments may become due to certain collaboration partners achieving certain milestones as defined in the
collaboration agreements. The Group’s best estimates of future commitments for such payments are given in
Note 14. 

81Finance Report 2007

Roche Group
Notes to the Roche Group Consolidated Financial Statements 



Roche Pharmaceuticals legal cases 
Roche Diagnostics GmbH (‘RDG’) and SmithKline Beecham (Cork) Ltd (‘SB’) were party to arbitration concerning
RDG’s termination in 1998 of the Carvedilol License Agreement of 1987, as amended in 1995, relating to the
licensing and co-marketing of carvedilol. RDG had submitted two claims for damages to two Arbitration Tribunals
in Zurich and SB had submitted a counterclaim asserting the invalidity of RDG’s termination and claiming
damages. Based on the development of the arbitration and settlement negotiations at the time, the Group
increased its existing provisions by 210 million Swiss francs in 2005. On 20 February 2007 the Group announced
that a settlement agreement had been reached with GlaxoSmithKline (‘GSK’) to settle all arbitration procedures
between the two companies relating to the licensing and co-marketing of carvedilol. As part of this agreement
the Group made a payment to GSK. The settlement had no impact on the Group’s net income as the payment
was covered by previously recorded provisions and there were no surplus provisions released as income.

Genentech legal cases
On 10 June 2002 Genentech announced that a Los Angeles County Superior Court jury voted to award City of
Hope Medical Center (‘City of Hope’) approximately 300 million US dollars in compensatory damages based on a
finding of a breach of a 1976 agreement between Genentech and the City of Hope. On 24 June 2002 the jury voted
to award City of Hope 200 million US dollars in punitive damages in the same case. On 13 September 2002
Genentech filed a notice of appeal of the jury verdict and damages awards with the California Court of Appeal.
On 21 October 2004 the Court of Appeal affirmed the verdict and damages awards in all respects. Also, on
21 October 2004 Genentech announced that it would seek review by the California Supreme Court, which has
discretion over which cases it will review. On 24 November 2004 Genentech filed its petition for review by the
California Supreme Court and on 2 February 2005 the California Supreme Court granted this petition. The appeal
to the California Supreme Court has been fully briefed and the hearing has been set for 5 February 2008. The
amount of cash paid, if any, or the timing of such payment will depend on the decision of the California Supreme
Court, which is expected to be issued within ninety days of the hearing. A full provision, totalling 875 million Swiss
francs, has been recorded for these awards, which is reported as a current liability as resolution is expected within
one year. During the appeals process interest accrues on the total amount of the damages at a simple annual rate
of 10%. During 2007 interest of 60 million Swiss francs (2006: 63 million Swiss francs) was recorded as the time
cost of provisions within interest expenses. 

On 3 October 2002 Genentech entered into an arrangement with third-party insurance companies to post a surety
bond in connection with this judgment. As part of this arrangement Genentech has pledged 788 million US dollars
in cash and investments to secure this bond. This amount, which is equivalent to 889 million Swiss francs at
31 December 2007, is recorded as restricted cash within other current assets (see Note 19).

On 4 October 2004 Genentech received a subpoena from the United States Department of Justice, requesting
documents related to the promotion of Rituxan. Genentech is co-operating with the associated investigation,
which, Genentech has been advised, is both civil and criminal in nature. The government has called, and may
continue to call, former and current Genentech employees to appear before a grand jury in connection with this
investigation. The outcome of this matter cannot be determined at this time.

On 11 April 2003 MedImmune, Inc. (‘MedImmune’) filed a lawsuit against Genentech, the City of Hope National
Medical Center, and Celltech R&D Ltd., in the US District Court for the Central District of California, Los Angeles.
The lawsuit relates to US Patent No. 6,331,415 (‘the Cabilly patent’) that is co-owned by Genentech and the City
of Hope National Medical Center and under which MedImmune and other companies have been licensed and
are paying royalties. The lawsuit includes claims for violation of antitrust, patent and unfair competition laws.
On 14 January 2004 the US District Court granted summary judgement against all of MedImmune’s antitrust and
unfair competition claims. On 23 April 2004 the District Court granted a motion to dismiss all remaining claims
in this case. On 18 October 2005 the US Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit affirmed the judgement of the
District Court in all respects. On 9 January 2007 the US Supreme Court issued a decision reversing the Federal
Circuit’s decision and remanding the case to the lower courts for further proceedings in connection with the
patent and contract claims. On 16 August 2007 the US District Court entered a Claim Construction Order defining
several terms used in the Cabilly patent. Discovery and motion practice are ongoing and the trial of this matter
has been scheduled for 23 June 2008. No provisions have been recorded in respect of this litigation as the
outcome of this matter cannot be determined at this time.
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On 13 May 2005 a request was filed by a third party for re-examination of the Cabilly patent. On 7 July 2005 the
US Patent and Trademark Office ordered a re-examination of this patent. On 13 September 2005 the Patent Office
issued an initial non-final Office action rejecting the claims of the patent. Genentech filed a response on
25 November 2005. A second re-examination request for this same patent was filed on 23 December 2005 by
another third party and on 23 January 2006 the Patent Office granted that re-examination request. On 6 June 2006
the two re-examinations were combined by the Patent Office into a single re-examination. On 16 August 2006 the
Patent Office issued a non-final Office action in the merged proceeding, rejecting the claims of the Cabilly patent
based on the issues raised in the two re-examination requests. Genentech filed its response on 30 October 2006.
On 16 February 2007 the Patent Office mailed a final Office action rejecting all thirty six claims of the Cabilly
patent. On 21 May 2007 Genentech responded to the final Office action and petitioned for continued
re-examination. On 31 May 2007 the Patent Office granted Genentech’s petition, withdrew the finality of the
February 2007 Office action and agreed to treat Genentech’s 21 May 2007 filing as a response to a first Office
action. The Cabilly patent, which expires in 2018, relates to methods used by Genentech and others to make
certain antibodies or antibody fragments, as well as cells and DNA used in these methods. Genentech has
licensed the Cabilly patent to other companies and derives significant royalties from these licences. The claims
of the Cabilly patent remain valid and enforceable throughout the re-examination process. No provisions have
been recorded in respect of this litigation as the outcome of this matter cannot be determined at this time.

On 29 July 2005 a former Genentech employee, whose employment ended in April 2005, filed a non-public (Qui
Tam) complaint under seal in the United States District Court for the District of Maine against Genentech and
Biogen Idec, alleging violations of the False Claims Act and retaliatory discharge of employment. On 20 December
2005 the United States filed notice of its election to decline intervention in the lawsuit. The complaint was
subsequently unsealed and Genentech was served on 5 January 2006. Genentech filed a motion to dismiss the
complaint and on 14 December 2006 the Magistrate Judge issued a Recommended Decision on this motion,
which is subject to review by the District Court Judge. The Magistrate Judge recommended that the False Claims
Act portion of the complaint be dismissed, leaving as the only remaining claim against Genentech the plaintiff’s
retaliatory discharge claim. The plaintiff, Genentech and Biogen Idec each subsequently filed objections with the
District Court Judge concerning certain aspects of the Magistrate Judge’s Recommended Decision. On 24 July
2007 the District Court Judge affirmed the dismissal of both claims related to the False Claims Act but denied
Genentech’s motion to dismiss the plaintiff’s federal retaliatory discharge claim and granted the plaintiff’s motion
for leave to file a Second Amended Complaint asserting an additional state law employment claim. No provisions
have been recorded in respect of this litigation as the outcome of this matter cannot be determined at this time.

On 24 March 2004 Mr Kourosh Dastgheib filed a lawsuit against Genentech in the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Pennsylvania. The lawsuit relates to Dastgheib’s claim that, based on a relationship with
Genentech in the mid-1990s, he is entitled to profits or proceeds from Genentech’s Lucentis product. On
8 November 2006 a unanimous jury ruled against Dastgheib and in favour of Genentech on all claims and final
judgement was entered in Genentech’s favour. On 30 January 2007 Dastgheib’s motion for a new trial was denied
in its entirety. Dastgheib did not appeal the judgement to the Court of Appeals and accordingly the case is closed. 

Genentech’s annual report and quarterly SEC filings contain the detailed disclosures of litigation matters that are
required by US GAAP. These include further details on the above matters as well as including information on other
litigation that is not currently as significant as the matters referred to above.
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26. Other non-current liabilities 

Other non-current liabilities in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Deferred income 243 163
Other long-term liabilities 480 422
Total other non-current liabilities 723 585

27. Debt 

Debt: recognised liabilities in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Debt instruments 6,294 7,378
Amounts due to banks and other financial institutions 130 493
Genentech leasing obligations3 305 219
Finance lease obligations12 9 19
Other borrowings 128 134
Total debt 6,866 8,243

Reported as
– Long-term debt 3,834 6,199
– Short-term debt 3,032 2,044
Total debt 6,866 8,243

Debt: repayment terms in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Within one year 3,032 2,044
Between one and two years 584 2,207
Between two and three years 576 624
Between three and four years 25 600
Between four and five years 3 23
More than five years 2,646 2,745
Total debt 6,866 8,243

The fair value of the debt instruments is 6.2 billion Swiss francs (2006: 7.7 billion Swiss francs) and the fair value
of total debt is 6.8 billion Swiss francs (2006: 8.6 billion Swiss francs). This is calculated based on the observable
market prices of the debt instruments or the present value of the future cash flows on the instrument, discounted
at a market rate of interest for instruments with similar credit status, cash flows and maturity periods.

There are no pledges on the Group’s assets in connection with debt.

Amounts due to banks and other financial institutions
These amounts are denominated in various currencies, notably in euros, and the average interest rate was 5.8%.
The average interest rate in 2006 was 6.1%, when the balance was primarily denominated in Canadian dollars,
Swiss francs, South African rand and Brazilian real. Repayment dates are up to five years and 105 million Swiss
francs (2006: 442 million Swiss francs) are due within one year.
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Debt instruments
Recognised liabilities and effective interest rates of debt instruments in millions of CHF

Effective 
interest rate 2007 2006

European Medium Term Note programme
4% bonds due 9 October 2008, principal 750 million euros 4.16% 1,240 1,204
5.375% bonds due 29 August 2023, principal 250 million pounds sterling 5.46% 553 590
3.25% fully redeemed on 2 October 2007, principal 750 million US dollars 3.28% – 916

Swiss franc bonds
‘Rodeo’ 1.75% due 20 March 2008, principal 1 billion Swiss francs 3.00% 998 992

US dollar bonds
‘Chameleon’ 6.75% due 6 July 2009, principal 487 million US dollars 6.77% 568 618

Zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes
‘LYONs V’ fully redeemed on 25 July 2007 (principal 2006: 869 million US dollars) 4.14% – 627

Genentech Senior Notes
4.40% Senior Notes due 15 July 2010, principal 500 million US dollars 4.53% 569 596
4.75% Senior Notes due 15 July 2015, principal 1 billion US dollars 4.87% 1,127 1,222
5.25% Senior Notes due 15 July 2035, principal 500 million US dollars 5.39% 564 611

Genentech commercial paper
Notes due at various dates until 22 January 2008, principal 600 million US dollars 4.46% 675 –

Japanese yen convertible bonds issued by Chugai
‘Series 6 Chugai Pharmaceutical Unsecured Convertible Bonds’ 1.05%
due 30 September 2008, principal amount of 42 million Japanese yen 
(2006: 151 billion Japanese yen) 1.05% – 2

Total debt instruments 6,294 7,378

Unamortised discount included in carrying value of debt instruments in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Sterling bonds 8 9
Zero coupon US dollar exchangeable notes – 434
Total unamortised discount 8 443

Fair Value Option
In 2005 the Group applied the Fair Value Option on three of its outstanding debt instruments on which the Group
had been applying fair value hedge accounting in the past. These debt instruments are the ‘European Medium
Term Note programme’ Euro bonds, the ‘Chameleon’ US dollar bonds and the ‘Rodeo’ Swiss franc bonds. The
Fair Value Option treatment is based on the elimination of an accounting mismatch which had been recognised
between the hedging swaps (reported at fair value) and the hedged bonds (reported at amortised cost). The
difference between the carrying value and the principal amount for these debt instruments totals 12 million
Swiss francs (2006: 14 million Swiss francs).
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Issuance of new debt instruments – 2007
Genentech commercial paper program: In October 2007 Genentech established a commercial paper program
under which it can issue up to 1 billion US dollars of unsecured commercial paper notes. Maturities under
the program generally vary from overnight to five weeks and cannot exceed 397 days. As at 31 December 2007
unsecured commercial paper notes with a principal amount of 600 million US dollars and an interest rate of 4.46%
were outstanding. The cash proceeds on issue were equivalent to 719 million Swiss francs. Genentech intends
to use the proceeds for general corporate purposes.

Repayments, redemptions and conversions of debt instruments – 2007
Conversion and redemption of ‘LYONs V’ US dollar exchangeable notes: On 22 June 2007 the Group
announced that it would exercise its option to call these notes for redemption on 25 July 2007 at the original issue
amount plus accrued original issue discount (‘OID’). In the period to 24 July 2007 notes with a principal amount
of 848 million US dollars were converted into 4.5 million non-voting equity securities and the remaining notes
were redeemed for cash on 25 July 2007. A total of 324 million Swiss francs were recorded to equity, which
consists of the 1,008 million Swiss francs of cash used to purchase the non-voting equity securities used in the
conversion and redemption, less the 622 million Swiss francs carrying value of the converted bonds and the
related tax effects of 62 million Swiss francs. There was no gain or loss recorded in the income statement upon
the conversion and redemption.

Redemption of European Medium Term Note programme US dollar bonds: On the due date of 2 October
2007 the Group redeemed these bonds with a principal value of 750 million US dollars at the original issue amount
plus accrued original issue discount (‘OID’). The cash outflow was 900 million Swiss francs. There was no gain or
loss recorded in the income statement upon the redemption.

Partial conversion of ‘Series 6 Chugai Pharmaceutical Unsecured Convertible Bonds’: During 2007 bonds
with a face value of 0.1 billion Japanese yen (1 million Swiss francs) were converted to shares of Chugai. The
Group’s percentage ownership of Chugai was unaffected by this conversion, as the Group has bonds convertible
into Chugai shares that mirror those that Chugai has outstanding with third parties. There was no gain or loss
recorded in the income statement upon the partial conversion.

Repayments, redemptions and conversions of debt instruments – 2006
Partial conversion of ‘LYONs V’ US dollar exchangeable notes: During 2006 notes with a carrying value of
680 million US dollars (853 million Swiss francs) were converted into 6.3 million non-voting equity securities. The
notes called for conversion during 2006 represented 58% of the number of notes outstanding at the start of the
year. A total of 354 million Swiss francs were recorded to equity, which consisted of the 1,264 million Swiss francs
of cash used to purchase the non-voting equity securities used in the conversion, less the 853 million Swiss francs
carrying value of the converted bonds and the related tax effects of 57 million Swiss francs. There was no gain
or loss recorded in the income statement upon the partial conversion.

Partial conversion of ‘Series 6 Chugai Pharmaceutical Unsecured Convertible Bonds’: During 2006 bonds
with a face value of 0.3 billion Japanese yen (3 million Swiss francs) were converted to shares of Chugai. The
Group’s percentage ownership of Chugai was unaffected by this conversion, as the Group has bonds convertible
into Chugai shares that mirror those that Chugai has outstanding with third parties. There was no gain or loss
recorded in the income statement upon the partial conversion.

Cash outflows from repayments, redemptions and conversions of debt instruments in millions of CHF
2007 2006

‘LYONs V’ US dollar exchangeable notes (1,008) (1,264)
European Medium Term Note programme US dollar bonds (900) –
Total cash outflows from repayments and redemptions during the year (1,908) (1,264)
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Terms of outstanding convertible debt instruments
‘Series 6 Chugai Pharmaceutical Unsecured Convertible Bonds’: Each bond of JPY 1,000,000 par value
is convertible into 1,311 shares of Chugai. Conversion is at the option of the bondholder and may be made at any
time up to 29 September 2008. The bonds will be redeemable at maturity on 30 September 2008 at the issue price.
If the bonds outstanding at 31 December 2007 were all converted it would require 55 thousand Chugai shares
to meet the obligation. The Group’s percentage ownership in Chugai would not be affected by any conversion,
as the Group has bonds convertible into Chugai shares that mirror those that Chugai has outstanding with third
parties. 

28. Equity attributable to Roche shareholders

Changes in equity attributable to Roche shareholders in millions of CHF

Share Own equity Retained Fair value Hedging Translation
Year ended 31 December 2006 capital instruments earnings reserve reserve reserve Total

At 1 January 2006 160 (3,485) 38,624 375 40 (2,380) 33,334
Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains (losses) 

taken to equity – – – 292 – – 292
– Transferred to income statement 

on sale or impairment – – – (184) – – (184)
Cash flow hedges
– Gains (losses) taken to equity – – – – (71) – (71)
– Transferred to income statement – – – – – – –
– Transferred to the initial balance

sheet carrying value of hedged 
items – – – – – – –

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations – – – (17) (1) (1,469) (1,487)
Defined benefit plans
– Actuarial gains (losses)10 – – 761 – – – 761
– Limit on asset recognition10 – – (396) – – – (396)
Income taxes on items taken 
directly to or transferred from equity – – (149) (15) 29 – (135)
Minority interests – – 2 8 18 510 538
Net income recognised directly 
in equity – – 218 84 (25) (959) (682)

Net income recognised 
in income statement – – 7,880 – – – 7,880

Total recognised income 
and expense – – 8,098 84 (25) (959) 7,198

Dividends paid – – (2,152) – – – (2,152)
Transactions in own equity 
instruments – 1,383 – – – – 1,383
Equity compensation plans – – 726 – – – 726
Genentech and Chugai share 
repurchases3, 4 – – (696) – – – (696)
Convertible debt instruments27 – – (354) – – – (354)
Changes in minority interests – – 5 – – – 5
At 31 December 2006 160 (2,102) 44,251 459 15 (3,339) 39,444
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Own 
equity

Share instru- Retained Fair value Hedging Translation
Year ended 31 December 2007 capital ments earnings reserve reserve reserve Total

At 1 January 2007 160 (2,102) 44,251 459 15 (3,339) 39,444
Available-for-sale investments
– Valuation gains (losses) 

taken to equity – – – (198) – – (198)
– Transferred to income statement 

on sale or impairment – – – (128) – – (128)
Cash flow hedges
– Gains (losses) taken to equity – – – – (45) – (45)
– Transferred to income statementa) – – – – (3) – (3)
– Transferred to the initial balance

sheet carrying value of hedged 
items – – – – – – –

Exchange differences on 
translation of foreign operations – – – (10) 1 (1,897) (1,906)
Defined benefit plans
– Actuarial gains (losses)10 – – 1,178 – – – 1,178
– Limit on asset recognition10 – – (422) – – – (422)
Income taxes on items taken 
directly to or transferred from equity – – (295) 9 19 – (267)
Minority interests – – (3) (7) 13 529 532
Net income recognised directly 
in equity – – 458 (334) (15) (1,368) (1,259)

Net income recognised 
in income statement – – 9,761 – – – 9,761

Total recognised income 
and expense – – 10,219 (334) (15) (1,368) 8,502

Dividends paid – – (2,930) – – – (2,930)
Transactions in own equity 
instruments – 1,085 – – – – 1,085
Equity compensation plans – – 559 – – – 559
Genentech and Chugai share 
repurchases3, 4 – – (1,044) – – – (1,044)
Convertible debt instruments27 – – (324) – – – (324)
Changes in minority interests – – 55 – – – 55
At 31 December 2007 160 (1,017) 50,786 125 – (4,707) 45,347

a) Of amounts transferred to income statement, losses of 10 million Swiss francs were reported as ‘Royalties and other operating
income’ and gains of 7 million Swiss francs as ‘Financial income’.

Share capital
As of 31 December 2007, the authorised and issued share capital of Roche Holding Ltd, which is the Group’s
parent company, consisted of 160,000,000 shares with a nominal value of 1.00 Swiss franc each, as in the
preceding year. The shares are bearer shares and the Group does not maintain a register of shareholders. Based
on information supplied to the Group, a shareholder group with pooled voting rights owns 50.0125% (2006:
50.0125%) of the issued shares. This is further described in Note 33. Based on information supplied to the Group,
Novartis International Ltd, Basel, and its affiliates 33.3330% (participation below 331⁄3%) of the issued shares
(2006: 33.3330%).
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Non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine)
As of 31 December 2007, 702,562,700 non-voting equity securities have been authorised and were in issue as
in the preceding year. Under Swiss company law these non-voting equity securities have no nominal value, are
not part of the share capital and cannot be issued against a contribution which would be shown as an asset
in the balance sheet of Roche Holding Ltd. Each non-voting equity security confers the same rights as any of
the shares to participate in the net profit and any remaining proceeds from liquidation following repayment
of the nominal value of the shares and, if any, participation certificates. In accordance with the law and the
Articles of Incorporation of Roche Holding Ltd, the Company is entitled at all times to exchange all or some of
the non-voting equity securities into shares or participation certificates.

Dividends
On 5 March 2007 the shareholders approved the distribution of a dividend of CHF 3.40 per share and non-voting
equity security (2006: CHF 2.50) in respect of the 2006 business year. The distribution to holders of outstanding
shares and non-voting equity securities totalled 2,930 million Swiss francs (2006: 2,152 million Swiss francs)
and has been recorded against retained earnings in 2007. The Board of Directors has proposed dividends for
the 2007 business year of 4.60 Swiss francs per share and non-voting equity security. This is subject to approval
at the Annual General Meeting on 4 March 2008.

Own equity instruments
Holdings of own equity instruments in equivalent number of non-voting equity securities

31 December 2007 31 December 2006
(millions) (millions)

Non-voting equity securities 0.4 0.2
Low Exercise Price Options 1.9 6.8
Derivative instruments 9.3 8.2
Total own equity instruments 11.6 15.2

Own equity instruments are recorded within equity at original purchase cost. Details of own equity instruments
held at 31 December 2007 are shown in the table below. Fair values are disclosed for information purposes.

Own equity instruments at 31 December 2007: supplementary information
Equivalent number

of non-voting 
equity securities Strike price Market value

(millions) Maturity (CHF) (millions of CHF)

Non-voting equity securities 0.4 n/a n/a 70
Low Exercise Price Options 1.9 1 Sep. 2008 10.00 349
Derivative instruments 2 Feb. 2010– 123.00–

9.3 8 Feb. 2014 229.60 412
Total 11.6 831

Non-voting equity securities and Low Exercise Price Options have been mainly held for the potential conversion
obligations that may arise from the Group’s convertible debt instruments. Following from the conversion and
redemption of the ‘LYONs V’ US dollar exchangeable notes in 2007 (see Note 27), the Group reduced its holdings
in own equity instruments during the year. The Group’s potential obligations to employees for the Roche Option
Plan and Roche Stock-settled Stock Appreciation Rights (see Note 11) are covered by the remaining own equity
instruments, which mainly consist of call options that are exercisable at any time up to their maturity.

The net cash inflow from transactions in own equity instruments was 1,085 million Swiss francs (2006: net cash
inflow of 1,367 million Swiss francs). These mainly arose from a reduction in own equity instrument holdings
following the conversion and redemption of the ‘LYONs V’ notes. 

The Group holds none of its own shares.
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Reserves
Fair value reserve: The fair value reserve represents the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets until the asset is sold, impaired or otherwise disposed of.

Hedging reserve: The hedging reserve represents the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair
value of cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

Translation reserve: The translation reserve represents the cumulative currency translation differences relating
to the consolidation of Group companies that use functional currencies other than Swiss francs.

29. Earnings per share and non-voting equity security

Basic earnings per share and non-voting equity security
For the calculation of basic earnings per share and non-voting equity security, the number of shares and non-
voting equity securities is reduced by the weighted average number of its own non-voting equity securities held
by the Group during the period.

Basic earnings per share and non-voting equity security

Continuing businesses Group
2007 2006 2007 2006

Net income attributable to Roche shareholders (millions of CHF) 9,761 7,860 9,761 7,880

Number of shares (millions)28 160 160 160 160
Number of non-voting equity securities (millions)28 703 703 703 703
Weighted average number of own non-voting equity 
securities held (millions) (4) (11) (4) (11)
Weighted average number of shares and non-voting 
equity securities in issue (millions) 859 852 859 852

Basic earnings per share and non-voting equity security (CHF) 11.36 9.22 11.36 9.24

Diluted earnings per share and non-voting equity security
For the calculation of diluted earnings per share and non-voting equity security, the net income and weighted
average number of shares and non-voting equity securities outstanding are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive
potential shares and non-voting equity securities.

Potential dilutive effects arise from the convertible debt instruments and the employee stock option plans. If the
outstanding convertible debt instruments were to be converted then this would lead to a reduction in interest
expense and an increase in the number of shares which may have a net dilutive effect on the earnings per
share. The exercise of outstanding vested employee stock options would have a dilutive effect. The exercise
of the outstanding vested Genentech employee stock options would have a dilutive effect if the net income
of Genentech is positive. The diluted earnings per share and non-voting equity security reflects the potential
impacts of these dilutive effects on the earnings per share figures.
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Diluted earnings per share and non-voting equity security

Continuing businesses Group
2007 2006 2007 2006

Net income attributable to Roche shareholders (millions of CHF) 9,761 7,860 9,761 7,880
Elimination of interest expense, net of tax, of convertible debt 
instruments, where dilutive (millions of CHF) 4 25 4 25
Increase in minority share of Group net income, net of tax, 
assuming all outstanding Genentech stock options exercised 
(millions of CHF) (141) (100) (141) (100)
Net income used to calculate diluted earnings per share 
(millions of CHF) 9,624 7,785 9,624 7,805

Weighted average number of shares and non-voting equity 
securities in issue (millions) 859 852 859 852
Adjustment for assumed conversion of convertible debt instruments, 
where dilutive (millions) 1 7 1 7
Adjustment for assumed exercise of equity compensation plans, 
where dilutive (millions) 2 3 2 3
Weighted average number of shares and non-voting equity securities 
in issue used to calculate diluted earnings per share (millions) 862 862 862 862

Diluted earnings per share and non-voting equity security (CHF) 11.16 9.03 11.16 9.05

30. Minority interests 

Changes in equity attributable to minority interests in millions of CHF
2007 2006

At 1 January 7,370 6,824

Net income recognised directly in equity (532) (538)

Net income recognised in income statement
– Genentech3 1,451 1,077
– Chugai4 211 202
– Other minority interests 14 12
Total net income recognised in income statement 1,676 1,291

Total recognised income and expense 1,144 753

Dividends paid to minority shareholders4 (97) (105)
Equity compensation plans 449 450
Genentech and Chugai share repurchases3, 4 (851) (552)
Convertible debt instruments – 5
Changes in minority interests (55) (5)
At 31 December 7,960 7,370

Of which
– Genentech3 5,933 5,250
– Chugai4 1,987 2,088
– Other minority interests 40 32
Total minority interests 7,960 7,370
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31. Cash flow statement 

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from operating activities arise from the Group’s primary activities in the Pharmaceuticals and
Diagnostics businesses. These are calculated by the indirect method by adjusting the Group’s operating profit
for any operating income and expenses that are not cash flows (for example depreciation, amortisation and
impairment) in order to derive the cash generated from operations. This and other operating cash flows are
shown in the cash flow statement. Operating cash flows also include income taxes paid on all activities,
including, for example, the taxes paid on the income from bond conversion and redemption.

Cash generated from operations in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Net income 11,437 9,171
Add back non-operating (income) expense
– Associated companies15 (2) (2)
– Financial income5 (1,805) (1,829)
– Financing costs5 971 974
– Income taxes6 3,867 3,436
– Discontinued businesses8 – (20)
Operating profit 14,468 11,730

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment12 1,560 1,461
Amortisation of intangible assets14 976 977
Impairment of intangible assets14 58 197
Impairment of property, plant and equipment12 6 71
Operating expenses for defined benefit post-employment plans10 370 348
Operating expenses for equity-settled equity compensation plans11 603 620
Other adjustments 439 571
Cash generated from operations 18,480 15,975

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from investing activities are principally those arising from the Group’s investments in property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets, and from the acquisition and divestment of subsidiaries, associated
companies and businesses. Cash flows connected with the Group’s portfolio of marketable securities and other
investments are also included, as are any interest and dividend payments received in respect of these securities
and investments. These cash flows indicate the Group’s net reinvestment in its operating assets and the cash
flow effects of business combinations and divestments, as well as the cash generated by the Group’s other
investments.

Interest and dividends received in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Interest received 1,071 836
Dividends received 8 10
Total 1,079 846
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Cash flows from financing activities 
Cash flows from financing activities are primarily the proceeds from the issue and repayment of the Group’s equity
and debt instruments. They also include interest payments and dividend payments on these instruments.
Cash flows from short-term financing, including finance leases, are also included. These cash flows indicate the
Group’s transactions with the providers of its equity and debt financing. Cash flows from short-term borrowings
are shown as a net movement, as these consist of a large number of transactions with short maturity.

Interest and dividends paid in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Interest paid (297) (343)
Dividends paid28, 30 (3,027) (2,257)
Total (3,324) (2,600)

Significant non-cash transactions
An increase in property, plant and equipment of 205 million Swiss francs (2006: 230 million Swiss francs) was
recorded from Genentech leasing arrangements (see Note 3) and there was a corresponding increase in long-
term debt.

32. Risk management 

Group risk management
Risk management is a fundamental element of the Group’s business practice on all levels and encompasses
different types of risks. At a group level risk management is an integral part of the business planning and
controlling processes. Material risks are monitored and regularly discussed with the Corporate Executive
Committee and the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors. This overall Group risk management process
includes the performance of a risk assessment that is described in more detail in the Business Report on page 66.
Financial risk management specifically is described in further detail below.

Financial risk management
The Group is exposed to various financial risks arising from its underlying operations and corporate finance
activities. The Group’s financial risk exposures are predominantly related to changes in foreign exchange rates,
interest rates and equity prices as well as the creditworthiness and the solvency of the Group’s counterparties.

Financial risk management within the Group is governed by policies reviewed by the boards of directors of Roche,
Genentech or Chugai as appropriate to their areas of statutory responsibility. These policies cover credit risk,
liquidity risk and market risk. The policies provide guidance on risk limits, type of authorised financial instruments
and monitoring procedures. As a general principle, the policies prohibit the use of derivative financial instruments
for speculative trading purposes. Policy implementation and day-to-day risk management are carried out by the
relevant treasury functions and regular reporting on these risks is performed by the relevant accounting and
controlling functions within Roche, Genentech and Chugai.



The carrying amount and fair value of financial assets by asset class in millions of CHF
Carrying value by asset classes

FVtPLa)- FVtPLa)-
Available- desig- held for Held to Loans and Fair 

By line items in notes for-sale Cash nated trading maturity receivables Total value

Year ended 31 December 2007
Accounts receivable – – – – – 9,804 9,804 9,804
Accrued interest 
income – – – – – 37 37 37
Marketable securities:
– Money market 

instruments and 
time accounts 
over 3 months 10,965 – 167 – – – 11,132 11,132

– Bonds and debentures 7,624 – 78 1,129 – – 8,831 8,831
– Shares 292 – – – – – 292 292
– Other investments 14 – 178 – – – 192 192
Cash and cash 
equivalents – 3,755 – – – – 3,755 3,755
Derivative financial 
instruments – – – 70 – – 70 70
Available-for-sale 
investments 836 – – – – – 836 836
Held-to-maturity 
investments – – – – 19 – 19 19
Loans receivable – – – – – 19 19 19
Long-term trade 
receivables – – – – – 190 190 190
Other financial 
current assets – – – – – 593 593 593
Restricted cash – – – – – 1,115 1,115 1,115
Other long-term assets – – – – – 43 43 43
Total 19,731 3,755 423 1,199 19 11,801 36,928 36,928

a) Fair-value-through-profit-or-loss.
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Carrying value by asset classes
FVtPLa)- FVtPLa)-

Available- desig- held for Held to Loans and Fair 
By line items in notes for-sale Cash nated trading maturity receivables Total value

Year ended 31 December 2006
Accounts receivable – – – – – 8,960 8,960 8,960
Accrued interest 
income – – – – – 36 36 36
Marketable securities:
– Money market 

instruments and 
time accounts 
over 3 months 12,624 – 161 – – – 12,785 12,785

– Bonds and debentures 6,533 – 82 783 – – 7,398 7,398
– Shares 876 – – – – – 876 876
– Other Investments – – 62 – – – 62 62
Cash and cash 
equivalents – 3,210 – – – – 3,210 3,210
Derivative financial 
instruments – – – 80 – – 80 80
Available-for-sale 
investments 803 – – – – – 803 803
Held-to-maturity 
investments – – – – 25 – 25 25
Loans receivable – – – – – 25 25 25
Long-term trade 
receivables – – – – – 108 108 108
Other financial 
current assets – – – – – 665 665 665
Restricted cash – – – – – 1,191 1,191 1,191
Other long-term assets – – – – – 51 51 51
Total 20,836 3,210 305 863 25 11,036 36,275 36,275

a) Fair-value-through-profit-or-loss. 

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties to transactions may default on their obligations, causing
financial losses for the Group. The objective of managing counterparty credit risk is to prevent losses of liquid
funds deposited with or invested in such counterparties. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk resulting from financial activities, without considering netting agreements
and without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements, is equal to the carrying amount
of the Group’s financial assets. 
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Trade receivables: These are subject to a policy of active credit risk management which focuses on the
assessment of country risk, credit availability, ongoing credit evaluation and account monitoring procedures.
The objective of the management of trade receivables is to sustain the growth and profitability of the Group
by optimising asset utilisation whilst maintaining risks at an acceptable level. Except as noted below, there
is no significant concentration of counterparty credit risk due to the Group’s large number of customers and
their wide geographical spread. Risk limits and exposures are continuously monitored by country and by the
nature of counterparties. Additionally, the Group obtains credit insurance and similar enhancements when
appropriate to protect the collection of trade receivables. As at 31 December 2007 no collateral was held for
loans and receivables (2006: none).

At 31 December 2007 the Group’s combined trade accounts receivable balance with three US national wholesale
distributors, AmerisourceBergen Corp., Cardinal Health Inc. and McKesson Corp., was equivalent to 1.5 billion
Swiss francs representing 16% of the Group’s consolidated trade accounts receivable (2006: 1.5 billion Swiss
francs representing 17%). 

Nature and geographical location of trade receivables counterparties in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Whole- Whole-
salers/ salers/

Regions Total Public distributors Private Total Public distributors Private

Switzerland 175 47 12 116 35 15 12 8
European Union 2,106 991 546 569 1,837 492 476 869
Rest of Europe 661 58 539 64 501 69 429 3
North America 2,333 308 1,737 288 2,452 355 2,002 95
Latin America 461 115 187 159 416 164 196 56
Japan 1,162 – 1,136 26 1,232 39 1,181 12
Rest of Asia 605 83 227 295 516 351 150 15
Africa, Australia 
and Oceania 187 51 58 78 152 85 53 14
Total loans 
and receivables 7,690 1,653 4,442 1,595 7,141 1,570 4,499 1,072

Cash and marketable securities: These are subject to a policy of restricting exposures to high-quality
counterparties and setting defined limits for individual counterparties. These limits and counterparty credit
ratings are reviewed regularly. Investments in marketable securities are entered into on the basis of guidelines
with regard to liquidity, quality and maximum amount. As a general rule, the Group invests only in high quality
securities with adequate liquidity. Cash and short-term time deposits are subject to rules which limit the Group’s
exposure to individual financial institutions. The Group signs netting agreements under an ISDA (International
Swaps and Derivatives Association) master agreement with the respective counterparties in order to control
exposures on derivative positions.

Overdue assets: Financial assets which are past due but not impaired total 2.4 billion Swiss francs (2006:
1.9 billion Swiss francs). 

Analysis of overdue but not impaired financial assets by class in millions of CHF 

Total
amount 0–1 1–3 4–6 6–12 more than
overdue month months months months 1 year

Year ended 31 December 2007
Loans and receivables 2,423 720 538 483 427 255
Year ended 31 December 2006
Loans and receivables 1,874 414 509 354 263 334

As at 31 December 2007 there are no financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated (2006: none).
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Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises through a surplus of financial obligations over available financial assets due at any point in
time. The Group’s approach to liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to meet its
liquidity requirements at any point in time. Group liquidity is reported to senior management on a monthly basis.

All members of the Group enjoy strong credit quality and are rated by at least one major credit rating agency. The
ratings will permit Roche, Genentech and Chugai efficient access to the international capital markets in the event
of major financing requirements. In addition, the Group has unused committed credit lines with various financial
institutions totalling 5.7 billion Swiss francs (2006: unused committed credit lines of 4.3 billion Swiss francs).

Contractual maturity analysis of financial liabilities in millions of CHF

0–3 4–6 7–12 1–2 2–3 3–4 4–5 Over 5
Total months months months years years years years years

Year ended 31 December 2007
Total debta) 8,953 1,954 30 1,418 762 738 151 152 3,748
Trade payables 1,188 1,177 10 1 – – – – –
Accruals 5,319 3,945 431 881 62 – – – –
Derivative financial 
instruments 80 80 – – – – – – –
Other liabilities:
current & non-current 1,253 513 51 127 284 10 186 10 72
Total financial liabilities 16,793 7,669 522 2,427 1,108 748 337 162 3,820

Year ended 31 December 2006
Total debta) 10,892 454 173 1,776 2,497 824 799 162 4,207
Trade payables 1,399 1,379 15 2 3 – – – –
Accruals 5,126 3,596 233 1,202 95 – – – –
Derivative financial 
instruments 62 62 – – – – – – –
Other liabilities:
current & non-current 1,347 792 47 84 160 10 182 9 63
Total financial liabilities 18,826 6,283 468 3,064 2,755 834 981 171 4,270

a) Total debt in the above table shows undiscounted cash flows, whereas the carrying value in the consolidated balance sheet
reflects discounted cash flows.

Market risk
Market risk arises from changing market prices of the Group’s financial assets or financial liabilities. Market risk
may affect the Group financial result and the value of Group equity. 

The Group uses Value-at-Risk (VaR) to measure the impact of market risk on its financial instruments. Roche has
defined VaR limits to manage market risk. VaR data are reported on a monthly basis and indicate the value range
within which a given financial instrument will fluctuate with a pre-set probability as a result of movements in
market prices. VaR is a statistical measure which implicitly assumes that value changes of the recent past are
indicative of value changes in the future. VaR figures do not represent actual or expected losses, or possible
worst-case losses over the stated period. Also, VaR does not consider any effects of favourable market
movements.

VaR figures are calculated using a historical simulation approach. For each scenario, all financial instruments
are fully valued and the total change in value and earnings is determined. All VaR calculations are based on
a 95% confidence level and a holding period of 20 trading days over the past 10 years. This holding period
reflects the time required to change the corresponding risk exposure, should this be deemed appropriate. Longer
holding periods increase the probability of higher value changes and lead to increased VaR figures.
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Market risk of financial instruments in millions of CHF
31 December 2007 31 December 2006

VaR – foreign exchange component 75 35
VaR – interest rate component 40 69
VaR – other price component 93 101
Diversification (65) (44)
VaR – total market risk 143 161

At the end of 2007, the total VaR of the financial assets and liabilities was 143 million Swiss francs (2006:
161 million Swiss francs). The foreign exchange VaR increased mainly due to higher hedging levels of non-US
dollar cash flows from future royalty income over the next five years at Genentech. The lower contribution from
the interest rate component was caused by the ageing of fixed-term liabilities. Other price risk arises mainly
from movements in the prices of equity securities. In 2007, the Group held equity securities with a market
value of 1.1 billion Swiss Francs (2006: 1.7 billion Swiss francs). This number includes holdings in biotechnology
companies, which were acquired in the context of licensing transactions or scientific collaborations. The lower
holdings in equity securities resulted in a lower VaR for other price risk.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates across the world and is exposed to movements in foreign currencies affecting the Group
financial result and the value of Group’s equity. Foreign exchange risk arises because the amount of local
currency paid or received for transactions denominated in foreign currencies may vary due to changes in
exchange rates (‘transaction exposures’) and because the foreign currency denominated financial statements of
the Group’s foreign subsidiaries may vary upon consolidation into the Swiss franc denominated Group Financial
Statements (‘translation exposures’). 

The objective of the Group’s foreign exchange risk management activities is to preserve the economic value of its
current and future assets and to minimise the volatility of the Group’s financial result. The primary focus of the
Group’s foreign exchange risk management activities is on hedging transaction exposures arising through foreign
currency flows or monetary positions held in foreign currencies. The Group does not currently hedge translation
exposures using financial instruments. 

The Group monitors transaction exposures on a daily basis. The net foreign exchange result and the
corresponding VaR parameters are reported on a monthly basis. The Group uses forward contracts, foreign
exchange options and cross-currency swaps to hedge transaction exposures. Application of these instruments
intends to continuously lock in favourable developments of foreign exchange rates, thereby reducing the
exposure to potential future movements in such rates. 

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from movements in interest rates which could affect the Group financial result or the value
of Group equity. Changes in interest rates may cause variations in interest income and expense. In addition, they
may affect the market value of certain financial assets, liabilities and hedging instruments. The primary objective
of the Group’s interest rate management is to protect the net interest result. 

Interest rate exposures and the corresponding VaR parameters are reported on a monthly basis. The Group uses
forward contracts, options and swaps to hedge its interest rate exposures. Depending on the interest rate
environment of major currencies, the Group will use these instruments to generate the appropriate mix of fixed
and floating rate exposures.
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Other price risk
Other price risk arises mainly from movements in the prices of equity securities held by Roche, Genentech or
Chugai. In 2007, the Group held equity securities with a market value of 1.1 billion Swiss francs (2006: 1.7 billion
Swiss francs). This amount includes holdings in biotechnology companies, which were acquired in the context of
licensing transactions or scientific collaborations. Due to the nature of their business, biotechnology companies
are exposed to greater equity volatilities than general stock market fluctuations.

The Group manages the price risk through placing limits on individual and total equity investments. These
limits are defined both as a percentage of total liquid funds and as an absolute number for individual equity
investments. Equity price risk is reported as a VaR figure on a monthly basis to senior management.

Impairment of financial assets
During 2007 impairments of shares were triggered by a significant or prolonged price decline below cost value.
Impairments of debt securities were recorded due to significant financial difficulties of the issuers.

Impairment losses by asset classes in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Loans and receivables (26) 3
Available-for-sale financial assets
– shares (35) –
– investments – (9)
– debt securities (68) –
Total impairment losses (129) (6)

Capital
The Group defines the capital that it manages as the Group’s total equity, including minority interests. The Group’s
objectives when managing capital are:

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide benefits
for patients and returns to investors.

• To provide an adequate return to investors based on the level of risk undertaken.
• To have available the necessary financial resources to allow the Group to invest in areas that may deliver

future benefits for patients and returns to investors. 
• To maintain sufficient financial resources to mitigate against risks and unforeseen events. 

Capital is monitored on the basis of the equity ratio, which is calculated as being equity (including minority
interests) as a percentage of total assets. This is reported to senior management as part of the Group’s regular
internal management reporting. The Group’s capital and equity ratio are shown in the table below.

Capital in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Capital and reserves attributable to Roche shareholders28 45,347 39,444
Equity attributable to minority interests30 7,960 7,370
Total equity 53,307 46,814

Total assets 78,183 74,414

Equity ratio 68.2% 62.9%

The Group is not subject to regulatory capital adequacy requirements as known in the financial services industry. 

The Group has majority shareholdings in Genentech (see Note 3) and Chugai (see Note 4). Genentech and
Chugai are both public companies and their objectives, policies and processes for managing their own capital
are determined by local management. 
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33. Related parties

Controlling shareholders
The share capital of Roche Holding Ltd, which is the Group’s parent company, consists of 160,000,000 bearer
shares. Based on information supplied by a shareholder group with pooled voting rights, comprising Ms Vera
Michalski-Hoffmann, Ms Maja Hoffmann, Mr André Hoffmann, Dr Andreas Oeri, Ms Sabine Duschmalé-Oeri,
Ms Catherine Oeri, Ms Beatrice Oeri and Ms Maja Oeri, that group holds 80,020,000 shares as in the preceding
year, which represents 50.0125% of the issued shares. This figure does not include any shares without pooled
voting rights that are held outside this group by individual members of the group.

Mr André Hoffmann and Dr Andreas Oeri are members of the Board of Directors of Roche Holding Ltd and in this
capacity each received an annual remuneration of 300,000 Swiss francs in both 2007 and 2006. Since 28 February
2006, Mr Hoffmann has been a Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors and in 2007 he received 100,000 Swiss
francs in this capacity (2006: 83,333 Swiss francs). Dr Oeri is Chairman of the Corporate Governance and
Sustainability Committee and in 2007 received 60,000 Swiss francs for his time and expenses in this capacity
(2006: 10,000 Swiss francs). 

There were no other transactions between the Group and the individual members of the above shareholder group.

Subsidiaries and associated companies
A listing of the major Group subsidiaries and associated companies is included in Note 35. Transactions between
the parent company and its subsidiaries and between subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation. There were
no significant transactions between the Group and its associated companies.

Key management personnel
Members of the Board of Directors of Roche Holding Ltd receive an annual remuneration and payment for their
time and expenses related to their membership of Board committees. Total remuneration of the Board of Directors
in 2007 totalled 5 million Swiss francs (2006: 4 million Swiss francs).

Members of the Corporate Executive Committee of Roche Holding Ltd receive remuneration, which consists of an
annual salary, bonus and an expense allowance. The Group pays social insurance contributions in respect of the
above remuneration and pays contributions to pension and other post-employment benefit plans for members
of the Corporate Executive Committee. Members of the Corporate Executive Committee also participate in certain
equity compensation plans as described below. The terms, vesting conditions and fair value of these awards are
disclosed in Note 11.

Remuneration of members of the Corporate Executive Committee in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Salaries, including bonuses and expenses 23 18
Social security costs 2 1
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 6 6
Equity compensation plans 22 18
Other employee benefits – –
Total 53 43

Roche Long-Term: During 2007 members of the Corporate Executive Committee were granted 223,797 Stock-
settled Stock Appreciation Rights (S-SARs) and no Roche Option Plan (ROP) awards (2006: 151,725 S-SARs and
no ROP awards). 

Roche Connect: During 2007 contributions paid by the Group in 2007 with respect to members of the Corporate
Executive Committee totalled 0.2 million Swiss francs (2006: 0.2 million Swiss francs).

Roche Performance Share Plan: During 2007 members of the Corporate Executive Committee were targeted
with 19,921 awards of the 2007–2009 cycle (2006: 20,161 awards from the 2006–2008 cycle). Each award will result
in between zero and two non-voting equity securities, depending upon the achievement of the performance targets.
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Transactions with former members of the Corporate Executive Committee: Mr Heino von Prondzynski
stepped down from the Corporate Executive Committee on 31 December 2005. During 2006 he assisted with the
transition to his successor and he resigned from Roche effective 31 December 2006.  In 2007 he received a bonus
of 0.4 million Swiss francs in respect of services rendered in 2006 and additionally received a total of 12,212 non-
voting equity securities based on pro-rated Roche Performance Share Plan awards. His total remuneration in 2006
was 3 million Swiss francs. Pensions totalling 2 million Swiss francs (2006: 2 million Swiss francs) were paid by
the Group to two other former Corporate Executive Committee members.

The detailed disclosures regarding executive remuneration that are required by Swiss law are included in the
financial statements of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel on pages 118–121.

Post-employment benefit plans
Transactions between the Group and the various post-employment defined benefit plans for the employees of
the Group are described in Note 10.

34. Subsequent events

On 22 January 2008 the Group announced that it had signed an agreement to acquire a 100% controlling interest
in Ventana Medical Systems, Inc. (‘Ventana’). Further details are given in Note 7. There were no other significant
events after the balance sheet date.

35. Subsidiaries and associated companies

Listed companies

Share capital Equity interest
Country Company City (m) (in %)

Switzerland Roche Holding Ltd Basel CHF 160.0
Stock Exchange: SWX Zurich
Valor Share: 1203211
Valor Genussscheine: 1203204
ISIN Share: CH0012032113
ISIN Genussscheine: CH0012032048
Market Capitalisation: CHF 171,060.1m

Basilea Pharmaceutica Ltd. Basel CHF 9.5 11.1
Stock Exchange: SWX Zurich
Valor: 1143244
ISIN: CH0011432447
Market Capitalisation: CHF 2,104.4m

United States Genentech, Inc. South San Francisco USD 21.0 55.8
Stock Exchange: New York (incorporated in Delaware)
ISIN: US3687104063
Market Capitalisation: USD 70,544.9m

Japan Chugai Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. Tokyo JPY 73.0 51.5
Stock Exchange: Tokyo
ISIN: JP3519400000
Market Capitalisation: JPY 871,687.7m

Non-listed companies

Share capital Equity interest
Country Company City (m) (in %)

Argentina Productos Roche S.A. Química e Industrial Buenos Aires ARS 83.0 100

Australia Roche Diagnostics Australia Pty. Limited Castle Hill AUD 5.0 100
Roche Products Pty. Limited Dee Why AUD 65.0 100

Austria Roche Austria GmbH Vienna EUR 14.5 100
Roche Diagnostics GmbH Vienna EUR 1.5 100
Roche Diagnostics Graz GmbH Graz EUR 0.4 100

Belgium N.V. Roche S.A. Brussels EUR 32.0 100
Roche Diagnostics Belgium S.A. Brussels EUR 3.8 100
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Bermuda Canadian Pharmholding Ltd. Hamilton USD (–) 100
Chemical Manufacturing and 
Trading Company Limited Hamilton USD 9.6 100
Corange International Ltd. Hamilton USD 1.0 100
Corange Ltd. Hamilton USD 38.0 100
Roche Financial Investments Ltd. Hamilton USD (–) 100
Roche Financial Services Ltd. Hamilton USD 0.1 100
Roche Interfinance Ltd. Hamilton USD (–) 100
Roche International Ltd. Hamilton USD (–) 100
Roche Intertrade Ltd. Hamilton USD 10.0 100
Roche Services Holdings Ltd. Hamilton USD (–) 100
Syntex Pharmaceuticals International Ltd. Hamilton USD (–) 100

Brazil Produtos Roche Químicos e Farmacêuticos S.A. São Paulo BRL 41.7 100
Roche Diagnostica Brasil Ltda. São Paulo BRL 149.0 100

Bulgaria Roche Bulgaria EOOD Sofia BGN 5.1 100

Canada Chempharm Limited Toronto CAD (–) 100
Hoffmann-La Roche Limited Toronto CAD 15.3 100
Sapac Corporation Ltd. St. John CAD (–) 100

Chile Roche Chile Limitada Santiago de Chile CLP 70.9 100

China Roche Diagnostics (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HKD 10.0 100
Roche Diagnostics (Shanghai) Limited Shanghai USD 1.0 100
Roche Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HKD 10.0 100
Roche R&D Center (China) Ltd. Shanghai USD 6.3 100
Shanghai Roche Pharmaceuticals Limited Shanghai USD 19.5 70

Colombia Productos Roche S.A. Bogotá COP 1,923.7 100

Costa Rica Roche Servicios S.A. Heredia USD 0.1 100

Croatia Roche D.O.O. Zagreb HRK 4.8 100

Czech Republic Roche s.r.o. Prague CZK 200.0 100

Denmark Roche a/s Hvidovre DKK 4.0 100
Roche Bio Denmark a/s Copenhagen DKK 90.2 100
Roche Diagnostics a/s Hvidovre DKK 1.3 100

Dominican Productos Roche Dominicana S.A. Santo Domingo DOP 0.6 100
Republic

Ecuador Roche Ecuador S.A. Quito USD 1.1 100

El Salvador Productos Roche (El Salvador) S.A. San Salvador SVC 0.2 100

Estonia Roche Eesti OÜ Tallinn EEK 2.0 100

Finland Roche Diagnostics Oy Espoo EUR 0.2 100
Roche Oy Espoo EUR (–) 100

France Cenexi SAS Fontenay sous Bois EUR 49.1 100
Roche Diagnostics S.A. Meylan EUR 16.0 100
Roche S.A.S. Neuilly-sur-Seine EUR 38.2 100

Germany Galenus Mannheim GmbH Mannheim EUR 1.7 100
Roche Beteiligungs GmbH Grenzach-Wyhlen EUR 3.6 100
Roche Deutschland Holding GmbH Grenzach-Wyhlen DEM 10.0 100
Roche Diagnostics GmbH Mannheim EUR 94.6 100
Roche Kulmbach GmbH Kulmbach EUR (–) 100
Roche Pharma AG Grenzach-Wyhlen EUR 61.4 100

Greece Roche (Hellas) S.A. Athens EUR 19.8 100
Roche Diagnostics (Hellas) S.A. Athens EUR 23.7 100

Guatemala Productos Roche Guatemala S.A. Guatemala GTQ 0.6 100

Honduras Productos Roche (Honduras), S.A. Tegucigalpa HNL (–) 100

Hungary Roche (Hungary) Ltd. Budapest HUF 30.0 100
Roche Services (Europe) Ltd. Budapest HUF 3.0 100

India Roche Diagnostics (India) Pvt. Ltd. Mumbai INR 34.2 100
Roche Scientific Company (India) Pvt. Ltd. Mumbai INR 10.0 100

Share capital Equity interest
Country Company City (m) (in %)
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Indonesia P.T. Roche Indonesia Jakarta IDR 1,323.0 98.3

Ireland Roche Ireland Limited Clarecastle EUR 1.9 100
Roche Products (Ireland) Limited Dublin EUR 0.2 100

Italy Roche Diagnostics S.p.A. Milan EUR 18.1 100
Roche S.p.A. Milan EUR 34.1 100

Japan Roche Diagnostics K.K. Tokyo JPY 2,500.0 100

Latvia Roche Latvija SIA Riga LVL 0.2 100

Lithuania UAB Roche Lietuva Vilnius LIT 0.8 100

Luxembourg Pharminvest S.A. Luxembourg EUR 28.0 100

Malaysia Roche (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd. Kuala Lumpur MYR 4.0 100
Roche Diagnostics (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd. Kuala Lumpur MYR 0.9 100

Mexico Grupo Roche Syntex de México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico City MXN 3.5 100
Lakeside de México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico City MXN 48.0 100
Productos Roche S.A. de C.V. Mexico City MXN 2.2 100
Syntex S.A. de C.V. Mexico City MXN 80.4 100

Morocco Roche S.A. Casablanca MAD 9.5 100

Netherlands Roche Diagnostics Nederland B.V. Almere EUR 2.3 100
Roche Finance Europe B.V. Woerden EUR 2.0 100
Roche Nederland B.V. Woerden EUR 10.9 100
Roche Pharmholding B.V. Woerden EUR 467.8 100

New Zealand Roche Diagnostics New Zealand Pty. Ltd. Auckland NZD 3.0 100
Roche Products (New Zealand) Limited Auckland NZD 13.5 100

Nicaragua Productos Roche (Nicaragua) S.A. Managua NIO (–) 100

Norway Roche Diagnostics Norge A/S Oslo NOK 5.8 100
Roche Norge A/S Oslo NOK 6.2 100

Pakistan Roche Pakistan Ltd. Karachi PKR 38.3 100

Panama Productos Roche Interamericana S.A. Panama City USD 0.1 100
Productos Roche Panamá S.A. Panama City PAB (–) 100
Syntex Corporation Panama City USD 1.0 100
Syntex Puerto Rico Inc. Panama City USD (–) 100
Technical Development Corp. Panama City CHF 0.8 100

Peru Productos Roche Química Farmacéutica S.A. Lima PEN 11.1 100

Philippines Roche (Philippines) Inc. Makati PHP 125.0 100

Poland Roche Diagnostics Polska Sp. z o.o. Warsaw PLN 2.0 100
Roche Polska Sp. z o.o. Warsaw PLN 2.0 100

Portugal Roche Farmacêutica Química Lda. Amadora EUR 1.1 100
Roche Sistemas de Diagnósticos 
Sociedade Unipessoal Lda. Linda-A-Velha EUR 2.5 100

Puerto Rico Corange Int. Limited, Puerto Rico Branch Ponce USD (–) 100

Romania Roche Romania S.R.L. Bucharest RON 147.2 100

Russia Roche – Moscow Ltd. Moscow RUB 2.6 100

Serbia Roche D.O.O. Beograd Belgrade EUR 1.8 100

Singapore Roche Diagnostics Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD 7.4 100
Roche Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD 4.0 100

Slovakia Roche Slovensko, S.R.O. Bratislava SKK 10.0 100

Slovenia Roche D.O.O. Pharmaceutical Company Ljubljana EUR 0.2 100

South Africa Roche Products (Proprietary) Limited Johannesburg ZAR 55.0 100

South Korea Roche Diagnostics Korea Co., Ltd. Seoul KRW 22,969.0 100
Roche Korea Company Ltd. Seoul KRW 13,375.0 100

Spain Andreu Roche S.A. Madrid EUR 0.1 100
Roche Diagnostics S.L. Barcelona EUR 18.0 100
Roche Farma S.A. Madrid EUR 54.1 100
Syntex Roche S.A. Madrid EUR 0.1 100

Share capital Equity interest
Country Company City (m) (in %)
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Sweden Roche AB Stockholm SEK 20.0 100
Roche Diagnostics Scandinavia AB Bromma SEK 9.0 100

Switzerland Disetronic Handels AG Burgdorf CHF 0.1 100
Disetronic Holding AG Burgdorf CHF 9.7 100
Disetronic Licensing AG Burgdorf CHF 0.1 100
Disetronic Medical Systems AG Burgdorf CHF 0.9 100
F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. Basel CHF 150.0 100
GlycArt Biotechnology Ltd. Schlieren CHF 0.3 100
Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd. Basel CHF 0.5 100
IMIB Institute for Medical Informatics 
and Biostatistics Ltd. Basel CHF 0.1 100
Rabbit-Air Ltd. Zurich-Kloten CHF 3.0 100
Roche Capital Market Ltd. Basel CHF 1.0 100
Roche Diagnostics (Switzerland) Ltd. Rotkreuz CHF 1.0 100
Roche Diagnostics AG Rotkreuz CHF 5.0 100
Roche Diagnostics International Ltd. Steinhausen CHF 20.0 100
Roche Finance Ltd. Basel CHF 409.2 100
Roche Pharma (Switzerland) Ltd. Reinach CHF 2.0 100
Syntex Corporation Basel CHF 0.2 100

Taiwan Roche Diagnostics Ltd. Taipei TWD 80.0 100
Roche Products Ltd. Taipei TWD 100.0 100

Thailand Roche Diagnostics (Thailand) Limited Bangkok THB 103.0 100
Roche Thailand Limited Bangkok THB 12.0 100

Turkey Roche Diagnostik Sistemleri Ticaret A.S. Istanbul TRY 30.0 100
Roche Müstahzarlari Sanayi Anonim Sirketi Istanbul TRY 121.0 100

United Kingdom Roche Diagnostics Ltd. Lewes GBP 32.6 100
Roche Holding (UK) Limited Welwyn Garden City GBP 100.0 100
Roche Products Limited Welwyn Garden City GBP 98.3 100
Roche Registration Limited Welwyn Garden City GBP (–) 100

United States 454 Life Sciences Corporation Branford USD (–) 100
BioVeris Corporation Gaithersburg USD (–) 100
Disetronic Medical Systems Inc. St. Paul USD (–) 100
Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. Nutley USD 3.0 100
Idaho Technology Inc. Salt Lake City USD 2.0 20.4
IGEN International, Inc. Wilmington USD (–) 100
Roche Carolina Inc. Florence USD (–) 100
Roche Colorado Corporation Boulder USD (–) 100
Roche Diagnostics Corporation Indianapolis USD (–) 100
Roche Diagnostics Operations, Inc. Indianapolis USD (–) 100
Roche Finance America Inc. Little Falls USD (–) 100
Roche Finance USA Inc. Little Falls USD (–) 100
Roche Holdings, Inc. Wilmington USD 1.0 100
Roche Laboratories Inc. Nutley USD (–) 100
Roche Molecular Systems, Inc. Pleasanton USD (–) 100
Roche NimbleGen Inc. Wilmington USD (–) 100
Roche Palo Alto LLC Palo Alto USD (–) 100
Therapeutic Human Polyclonals, Inc. Palo Alto USD (–) 100

Uruguay Roche International Ltd. – Montevideo Branch Montevideo UYU (–) 100

Venezuela Productos Roche S.A. Caracas VEB 200.0 100

(–) = share capital of less than 100,000 local currency units.

Share capital Equity interest
Country Company City (m) (in %)



Report of Roche Management

Report of Roche Management on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and management of Roche Holding Ltd are responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate control over financial reporting. The internal control system was designed to provide reasonable
assurance over the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective may not prevent or detect misstatements and can provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of its system of internal control over financial reporting as of
31 December 2007 based on the criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the system of internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of 31 December 2007.

The Group Auditors KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA, have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Roche Holding Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2007, in accordance with Swiss auditing
standards and with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA). They have also issued a report on the
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control over financial reporting. This report is set out on page 107.

Franz B. Humer Erich Hunziker
Chairman of the Board of Directors Chief Financial Officer and Deputy Head 
and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporate Executive Committee

Basel, 24 January 2008
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Report of the Group Auditors

Report of the Group Auditors to the Annual General Meeting of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel

As group auditors, we have audited the consolidated financial statements (income statement, balance sheet,
cash flow statement, statement of recognised income and expense, statement of changes in equity and notes on
pages 24 to 104) of Roche Holding Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2007.

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet
the legal requirements concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss auditing standards and with the International Standards on
Auditing (ISA), which require that an audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. We have examined on a test
basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. We have also
assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and the overall consolidated financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results
of operations and the cash flows in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
comply with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA

John A. Morris Erik F. J. Willems
Auditor in charge

Basel, 24 January 2008
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Report of the Group Auditors to the Annual General Meeting of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel

We have examined the Roche Group’s system of internal control over financial reporting as of 31 December 2007,
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

The Board of Directors and management of Roche Holding Ltd are responsible for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting as included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our examination. An entity’s internal
control over financial reporting is a process effected by the entity’s board of directors, management, and other
personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial statements prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timely detection
of the unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the
entity’s financial statements.

We conducted our examination in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(ISAE 3000). This standard requires that we plan and perform our examination to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material aspects. Our examination
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
management override of controls, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also,
projections of any evaluation of internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk
that internal control may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or because the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Roche Group maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control, over financial
reporting as of 31 December 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with Swiss auditing standards and International Standards on Auditing (ISA),
the consolidated financial statements of Roche Holding Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2007 and our report
dated 24 January 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion.

KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA

John A. Morris Erik F. J. Willems
Auditor in charge

Basel, 24 January 2008



108 Finance Report 2007

Information in this table is stated as reported. Changes in accounting policies arising from changes in International Financial
Reporting Standards and the 100 for 1 stock split in 2001 are not applied retrospectively.

Multi-Year Overview

Statistics, as reported
1998 1999 2000

Statement of income in millions of CHF
Sales 24,662 27,567 28,672
EBITDA 6,423 8,874 11,126
Operating profit 4,350 6,421 7,131
Net income attributable to Roche shareholders 4,392 5,764 8,647
Research and development 3,408 3,782 3,950

Balance sheet in millions of CHF
Non-current assets 27,952 35,800 34,798
Current assets 27,927 34,631 34,737
Total assets 55,879 70,431 69,535
Non-current liabilities (21,416) (25,574) (23,642)
Current liabilities (11,648) (14,856) (13,857)
Total liabilities (33,064) (40,430) (37,499)
Net assets 22,815 30,001 32,036
Capital and reserves attributable to Roche shareholders 21,666 26,954 27,608
Equity attributable to minority interests 1,149 3,047 4,428
Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,883 2,150 2,183

Personnel
Number of employees at end of year 66,707 67,695 64,758

Key ratios
Net income attributable to Roche shareholders as % of sales 18 21 30
Net income as % of equity, attributable to Roche shareholders 20 21 31
Research and development as % of sales 14 14 14
Current ratio % 240 233 251
Equity and minority interests as % of total assets 41 43 46
Sales per employee in thousands of CHF 370 407 443

Data on shares and non-voting equity securities
Number of shares 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000
Number of non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) 7,025,627 7,025,627 7,025,627
Total shares and non-voting equity securities 8,625,627 8,625,627 8,625,627
Total dividend in millions of CHF 750 863b) 992
Earnings per share and non-voting equity security (diluted) 
in CHF 509 668 1,024
Dividend per share and non-voting equity security in CHF 87 100b) 115
Cash and warrants in addition to dividend in CHF 190a) – –
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a) Assuming 1996 centenary warrants held to final exercise date.
b) Dividend 1999 does not include the special dividend relating to the spin-off of the Fragrances and Flavours Division.
c) Dividend 2007 as proposed by the Board of Directors.

c)

c)

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

29,163 29,453 31,220 31,273 35,511 42,041 46,133
6,438 7,993 8,609 9,566 11,404 14,436 17,068
3,247 1,335 5,592 8,979 8,669 11,730 14,468
3,697 (4,026) 3,069 6,641 5,787 7,880 9,761
3,893 4,257 4,766 5,093 5,705 6,589 8,385

36,411 33,143 29,820 28,670 33,739 33,519 35,349
38,875 30,852 29,666 29,406 35,626 40,895 42,834
75,286 63,995 59,486 58,076 69,365 74,414 78,183

(25,772) (22,850) (18,658) (14,882) (18,130) (14,908) (10,422)
(15,647) (15,372) (11,664) (9,901) (9,492) (12,692) (14,454)
(41,419) (38,222) (30,322) (24,783) (27,622) (27,600) (24,876)
33,867 25,773 29,164 33,293 41,743 46,814 53,307
28,973 20,810 23,570 28,223 34,922 39,444 45,347
4,894 4,963 5,594 5,070 6,821 7,370 7,960
1,931 2,044 2,265 2,357 3,428 3,878 3,648

63,717 69,659 65,357 64,703 68,218 74,372 78,604

13 –14 10 21 16 19 21
13 –19 13 24 17 20 22
13 14 15 16 16 16 18

248 201 254 297 375 322 296
45 40 49 57 60 63 68

458 427 482 483 521 565 587

160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000
702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700
862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700

1,121 1,251 1,423 1,725 2,156 2,933 3,968

4.37 (4.80) 3.61 7.81 6.71 9.05 11.16
1.30 1.45 1.65 2.00 2.50 3.40 4.60  

– – – – – – –
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Sales by division in millions of CHF
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Pharmaceuticals 19,781 21,695 27,268 33,294 36,783
Diagnostics 7,409 7,827 8,243 8,747 9,350
Consumer Health (OTC) 1,770 1,751 – – –
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals 2,260 – – – –
Total 31,220 31,273 35,511 42,041 46,133

Sales by geographical area in millions of CHF
Switzerland 529 442 501 471 489
European Union 10,306 10,660 11,715 13,823 15,465
– of which Germany 2,324 2,288 2,624 2,993 3,277
Rest of Europe 895 896 1,061 1,307 1,620
Europe 11,730 11,998 13,277 15,601 17,574

United States 10,195 10,430 12,667 15,685 17,069
Rest of North America 594 595 812 985 1,004
North America 10,789 11,025 13,479 16,670 18,073

Latin America 2,076 1,825 2,033 2,539 2,784

Japan 3,948 3,875 3,948 3,713 3,562
Rest of Asia 1,697 1,553 1,803 2,384 2,681
Asia 5,645 5,428 5,751 6,097 6,243

Africa, Australia and Oceania 980 997 971 1,134 1,459
Total 31,220 31,273 35,511 42,041 46,133

Additions to property, plant and equipment by division in millions of CHF
Pharmaceuticals 1,315 1,572 2,613 3,030 2,588
Diagnostics 764 778 813 846 1,058
Consumer Health (OTC) 13 6 – – –
Vitamins and Fine Chemicals 172 – – – –
Corporate 1 1 2 2 2
Total 2,265 2,357 3,428 3,878 3,648

Additions to property, plant and equipment by geographical area in millions of CHF
Switzerland 262 232 376 350 418
European Union 761 808 910 995 993
– of which Germany 454 480 545 661 660
Rest of Europe 40 17 25 15 30
Europe 1,063 1,057 1,311 1,360 1,441

United States 830 1,022 1,739 2,061 1,679
Rest of North America 5 8 13 47 34
North America 835 1,030 1,752 2,108 1,713

Latin America 69 74 63 101 133

Japan 220 128 197 201 230
Rest of Asia 50 46 75 69 103
Asia 270 174 272 270 333

Africa, Australia and Oceania 28 22 30 39 28
Total 2,265 2,357 3,428 3,878 3,648

European Union information is based on members of the EU as at 31 December 2007. The comparative information has been
restated to include new EU members for the whole five-year period.



Supplementary Net Income and EPS Information

The Group’s basic and diluted earnings per share information is given in Note 29 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements on pages 90–91. Supplementary EPS information is given below on net income before exceptional
items and also on core net income, which additionally excludes amortisation of intangible assets and the related
impacts on income taxes and minority interests.

Profit from continuing businesses before exceptional items and Core net income in millions of CHF

Year ended 31 December
2007 2006

Profit from continuing businesses 11,437 9,151
Major legal cases – –
– income taxes – –

– –
Profit from continuing businesses before exceptional items 11,437 9,151

Minority interests
– profit from continuing businesses (1,676) (1,291)

(1,676) (1,291)
Net income attributable to Roche shareholders 
(continuing businesses before exceptional items) 9,761 7,860

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 1,034 1,174
– income taxes (374) (405)
– minority interest (60) (45)

600 724
Core net income 10,361 8,584

EPS (continuing businesses before exceptional items) and Core EPS

EPS (continuing businesses
before exceptional items) Core EPS

Year ended 31 December 2007 2006 2007 2006

Net income attributable to Roche shareholders
(millions of CHF) 9,761 7,860 10,361 8,584
Elimination of interest expense, net of tax, 
of convertible debt instruments, where dilutive 4 25 4 25
Increase in minority share of net income, net of tax, assuming 
all outstanding Genentech and Chugai stock options exercised (141) (100) (146) (104)
Net income used to calculate diluted earnings per share 9,624 7,785 10,219 8,505

Per share information
(millions of shares and non-voting equity securities)
Weighted average number of shares 
and non-voting equity securities in issue 859 852 859 852
Adjustment for assumed conversion 
of convertible debt instruments, where dilutive 1 7 1 7
Adjustment for assumed exercise of equity compensation plans, 
where dilutive 2 3 2 3
Weighted average number of shares and non-voting equity 
securities in issue used to calculate diluted earnings per share 862 862 862 862

Earnings per share (diluted) (CHF) 11.16 9.03 11.85 9.86
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Price development of share in CHF
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Roche share Swiss Market Index (rebased) 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Price development of non-voting equity security (Genussschein) in CHF
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Roche non-voting equity security Swiss Market Index (rebased)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Price development of American Depositary Receipt (ADR) in USD 
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Roche ADR S&P 500 Index (rebased) 

Two Roche American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) are equivalent to one non-voting equity security (Genussschein). ADRs have been
traded in the United States over-the-counter market since July 1992.

Information in these tables is restated for the 100 for 1 stock split of Roche shares and non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine)
effective 4 May 2001 and the change in the ratio for the ADRs from 1:1 to 2:1 effective 24 January 2005.
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Number of shares and non-voting equity securitiesa)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

Number of shares 
(nominal value: CHF 1.00) 160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000 160,000,000
Number of non-voting equity securities 
(Genussscheine) (no nominal value) 702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700 702,562,700
Total 862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700 862,562,700

Data per share and non-voting equity security in CHF 
Net income 3.61 7.81 6.71 9.05 11.16
Equity 27.33 32.72 40.49 45.73 52.57
Dividend 1.65 2.00 2.50 3.40 4.60  
Stock price of shareb) High 185.00 193.00 230.00 252.50 266.25

Low 121.00 137.20 139.00 198.00 209.70
Year-end 171.50 150.00 219.20 247.50 213.00

Stock price of non-voting 
equity security (Genussschein)b) High 125.25 140.25 206.90 227.00 240.10

Low 75.15 118.75 120.60 185.80 190.30
Year-end 124.75 130.90 197.30 218.50 195.60

Market capitalisation in millions of CHF
Year-end 112,210 113,195 170,879 191,575 171,060

Key ratios (year-end)
Net income as % of equity 13 24 17 20 21
Dividend yield of shares in % 1.0 1.3 1.1 1.4 2.2
Dividend yield of non-voting 
equity securities (Genussscheine) in % 1.3 1.5 1.3 1.6 2.4
Price/earnings of shares 48 19 33 27 19
Price/earnings of non-voting 
equity securities (Genussscheine) 35 17 29 24 18

a) Each non-voting equity security (Genussschein) confers the same rights as any of the shares to participate in the available
earnings and any remaining proceeds from liquidation following repayment of the nominal value of the shares and the
participation certificate capital (if any). Shares and non-voting equity securities are listed on the Swiss Exchange. Roche Holding
Ltd has no restrictions as to ownership of its shares or non-voting equity securities.

b) All stock price data reflect daily closing prices.
c) Dividend 2007 as proposed by the Board of Directors.

Ticker symbols
Share Non-voting equity security American Depositary Receipt

Reuters RO.S ROG.VX RHHBY.PK
Bloomberg RO SW ROG VX RHHBY US
SWX Swiss Exchange RO ROG –

c)



Financial Statements

Income statement in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Income
Income from participations 4,121 3,483
Interest income from loans to Group companies 121 70
Interest and investment income 72 19
Other income 18 3
Total income 4,332 3,575

Expenses
Financial expenses (24) (3)
Administration expenses (31) (26)
Other expenses (22) (2)
Total expenses (77) (31)

Profit for the year before taxes 4,255 3,544

Taxes (17) (11)

Net profit for the year 4,238 3,533
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Balance sheet at 31 December in millions of CHF
2007 2006

Non-current assets
Participations 4,558 4,557
Long-term loans to Group companies 4,571 3,286
Total non-current assets 9,129 7,843

Current assets
Accounts receivable from Group companies 11 25
Other accounts receivable 1 1
Marketable securities 3,609 3,036
Liquid funds – 23
Total current assets 3,621 3,085

Total assets 12,750 10,928

Equity
Share capital 160 160
Non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) p.m. p.m.
General legal reserve 300 300
Free reserve 5,251 4,647
Special reserve 2,152 2,152
Available earnings:
– Balance brought forward from previous year – 4
– Net profit for the year 4,238 3,533
Total equity 12,101 10,796

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 35 35
Total non-current liabilities 35 35

Current liabilities
Accounts payable to Group companies 588 –
Unrealised foreign currency gains 4 82
Other liabilities 22 15
Total current liabilities 614 97

Total liabilities 649 132

Total equity and liabilities 12,750 10,928

p. m. = pro memoria. Non-voting equity securities have no nominal value.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The financial statements of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel, are prepared in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law. 

Participations
The major participations of the company are listed in Note 35 to the Roche Group Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Valuation methods and translation of foreign currencies
Marketable securities are reported at the lower of cost or market value. All other assets, including participations,
are reported at cost less appropriate write-downs. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into Swiss francs using year-end rates of exchange, except participations which are translated at
historical rates. Transactions during the year which are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
exchange rates effective at the relevant transaction dates. Resulting exchange gains and losses are recognised in
the income statement with the exception of unrealised gains which are deferred.

Taxes
The tax charge includes corporate income and capital taxes. 

2. Equity

Share capital
As in the previous year, share capital amounts to 160 million Swiss francs. The share capital consists of 160,000,000
bearer shares with a nominal value of 1 Swiss franc each. Included in equity are 702,562,700 non-voting equity
securities (Genussscheine). They are not part of the share capital and confer no voting rights. However each non-
voting equity security (Genussschein) confers the same rights as any of the shares to participate in the available
earnings and in any remaining proceeds from liquidation following repayment of the nominal value of the share
capital and, if any, participation certificates.

Movement in recognised amounts in millions of CHF

General
Share legal Free Special Available Total

capital reserve reserve reserve earnings equity

As at 1 January 2005 160 300 4,324 2,152 1,819 8,755

– Net income – – – – 2,390 2,390
– Dividends paid – – – – (1,725) (1,725)
– Transfer to free reserve – – 90 – (90) –
As at 31 December 2005 160 300 4,414 2,152 2,394 9,420

– Net income – – – – 3,533 3,533
– Dividends paid – – – – (2,157) (2,157)
– Transfer to free reserve – – 233 – (233) –
As at 31 December 2006 160 300 4,647 2,152 3,537 10,796

– Net income – – – – 4,238 4,238
– Dividends paid – – – – (2,933) (2,933)
– Transfer to free reserve – – 604 – (604) –
As at 31 December 2007 160 300 5,251 2,152 4,238 12,101
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Convertibles and options
Reference is made to the Notes to the Roche Group Consolidated Financial Statements.

Own equity instruments
Reference is made to the Notes to the Roche Group Consolidated Financial Statements.

3. Contingent liabilities

Guarantees
Within the framework of the European Medium Term Note (EMTN) programme the company has issued
guarantees in favour of Group companies amounting to 1,987 million Swiss francs (previous year 2,993 million
Swiss francs).

At the time of preparing the balance sheet no risks arising out of these contingent liabilities were discernible.

4. Significant shareholders

All shares in the Company are bearer shares, and for this reason the Company does not keep a register of
shareholders. The following figures are based on information from shareholders, the shareholder validation check
at the Annual General Meeting of 5 March 2007 and on other information available to the Company.

80,020,000 (previous year 80,020,000) shares: Shareholder group with pooled voting rights, comprising Ms Vera
Michalski-Hoffmann, Ms Maja Hoffmann, Mr André Hoffmann, Dr Andreas Oeri, Ms Sabine Duschmalé-Oeri,
Ms Catherine Oeri, Ms Beatrice Oeri and Ms Maja Oeri.a)

53,332,863 (previous year 53,332,863) shares (participation below 331/3%): Novartis International Ltd, Basel,
including affiliates thereof.b)

a) Information supplied by the shareholders. This figure of 80,020,000 shares does not include shares without pooled voting rights
held outside the group by individual members of the group.

b) Figures as of 31 December 2007 supplied by Novartis International Ltd, Basel.
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5. Executive remuneration

Board of Directors
Members of the Board of Directors of Roche Holding Ltd receive an annual remuneration and payment for their
time and expenses related to their membership of Board committees.

Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors in 2007 in thousands of CHF

Compensation for 
Annual Board committee Other

remuneration members compensation Total

Executive director
F. B. Humer 300 – – 300

Non-executive directors
B. Gehrig 450 – – 450
A. Hoffmann 400 – – 400
P. Baschera 247 30 – 277
J. I. Bell 300 30 263 593
P. Brabeck-Letmathe 300 – – 300
L. J. R. de Vink 300 30 – 330
W. Frey 300 60 – 360
D. A. Julius 300 60 – 360
A. Oeri 300 60 – 360
W. Ruttenstorfer 247 30 – 277
H. Teltschik 300 60 32 392
B. Weder di Mauro 300 60 – 360
Total non-executive directors 3,744 420 295 4,459

Total remuneration of Board of Directors 4,044 420 295 4,759

Remuneration to Prof. Bruno Gehrig includes serving as Independent Lead Director and Vice-Chairman of the
Board of Directors. Remuneration to Mr André Hoffmann includes serving as Vice-Chairman of the Board of
Directors. 

In July 2007 Prof. Sir John Bell completed his one-year sabbatical leave from the University of Oxford at Roche.
Roche has paid all personal and family expenses that Prof. Bell has incurred in relation to his stay in Switzerland,
including insurance costs. In 2007 these expenses totalled 87,858 Swiss francs. In addition Roche paid 175,283 Swiss
francs into a retirement policy for Prof. Bell in 2007. Prof. Horst Teltschik received honoraria, including expenses,
amounting to 19,635 euros (32,201 Swiss francs) for serving on the boards of several Roche subsidiaries in
Germany. Otherwise, no additional remuneration was paid to members of the Board of Directors. 

Corporate Executive Committee
Members of the Corporate Executive Committee (CEC) of Roche Holding Ltd receive remuneration, indirect
benefits and participate in certain equity compensation plans as shown in the table below. 

Chairman and CEO Dr Franz B. Humer was the member of the Board of Directors and the Corporate Executive
Committee with the highest total remuneration in 2007.
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Total remuneration of members of the Corporate Executive Committee in 2007 in thousands of CHF

– of which
CEC (total) F. B. Humer

Annual salary 13,380 6,030
Bonus 9,300 3,000
Expense allowance 200 50
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 5,893 2,908
Equity compensation plans 22,106 9,368
Other employee benefits 399 286
Total remuneration received 51,278 21,642

Social security costs 1,880 737
Total 53,158 22,379

Annual Salary: The annual salary amount for Dr Humer includes the 300,000 Swiss francs that he receives in his
capacity as a member of the Board of Directors as described above. 

Employer contribution to social security schemes and pension plans: The Group pays social insurance
contributions in respect of the above remuneration and pays contributions to pension and other post-employment
benefits plans for members of the Corporate Executive Committee. Owing to amendments to Switzerland’s Federal
Occupational Old Age, Survivors’ and Disability Pension Act (BVG), contributions on behalf of Dr Humer were
limited to 1,377,284 Swiss francs. Due to the existing contractual obligations with Dr Humer an additional
provision of 1,530,884 Swiss francs was recognised by the Group, which is included in the amounts shown in the
table above.

Equity Compensation Plans: Members of the Corporate Executive Committee also participate in certain equity
compensation plans as described below. The terms and vesting conditions of these awards are disclosed in
Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The fair values used in the Consolidated Financial Statements
represent the cost to the company at grant date and reflect amongst other matters the observed exercise
behaviour and exit rate for the whole population that receive them and initial simulations of any performance
conditions. For the purposes of these remuneration disclosures the fair values are calculated based on the fair
value that the employee receives taking into account the preliminary assessment of any completed performance
conditions.

During 2007 members of the Corporate Executive Committee were granted 223,797 Stock-settled Stock
Appreciation Rights (S-SARs). The individual awards relating to 2007 are shown in the table below. The fair value
of these awards for the employee is CHF 36.59 francs, which is calculated using the Black-Scholes formula,
assuming holding until maturity, and deducting 11% for the average 2 year vesting period. 

Members of the Corporate Executive Committee and other members of senior management participate in the
Roche Performance Share Plan (PSP). The Group has three overlapping three-year PSPs. The target awards for
the three-year cycle are defined at the beginning of the cycle and the awards are considered to form part of the
employee’s remuneration in three equal annual amounts over the three-year cycle. Each award will result in
between zero and two non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine), depending upon the achievement of the
performance targets, and the discretion of the Board of Directors. The individual awards relating to 2007 are
shown in the table below. The number of the awards is calculated as follows:

• PSP 2005–2007: A preliminary allocation based on the actual performance for the period 2005 to 2007,
which shows two non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) per award.

• PSP 2006–2008 and PSP 2007–2009: One non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) per award.
The resulting allocations are multiplied by the non-voting equity security (Genussscheine) price at 31 December
2007 of CHF 195.60 to give the fair value for the remuneration received by the employee. 
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Remuneration from equity compensation plans in 2007 in thousands of CHF
Roche S-SAR awards PSP awards

Connect S-SAR ‘07 PSP PSP PSP PSP Total
Employer S-SAR ‘07 fair ’05–‘07 ’06–‘08 ’07–‘09 fair fair

Contributions (number) value (number) (number) (number) value value

CEC (total) 201 223,797 8,189 56,761 6,720 6,640 13,716 22,106
– of which F. B. Humer 50 48,651 1,780 32,019 3,455 3,062 7,538 9,368

Other employee benefits: This includes tax advisory costs, and remuneration of Dr Humer, Dr Hunziker,
Mr Burns and Prof. Knowles for serving on the Chugai Board of Directors. 

Transactions with former members of the Corporate Executive Committee: Mr Heino von Prondzynski
stepped down from the Corporate Executive Committee on 31 December 2005. During 2006 he assisted with
the transition to his successor and he resigned from Roche effective 31 December 2006. In 2007 he received
a bonus of 390 thousand Swiss francs in respect of services rendered in 2006 and additionally received a total of
12,212 non-voting equity securities based on pro-rated Roche Performance Share Plan awards. Pensions totalling
2,032 thousand Swiss francs were paid by the Group in 2007 to two other former Corporate Executive Committee
members.

6. Executive shareholdings

Board of Directors
Directors Mr André Hoffmann and Dr Andreas Oeri and other members of the founder’s families who are closely
associated with them belong to a shareholder group with pooled voting rights. At the end of 2007 this group held
80,020,000 shares (50.01% of issued shares). Mr Hoffmann serves as spokesman for this shareholder group.
Detailed information about this group is given in Note 4. In addition, as of 31 December 2007 the non-executive
members of the Board of Directors and persons closely associated with them held shares and non-voting equity
securities (Genussscheine) as shown in the table below.

Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors at 31 December 2007 

Non-voting
equity securities

Shares (Genussscheine) Other

F. B. Humer 3 58,886 b)

B. Gehrig 50 50
A. Hoffmann –a) 365,200 c)

P. Baschera 1 –
J. I. Bell 300 1,647
P. Brabeck-Letmathe 800 2,195
L. J. R. de Vink – – d)

W. Frey 72,500 –
D. A. Julius 350 1,250
A. Oeri 90,000a) 1,640,460 c)

W. Ruttenstorfer 1,000 –
H. Teltschik 385 –
B. Weder di Mauro 200 –
Total 165,589a) 2,069,688

a) Figure does not include shares held in the shareholder group with pooled voting rights.
b) Equity compensation awards: Roche Option Plan, S-SARs and Roche Performance Share Plan. See below.
c) Mr Hoffmann and Dr Oeri each hold 250,000 UBS Long/Short Certificates on Roche bearer shares (RO) versus Roche non-voting

equity securities (ROG), (ISIN: CH0026480100).
d) Mr Lodewijk de Vink holds 1,000 Roche American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) RHHBY (ISIN: US7711951043).

Corporate Executive Committee
Shareholdings of members of the Corporate Executive Committee and persons closely associated with them held
shares and non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine) as shown in the table below.



Shareholdings of members of the Corporate Executive Committee at 31 December 2007 

Non-voting
equity securities

Shares (Genussscheine) Other

F. B. Humer 3 58,886 a)

W. M. Burns 3 34,249 a)

E. Hunziker 3 19,928 a)

G. A. Keller 253 11,625 a), b)

J. K. C. Knowles 3 27,366 a)

S. Schwan 3 2,148 a)

Total 268 154,202

a) Equity compensation awards: Roche Option Plan, S-SARs and Roche Performance Share Plan. See below.
b) Dr Keller’s close relatives hold 210 Roche non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine).

At 31 December 2007 the members of the Corporate Executive Committee held Stock-settled Stock Appreciation
Rights (S-SARs, first issued in 2005) and Roche Option Plan awards (issued before 2005) as shown in the table
below. Each option entitles the holder to purchase one Roche non-voting equity security (Genussscheine)
at a specified strike price. The terms and vesting conditions of these awards are disclosed in Note 11 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and additional supplementary information is in the Remuneration Report,
which is included in the Business Report on pages 48–57.  

Roche Option Plan and S-SARs awards held at 31 December 2007
Year of issue 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 Total

F. B. Humer 48,651 52,317 85,179 55,775 – 241,922
W. M. Burns 48,651 26,160 34,074 14,874 17,353 141,112
E. Hunziker 48,651 26,160 34,074 20,915 – 129,800
G. A. Keller 24,327 15,696 8,259 4,000 – 52,282
J. K. C. Knowles 24,327 15,696 25,554 – – 65,577
S. Schwan 29,190 15,696 4,983 1,864 1,635 53,368
Total 223,797 151,725 192,123 97,428 18,988 684,061

Strike price (CHF) 229.60 195.00 123.00 129.50 77.80
Expiry date Feb. 2014 Feb. 2013 Feb. 2012 Feb. 2011 Feb. 2010

At 31 December 2007 the members of the Corporate Executive Committee held PSP awards from the three PSP
performance cycles 2005–2007, 2006–2008 and 2007–2009 as shown in the table below. The terms and vesting
conditions of these awards are disclosed in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and additional
supplementary information is in the Remuneration Report on pages 48–57 of the Business Report. Each award will
result in between zero and two non-voting equity securities (Genussscheine), depending upon the achievement of
the performance targets and the discretion of the Board of Directors. The preliminary allocation ratio for the plan
2005–2007 and the total target number of awards for all cycles as at 31 December 2007 are shown in the table below.

Roche Performance Share Plan awards held at 31 December 2007
PSP 2005–2007 PSP 2006–2008 PSP 2007–2009

F. B. Humer 48,028 10,365 9,185
W. M. Burns 9,557 2,578 3,046
E. Hunziker 11,708 2,750 3,046
G. A. Keller 4,380 1,203 1,370
J. K.C. Knowles 8,363 2,148 2,056
S. Schwan 3,106 1,117 1,218
Total awards initially targeted at grant date 85,142 20,161 19,921

Allocation date Feb. 2008 Feb. 2009 Feb. 2010

Estimated allocation at 31 December 2007 2:1

Total estimated awards at 31 December 2007 170,284
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Appropriation of Available Earnings

Proposals to the Annual General Meeting in CHF
2007 2006

Available earnings
Net profit for the year 4,237,700,323 3,532,914,531
Balance brought forward from previous year 520,281 4,318,930
Total available earnings 4,238,220,604 3,537,233,461

Appropriation of available earnings
Distribution of an ordinary dividend of CHF 4.60 gross 
per share and non-voting equity security (Genussschein) 
as against CHF 3.40 last year (3,967,788,420) (2,932,713,180)
Transfer to free reserve (268,600,000) (604,000,000)
Total appropriation of available earnings (4,236,388,420) (3,536,713,180)

To be carried forward on this account 1,832,184 520,281
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Report of the Statutory Auditors to the Annual General Meeting of Roche Holding Ltd, Basel

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting records and the financial statements (income statement,
balance sheet and notes on pages 114 to 122) of Roche Holding Ltd for the year ended 31 December 2007.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements
concerning professional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Swiss auditing standards, which require that an audit be planned
and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. We have also assessed the accounting principles used, significant estimates made and
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial statements and the proposed appropriation of available
earnings comply with Swiss law and the Company’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler SA

John A. Morris Erik F. J. Willems
Auditor in charge

Basel, 24 January 2008



124 Finance Report 2007

Published by
F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd 
4070 Basel, Switzerland
Tel. +41 (0)61 688 11 11
Fax +41 (0)61 691 93 91

Media Office
Corporate Communications 
4070 Basel, Switzerland
Tel. +41 (0)61 688 88 88
Fax +41 (0)61 688 27 75

Investor Relations
4070 Basel, Switzerland
Tel. +41 (0)61 688 88 80
Fax +41 (0)61 691 00 14

World Wide Web
http://www.roche.com

To order publications
Tel. +41 (0)61 688 83 39
Fax +41 (0)61 688 43 43
E-mail: basel.webmaster@roche.com 

Cautionary statement regarding forward-
looking statements
This Annual Report contains certain forward-look-
ing statements. These forward-looking statements
may be identified by words such as ‘believes’,
‘expects’, ‘anticipates’, ‘projects’, ‘intends’, ‘should’,
‘seeks’, ‘estimates’, ‘future’ or similar expressions
or by discussion of, among other things, strategy,
goals, plans or intentions. Various factors may
cause actual results to differ materially in the future
from those reflected in forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report, among others:
(1) pricing and product initiatives of competitors;
(2) legislative and regulatory developments and
economic conditions; (3) delay or inability in
obtaining regulatory approvals or bringing prod-
ucts to market; (4) fluctuations in currency
exchange rates and general financial market condi-
tions; (5) uncertainties in the discovery, develop-
ment or marketing of new products or new uses
of existing products, including without limitation
negative results of clinical trials or research projects,
unexpected side effects of pipeline or marketed
products; (6) increased government pricing pres-
sures; (7) interruptions in production; (8) loss of
or inability to obtain adequate protection for intel-
lectual property rights; (9) litigation; (10) loss of
key executives or other employees; and (11) adverse
publicity and news coverage.

The statement regarding earnings per share growth
is not a profit forecast and should not be inter-
preted to mean that Roche’s earnings or earnings
per share for 2008 or any subsequent period will
necessarily match or exceed the historical published
earnings or earnings per share of Roche.

Next Annual General Meeting: 4 March 2008

All trademarks mentioned enjoy legal protection.

The Roche Annual Report is published in German and English.

Printed on non-chlorine bleached, FSC-certified paper.

The Roche Annual Report is issued by F. Hoffmann-La Roche
Ltd, Basel, Corporate Communications.
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